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We are Biffa

we’ve been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years,

Qur strategy for growth means that our waste reduction,
recycling, energy recovery and collection services oll have a
positive impact across the UK. we have o strong track record of
growing our profits whilst reinvesting fo grow our business.

Today, Biffa is an established enabler of the UK circular
economy and our team of just under 11,000 colleagues carry out
essential services every day in line with our purpose “fo change
the way people think about waste'. Sustainability has been at
the heart of our business strategy for many years. Our areas of
investment reflect the waste hierarchy -~ to Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, oll supported by the need to Collect.

we have already taken huge sfrides in our susfainability journey
by investing in surplus redistribution, plastic recycling, energy
recovery infrostructure and low carbon collections, leading to o
70% reduction in our carbon emissions since 2002. Gur
sustainability strategy, ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, will see us
unlock £1.25bn of investment in vital green economy
infrastructure by 2030, of which ¢.£1bn has already been
committed to, while further reducing our carbon emissions by
50% by 2030. Qur oim is to reach net zero emissions by no loter
than 2050,

Our people care about doing the right thing and, in turn, we
strive to do right by them by prioritising their health, safety and
wellbeing. we are proud to have been awarded a 5-star rating
by the British Safety Council. we have also made strong
progress in making sure Biffa is an inclusive place to work where
diversity is championed and our empioyees feel valued and
understand the positive cantribution they make to enabling the
UK circular economy.

Qur longstanding Biffa Award programme supports sustainable
projects across the UK which deliver environmental benefits,
while making a valuable contribution 1o local communities.

Through our proud partnership with WasteAid, we are heiping to
share practical and low-cost waste management knowledge
with communities in developing countries,

As we ook forward, whilst being mindful of the near-term
challenges the UK economy is facing, we are increasingly weill
positioned to play a key role in the transition that our sector is
embarking on, supported by an ambitious policy agenda.
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

Why we exist beyond profit who we are and what drives us How we deliver for our stakeholders What we're striving to achieve
@ Our Vision -— ~, Our Sustainable
b .3_.) Business Model
To lead the way in UK _;"_ " « Collect
sustainohie waste manogement <7 ﬁ:_‘_\‘\ + Reduce
. —'7’ + Recycie
= 4 + Recover
N [ ; .
our Purpose Qur Sustainabifity
Goals
To change the « Building a circuior economy
way people think + Tockling climcte chonge
t + - " 1
R our voiues | [ g can Our Balanced it S8
appen & Business Plan supparting

+ Safer Together
\
I+ Voiue People
%S

+ Customer First

”["/’ * Protect our Plonet
\\h;/ - Grow Sustainably

Why we do what we do

Our business model combines purpose with profit, helping to enable the circular economy, generate profit for our shareholders and deliver
our core purpose - to change the way people think about waste.

who we are and what drives us

Our values demonstrate how we act every day and how we make
decisions. They set us apart from the competition and show that
how we do things is just as important as what we do. They are the
guiding principles for how we do business.

We take We do
pride the right
in what thing

we do
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Strategic Report

What we do

Our business mode! focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect.
Concentrating on these four areas enables us 1o deliver efficient and sustainable waste
management in line with the waste hierarchy and enables us to deliver the most value from
our operational capabilities.

Our busingss model is resilient by design, demonstrated by how we have navigated economic
uncertainty and market challenges during the year. Our services are generally essential, non-
discretionary and predictable in demand. Commercial terms either offer good levels of pricing
flexibility or contractual structures designed to protect against commodity and inflationary

exposures.

Reduce

To pioneer and operate
the UK’s leading waste
reduction and

redistribution services.

Sources of revenue:

- Sale of surplus
produce to Company
Shop Group's
members.

Recycle

To develop and operate
the UK’s leading recycling
solutions.

Sources of revenue:

- Gate fees for processing
and treating waste.

. Sale of commedity
products.

Where we focus: our objectives

Recover

To invest in energy
recovery infrastructure as a
lower carbon alternative to
landfill for our customers’
waste that cannot be
recycled.

Sources of revenue:

. Gate fees for processing

and treating waste.
. Sale of renewabie energy.

Collect

i "To build the L-li("‘s larges?t,

most efficient, low
carbon waste and
recycling collections
operation.

Sources of revenue:

. Service fees for
collection and disposal
of commercial waste.

. Fees for outsourced
provision of household
cellection services

Our Balanced Business Plan (‘BBB") s aligned 1o five key pillars — Safer Together, Value People, Customer First, Grow Sustainably and
Protect our Planet. The actions and targets within cur annual BBP help fo guide activity around our business model.

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,

based around three key pillars:

Building a circular economy

Tackling climate change

Caring for our people,

supporting our communities

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Strategic Report

The Birectors present their strategic repert for Biffa Limited ("the Company’) and its subsidiary companies (together ‘the Greup’ or
‘Biffa’) for the year ended 31 March 2023,

Accounting reference date

This strategic report and the accompanying financial statements are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023. The comparatives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022, The strategic report for the subsequent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 29 March 2024,

Principal Activity

Biffa is a leading integrated sustainable waste management company in the UK. The Group collects and processes a significant
proportion ot the waste generated in the UK with a focus on developing a circular economy. Operations include waste collection,
recycling, organic waste freatment, landfill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in two Energy from Waste ('EfW’) joint ventures.

Ownership Structure

On 26 January 2023 the entire issued and o be issued share capital of Biffa plc was acquired by Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa's listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled at 8am on 27 January 2023 and Biffa plc waos subsequently
re-registered as a private company and rencmed Biffa Limited.

Biffa Limited remained a wholly-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited at 31 March 2023. Biffa Bidco Limited is an entity wholly owned
by the funds managed by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies (‘ECP7.

Founded in 2005, ECP is a leading investor across energy transition, electrification and decarbonization infrastructure assets, including
power generation, renewables and storage solutions, environmental infrastructure and sustainabiiity, efficiency & reliability assets
facilitating the energy transition. The ECP feam, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industry experience, deep expertise
and extensive relationships, has consummated more than 100 transactions over the last 18 years. For more information, visit
Www.ecpgp.com.

Going concern

The Directors have concluded that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and the financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 to the financicl statements for more information.

Forward-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results, operations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results or developments to
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements and forecasts.

Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs’}
The Directors utilise o number of KPIs when measuring the performance of the business. These KPIs have been detailed in the below table
and discussed further on the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the financial statements.

FY23 FY22 Movement

Financial KPIs:

Organic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% (8.0Y%
Acquisition net revenue growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0)%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 6.7% 6.7% -
Adjusted Return on Operating Assets (%} 18.2% 18.2% -
Adjusted Return on Capital Employed (%) 8.5% 7.0% 1.5%
Group Leverage Ratio (Net Debt: EBITDA) (x) 3.0x 3.1x [(ON)4
Non-financial KPIs:

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (ki) 524kt 538kt (14kt)
Plastics recycling capacity (kt) 167kt 151kt 16kt
Employee engagement (%) 63% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTI) rate 0.32 0.39 (0.7)
RIDDOR rate 0.19 0.17 0.02
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Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other financial performance highlights in addition to the KPIs above are detailed in the following table. Alternative performance
measures are also defined and reconciled in the Appendix to the financial statements.

FY23 Fy22 Movement
Statutery Revenue 1,680.4 14432 2372
Adjusted EBITDA 2255 195.0 30.5
Operating Profit/(Loss) 6.7 (8.3) 15.0
Adjusted Operating Profit 112.8 6.5 16.2
Loss After Tax (16.7) (17.6) 09
Net Debt: EBITDA 3.0x 3.1x (0.1

Group performance

The Group has built upon FY22's strong trajectory with Statutory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year to the record level of £1,680.4m.

This has been achieved across the Group with Collections, Resources & Energy and Specialist Services divisions growing by 15.1%, 11.2%
and 34.8% respectively. The majority of the growth has been crganic, being roughly twice that aftributed to acquisitions.

Operating Profit has risen from o loss of £8.3m in FY22 to ¢ profit of £6,7m, This was driven by the 16.8% improvement in Adjusted
Operating Profit from £36.6m in FY22 to £112.8m.

The Group continues to experience significant inflationary headwinds. Despite this, the Adjusted Operating Profit Margin has remained
flat at 6.7%, demonstrating the Group's resilience and pricing flexibility.

The Group uses Alternative Performance Measures (APMs”) to enable a better understanding of Group performance. APM’s exclude
certain items from statutory results and are used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods and the
Group’s divisions.

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix to the financial statements. The net impact of adjusting items on Loss Before Tax was
a charge of £105.1m (FY22: £104.2m charge). The main adjusting items were acquisition related costs (£24.8m), strategy related and
restructuring costs (£18.0m), increase to provision related to HMRC Landfill Tax enquiry (£50.7m), assef impairments (£9.1m),
amortisation of acquisition intangibles (£25.2m) and impact of real discount rate changes on tandfill provisions (£24.8m credit).

Net debt and borrowings

Group net debt is £667.0m (FY22: £595.8m) representing 3.0x Adjusted EBITDA (FY22: 3.1x). This demonstrates strong continued cash
performance across the Group.

On 1 February 2023 the Group's existing borrowings drawn down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bidco Limited, with o corresponding
loan established between Biffa Bidco Limited and o subsidiary of Biffa Limited. The RCF was simultaneously replaced by a new £225m
RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited.

The private placements held at 25 March 2022 were still held at 31 March 2023, but were termingted on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt
restructure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rose from £19.2m in FY22 to £22.8m. The primary driver behind this was the £5.9m increase in finance costs on loans
and private placements mostly caused by interest rate rises during the year, partly offsef by net interest income on the net defined
benefit surplus increasing by £2.5m,

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for certain employees which is closed to new entrants and which closed to future
accrual for the majority of its members as at 1 November 2013, At 31 March 2023 the Group’s total IAS 19 net retirernent benefit surplus
was £335.1m, a significant fail from the surplus of £166.1m at 25 March 2022,

The reason for this fall is the overall shrinking of the largest scheme, with both plan assets and liabilities decreasing due to the rise in
borrowing rates.

Return on Capital
Group Adjusted Return on Capital Employed improved from 7.0% in FY22 ta B.5% due to the rise in Adjusted Operating Profit.
HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

This enquiry is in progress and therefore the outcome remains unclear. Following the receipt of further information from HMRC, we have
increased cur provision from £20m to £64m. Refer o Note 1 to the financial statements for more information.

giffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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Financial Review continued
Post-balance sheet events

The following material events occurred after the reporting period.

. The Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capital of Esterform Packaging
Limited in April 2023

» A restructure of the Group’s debt become effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rolling credit facility increasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

. It was anncunced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will no longer commence in FY'24 as previously expected,
A replacement scheme will commence in October 2025 at the earliest.

. In May and June 2023 £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. A further £10.0m is expected to be paid in FY¥25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report and Note 34 for more information,

Operating Review
The Group 1s organised into three operating divisions:

- Collections
- Resources & Energy
- Specialist Services

Collections

This division provides sustainable woste and recycling collections and related services. If is split into two businesses: Municipal and
Industrial and Commercial ('I&C”). The Municipal business provides househeld waste and recycling collections, street cleaning and orher
services for households, on behalf of local authorities. The I&C business provides waste and recycling collections for a wide range of
industriol and commercial customers.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£&m £m £m Yo

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 873.9 132.2 15.1%
1&C 792.7 690 @ 101.8 14.7%
Municipal 213.4 183.0 304 16.6%
Net Revenue 1,006.1 B73.9 132.2 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 65.6 103 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 1.5% 7.5% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 146.1 130.7 154 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 825 75.0 7.5 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% B.6% n/a n/a

The Collections division had o strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising by 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with I&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively.

1&C

The growth in I&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions (including a full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor
acquisition in MY22}, valurne growth ond price increases. The I&C business has continued to be affected by substantial inflationary cost
prassures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had a significant impact on our operating costs, pricing flexibility built
into our contracts has enabled the business to pass on most of these cost increases to customers, thereby protecting our profitakdlity
with Coltections Adjusted Operating Profit Margin only falling from 8.6% in FY22 to 8.2% in FY23.

while the biisiness was impacted by nationdl HGV driver shortages in FY22, these shortages eased in the latter part of FY22 and this
easing continued into FY23. Supply chain disruption has continued to provide challenges in FY23, e.g. the procurement of new vehicles,
These challenges require careful management going forward.

Qur strategy remains to drive forward our plan to consolidate the fragmented 1&C collections market, Acquisitions are highly synergistic
due to the removal of duplicate routes and locations, and result in a more efficient, flexible service proposition for our customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acquisition pipeline Inoks promising and Biffa’s new owners intend to support cur historically acguisitive
approach.

Operating Review continued
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 7
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Collections continued
Municipal

Tie sighucant growth expenenced i FY 25 huas been driven by the reévenue mdexariun bull into sur Municieal cantracts, 2nuburg the
prices charged 1o cusformel s 1o rise in line with the relevant intafion indices, This results in revenue 11yes gging cos™ NCr20ses a1 an
2nvirsnment with growirg inflation, but then a carch-ur as intlamon slows. A margin improvement 1 rherefore expected v Fy24

The challergas faced by the Muriopal business are sumdar to tnese faced by the ISC bus.ness and the muhgomng actiony are theretor
broadby similar

The busmness s well placed 1o confinue 1o debver it growth sTrategy by copitolisiig on s scaole and experse we wil seek 70 coptalise
on e opportunifies hat are presented by the coproaching regulatory changes in the industry

Resaurces and Energy ('R&E’}

The R&E division focuses on the sustuinable freatinent, recycling, energy recovery and dltimate disposul of waste, It cormpnses the
Reuyaling, Organies, Inerts and Landfill Gas busmesses as well as our equity investinen s in two Energy from waste (CEfw ) facihimes thur
were under construction at the year end date

) FY23 | FY22 | Chunge | Change |
e £m | Em £m % |
| Statutory Revenue 439.6 | 3952 44 4 112% |
TRecyaing 7T 1651 _'"'_2'?477‘_"“_17?'[1‘
Grganes T T 1 7Tteza [ s T Tasa %
[Trers 7 54.7 56.7 | (@] ays |
Landfill Gas 42.1 0.4 L8 "?5"%
‘Net Revenwe T T Taso ] s z'ﬂ
Opérafing pr;f‘ﬂ'ir T 17.8 101.7%
Operating profit margin {%) n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA NS T
“Adjusted Operating profit | Tz _25/_\
] Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 9.6% ﬁl 10.4% n/a v Ji

The R&E division saw sirang performatice n FY23 with Ner Revenue of £363 %m, up 13 2% an the prior year This was driven by graw th o1
1he Recycling and Organics businesses, which in turn was partly caused by a full 12 months’ confribution from the vindor acguisthon

The signiticanT cost Inaeases experienced N The year were largely mitigated through the Group's risk management measures ana pricing
Hexibilimy, bt Adusted Operating Prefit Margin dig fall frorm 10.4% 10 9.6%

Recycling
Our Recychng ousiess comprises wur leading Polymers plastics busmess and our Motenals Recyaling Facihties {(MRFS™)

Y22 was o transitiongl vear {for the Polymers business due to custamer acceptance a1 Seaham taking fonges than especied but 3
nomibier of multi-million pound agreements were sighed lote in FY22 and FY23, driving the 1/5% revenue growth in FY23

We expect demana for plashics recyching to continue to strengthen following the infroduchion of e UK Covernment's Plastic Packoging
Tax ond graater woritinyg on corporate behaviours,

Caonstiuchon af the shird rHDPE line ar Redcar 5 now carnplete
Organics

The Qrganics busaess includes Bitfa's anaershic digestion (ADY), composting ond residus! waste redtiment asiats. Assets ure genarally
supported by wong term local authority contracts. The busimess nag a strong year with revenue growth of 30 0%

Inarts

Our Inerts business includes the freatment and aisposal of complex copstruchion waste and provides landnil disposal 1or unireataisle
rasidues. Inerrs Nef Revenue fell by 3.4% due to a decline in landfill volumes caused by macroeconomic uncenamty.

iLandfill Gos
Yhe Landnll Cas pusiness provides energy generanon from landtll jus extrachion
FevenLe JrEw Dy L0k n FY 23 with the oositive movement (n =nergy prices offsetfing the reaucton n gas yields

Gperatg Review sonminued

Biffe Limited / Annual Report and aczounts 2023
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Resources and Energy (‘R&E’) continued
Energy Racovery

The treatment of general waste for energy recovery is an important part of our investment strategy for waste which cannot be avoided,
reduced or recycled. Biffa has invested in two Energy from wWaste joint ventures in partnership with Encyclis (previously Covanta).

Construction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility is complete and the site became fully operational in May 2023, so FY24 Adjusted
Operating Profit will benefit from roughly 10 months of contribution. Construction of the Protos Energy Recovery Facility is still in
progress and is 1-2 years behind Newhurst.

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services division helps customers Tullil thelr sustainabiity ambitions by providing bespoke solutions including surplus
redistribution, integrated resource management and hazardous waste services. The division contains the Industricl Services and

Company Shop Group (‘'CSG”) businesses.

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions to customers who have more complex waste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on site services and equipment rental ('Integrated Resource Management”
or ‘IRM"), hazardous waste collection and treotment and packaging producer responsibility compliance services (‘Biffpack’).

CSG adds waste reduction and redistribution copabilities to Biffa’s range of sustainable waste management solutions. It aiso enables us
to support customers in moving surplus products further up the waste hierarchy and to deliver on their sustainability ambitions
Alongside its core network, C5G opertes Community Shofp, o nul-for-profit community interest company that supports some of the
most deprived areas of the UK through o network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners at deeply
discounted prices, clongside the provision of @ number of community services.

In July 2022 Biffa announced that Circularity Scotland Ltd ('CSL), the scheme administrator for Scotland’s Deposit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa to provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks containers which are placed on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financicl performance was 1o be included within the Specialist Services division due to the unique
nature of the scheme. The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as originally planned, as it was announced on 7 June 2023
that a replacement scheme would not go chead until at least Cetober 2025, Refer to Note 34 for further details on the DRS and position

as at the balance sheet date.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m %

Statutory Revenue l 234.7 174.1 60.6 34.8%
Industrial Services i 145.1 103.4 41.7 40.3%
Company Shop Group 89.6 70.7 18.9 26.7%
Net Revenue i 234.7 174.1 650.6 34.8%
Operating profit / (loss) I 12.7 (19.9) 32,6 n/a
Operating profit margin (%) 5.4% (11.4)% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 21.6 116 100 86.2%
Adjusted Operating profit 13.8 5.4 8.4 155.6%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 5.9% 31% n/a n/a

The Specialist Services division had a very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth was seen in
Industrial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Company Shop Group which saw its revenues increase by 26.7%.

Industrial Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance into FY23, with all three business units (IRM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services in March 2023 will help drive further growth in FY24.
Biffa is uniguely placed to benefit from the growing Industrial Services market as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can take advantage of cross-selling services from our I&C customer base.

The business experienced similar challenges to those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently mitigated o
ensure performance was not significantly impacted.

Company Shop Group

The business saw a significant turnaraund in FY23, moving from being loss-making to profit-making. The encouraging progress seen in

the final quarter of FY22, achieved through strategic changes, continued into FY23 gs membership, footfall and gross margins
maintained their positive trajectory. Performance is expected to imprave further in FY24 due to o full year of higher sales and margins.

Stakeholder engagement and sustainability
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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we have continued to focus on our purpose “to change the way people think about waste”. Sustainability is at the heart of cur business.
we're commifted to doing the right things to protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most
environmental, social and financial value from fhe resources we collect. we are also proud 1o give something back to the communities we
serve and in doing so create value for all our stakeholders.

we care about our custormers and their needs, Every day we provide essential services 1o a wide range of customers across the UK from
large corporates to thousands of local businesses and local authorities. We focus on delivering excelient services consistently, as
promised, every time. Our sustainable approach, responsiveness to customer needs and delivery makes us the first choice for cusfomers.

Qur suppliers play an important role in helping our business deiiver for our customers. We form strong, sustainabie and frusted
partnerships and look to secure excellent value for money, whilst minimising risk in our supply chain,

The healith, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and our communities confinues to be of paramount importance. During the year, we
have continued to actively support the communities in which we operate through various community projects, including our proud
partnership with the charity, wasteAid. WaosteAid is an independent UK charity, set up by waste management professionals to share
practical and low-cast waste management knowledge with communities in developing countries. We support them through our
sponsorship, employae fundraising and with their projects in the Gambia, Kenya and Cameroon.

Employee engagement
Our employee engagement score has increased 4% during the year, and we are now 7% above the UK average.

We want our peaple 1o be engaged in their work and with their workplace. Research shows that organisations with high levels of
employes engagement are more efficient and effective and that highly engaged employees care about the future of their organisation
and are motivated to help it achieve its objectives, We have doubled engagement over the past 10 years and our ambition is to be in the
top 25% of all companies in the UK, which we are now only 4 percentage points away from achieving.

we have a team of just under 11,000 talented and diverse colleagues who support Biffa’s purpese of changing the way pecple think
about waste. We pride ourselves on having an open and henest relationship with our workforce, empowering them ra have their say,

whilst ensuring they remain supported. We engage with each other respectfully, encourage each other and heip make Biffa ¢ fair,
inclusive and fun place to work.

we also continue to maintain two-way engagement with our workforce, ensuring that they are kept up 10 date with the latest business
developments and answering their questions. Qur channels include regular all-employee video calls with our Group Executive Team, CEQ
viogs, conferences and news updates via our infranet and employee app, Biffa Beat. Biffa Beat helps us to communicare and engage
with our frontline workforce, enabling them to openly ask guestions and voice their opinions at the touch of a button. This is further
supported by the Biffa Involvement Group, a forum of over 100 employees that meet regularly fo share ideas and feedbock with both
each other and the Group Executive Team.

Health and safety

Over the year, through dedicated focus on risk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from 0.39 injuries per 100,000 hours worked to 0.32, We
alse reduced the overall propertion of all injures that resuited in any lost time from 12.35% to 9.95%. Gisappointingly, cur RIDDOR rate
rose slightty over the 12m pericd due largely to our I&C business. We cre maintaining our approach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk management processes with a specific focus on reducing road risk by improving our systems, technology and driver capabilities. we
are aiso investing in EcoOnline, a best class H&S management platform to help us improve our incident management procedures, and in
the TopSet investigation methodology to improve our ability to learn from incidents.

Other matters contained within the Strategic Report

The Section 172 statement, Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD?), Principal risks and uncertainties and Non-
Financial Information Statement below form part of the Strategic Report.

On behalf of the Board.

Michael Topham

Director

Biffa Limited

Registerad in England and wWales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard 1o their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 ('s172°) o promote the long-term success of Biffa
Limited ({the ‘Company’} for the benefit of its members during the year. In doing so, the Directors have considered the matters outlined
below.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Cur business model focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more details. 5172
factors were considered In the Board's discussions on strategy, including how they underpin the Company's long-term success and the
need to act fairly between members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, both through their day-to-day activities and via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events. The Directors and Group Executive Team host regular all-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity to provide
feedback and ask questions. All Directors also have access to our employee app, Biffa Beat, giving them the ability to view employee
feedback on announcements and other communications. In addition, the annual employee engagement survey provides valuable insight
fo the Directors across a range of key employee matters, including safety, wellbeing, reward & recognition and diversity & inclusion, See
page 10 for more details.

The need to foster the Compuany's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

To be able to fulfil their 5172 duty when making decisions, it is essential that the Directors understand what matters to the Company’s
stakeholders. Much of the stakeholder engagement at Biffa is carried out at a business level. The Board has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year. See page 10 for maore details.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

Sustainability is at the heart of our business. We're committed to changing the way people think about waste and doing the right things
fo protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most environmental, social and financial value
from the rescurces we collect, we are also proud fo give something back to the communities we serve and in deing sa create vaiue for all
our stakeholders. See pages 12 to 20 for more details.

The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
We are committed to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areas of our business. More detail is provided as follows:

. Stakeholder engagement - page 10

+ Employee engagement - page 10

. Health and safety - page 10

«  Environment and sustainability - pages 12 to 20

. Non-Financial Information Statement - pages 28 10 29

Example of principal decision of the Board

During the year, the Beard considered and approved the acquisition of the whole of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
managed and/or advised by Energy Capital Partners LLC ('ECP”), implemented by way of scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Transaction”).

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s largest shareholders and consistently considered
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company’s wider (non-shareholder) stakeholders. This included looking for reassurance to
ECP on o number of matters as follows:

»  ECP having a strong track record of employee stewardship with the evalualion of the Transaction not being predicated on headcount
reductions or cost cutting initiatives and that all existing employee rights would be safeguarded;

s ECP supporting the Company’s sustainability strategy, with Biffa’s leadership in this area being a majeor reason for their interest in the
Transaction; and

+«  ECP’s support for continued focus by the Company on its customers and communities.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer a mandated requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntary disclosure
consistent, albeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. Using this framework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-related opportunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in a purposeful and comparable context.

Governance

Beard

For the majority of the year the Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable value to our key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of our strategic commitments, which are aligned with our sustainability strategy. Foliowing the acquisition by
ECP, the Biffa Topco Limited (formerly Bears Topco Limited) Board are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainability.
This ensures climate-relafed risks and opportunities are considered in all aspects of the business including capital expenditure,
acquisitions, and performance objectives.

Executive Sustainability Committee

During the reporting yeuar the Executive Sustainability Committee managed the Company’s sustainability strategy while senior
management are responsible for the day-to-day implementation, monitoring and management of our sustainability performance
including c¢limate-related risks and opportunities. During the year the Executive Sustainability Cammittee met twice. At the end of the
financial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was disbanded and sustainability has become a standing item on the Group
Executive meeting agenda at least 3 times per year. This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated in decision
making acress our business.

During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee received updates on UK legislation including the Environment Act and Resources
and Waste Strategy, the Group’s Aternative Fuels Strategy, the Group's sustainability ratings ond accreditations, the Group’s social value
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strategy. The Executive Sustainability Committee also approved the Group’s
Scope 3 emigsions target which has now been submitted for validation by the Science-based Target Initiative (SBTi). Similar updates will
be provided at legst 3 times o year af the Executive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustainability Team

During the reporting year the Group’s Environment and Sustainabtlity team reported to the Corporate Affairs Director however the team
now report to the General Counse! and Company Secretary following changes to the Group Executive Team in FY24. The team provide
reguiar updates including to the Group Executive Team and work clasely with management teams and employees across the business to:

. Identify and report any emerging climate-related risks and opporfunities ta the Group Executive Tearm.

. Drive awareness of our sustainability targets across the business and ensure that where relevant, sustainability targets are
incorporated into our divisional balanced business plans.

. Evolve and refine the sustainability strategy and associated targets, ensuring it keeps pace with Biffa's overail ambitions, market
developments and the latest Science-based Targets.

. Ensure performance monitoring and reporting is completed and rigorously audited through both internal cudit and external
verification to ensure accuratre information is communicated to stakeholders.

. Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy to the Group Executive Team.

. Participate in industry working groups, along with other experts, and monitor best practice.

. Ensure the Company position is reflected in developing Government policy through transparent and pro-active interaction with our
regulators and palicy makers,

Audit Committee

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the
Group's financial reporting and the effectiveness of the Internal and External Audit functions and risk management framework and
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system of internal control,

During the year the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s principal risks and emerging risks which includes climate change. The
review of the principal risks considers the likelihood of the risks materialising and the potential impact, in terms of both the inherent risks,
before any mitigating actions, and the residual risks, after considering mitigating actions and controis. The emerging risks reviewed by
management and the Committee include risks relating to physical and transitional climate change.

Following the acquisition by ECP, the Audit Committee for Biffa Limited was disbanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Committee of Biffa Topco Limited.

Strategy

As a leader in UK sustainable woste management, we play o critical role in climate action; enabling the UK circular economy and
allowing custormers and society to reduce their emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy ‘Reduce,
Recycle, Recovar and Collect’ guides the services we offer, our operations, our supply chain management and our investment in research
and development.

These four areas of our sustainable business mode! reflect the outcomes ond value creation delivered by our operational capabilities and
our capital allocation:

. Reduce: To pioneer and operate the UK's leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

«  Recycle: To develop and operate the UK’s leading recycling solutions.

«  Recover: To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure os a lower carbon clternative to landfill for our customers’ waste that
can’t be recycled.

«  Collect: To build the UK’s largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operation.

To further align our funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identified, we have
established a Sustainability-Linked Finance Framework which was published in December 2020.

Cur sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Responsible, was published in March 2020 and identifies 20 clearly defined targets which
mitigate against climate-related risks and capitalise on climate-related opportunities, These targets include Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, alternative fuelled vehicles, increased collection route efficiencies and the purchasing of renewable energy.

Progress cgainst the strategy is reviewed annually and will take on board any changes in reguiations, societal demand, technology
availability and the development of climate science. Where required the strategy will be adapted to reflect these changes.

Scenario analysis

We use scenario analysis to ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential future climate
scenarios 1o 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluated against three scenarios. Expanding our scenario selection enables us 1o
explore the key transitional and physical risks and opportunities that Biffa may be exposed to:

« The ‘sustainable’ scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from a successful decarkbonisation, aligned with
the Paris Agreement and its goal is to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared 1o pre-industrial levels.

e The ‘middle of the road’ scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded as
the most likely climate trajectory with a globat temperature increase of between 2 and 3°C.

«  The ‘hot house’ scenario - enables us to assess the risks where the Paris Agreement is not met and for global average temperafures
rising to above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenario we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scenarios used were informed by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways!' and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK SSPsY. Data from the UK Met Office, that aligned with the global average temperature rising 1o
above 4°C by the end of the century was used in the ‘hot house’ scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable to our UK operations.

In 2022 we carried out a materiality assessment, asking our key slukeholders whether they saw the material topics as risks or
oppertunities for Biffa to ensure we had a balanced view. The Executive Sustainability Committee consider that the material risks and
opportunities outlined in the 2022 materiality assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of our Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on outcomes of the assessment: www.biffa,.co.uk/sustainabiiity.

Footnotes

1 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climare Change Representative Concentrahion Pathways were used in our scenarios as they ollow physical chmate mpacts 1o be considered
such as temperature, fiooding and extreme weather, across differing average temperarure nises resulting from varying rodiative forces.

2 Socioaconomic Pathways ($5Ps) describe o set of alternative plausible trajectories of societal development, which are based on hypotheses obout which societal elements are

the most impor*ant determinants of challenges to climate change mitigation and adaptation. Spatial exphieit Projections of Environrmental Drivers (SPEED) have worked with
partners to develop UK versions of the $5Ps through o porticpatary process involving stakeholder workshops, interviews and questionnaires to spanally, temporally and
sectorally extend glebal and £uropean versions of the 55Ps,
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L Low

M Medium H High

Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 1 (‘sustainable’)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFED Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic ) 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and ovoided We hove on ombitious corbon reduction
efficiency technology operating costs for target and in order to meet this we have a
facilities and collections strong focus on energy efficiency across
fleet, M H L our operations and fleet and we believe
technology advancement would enable us
to accelerate this under the sustainable
world.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue due Wwe are committed to optimising our
services / demand for to the continued processes and using our expert knowledge
markets iow carbon development or?d H H " to dellve-r low corbor_w services/products,

. reduced operating costs. we continue to monitor customer dermands
services and and markets changes so we remain
materials competitive.

Additional Increased revenue from we understand the importance of green
technology continued development technology and our ambition is to unlock
of additional services. H H H £1.25bn of investment in green economy
infrastructure by 2030, which includes but
isn’t limited To investments in plastics
recycling.
Resilience Collaberarive Increased market value we engage cellaboratively with our key
relationships and revenue due to L M L stakeholder groups fo help find solutions to
reputational benefits. the most difficult climate challenges.
Mergers and Reduced operating costs M&A enables us to continue to gain
acquisitions due to efficiency gains H M H operating efficiencies and new capabilities,
and increased revenue. helping us to achieve our amkitious
sustainability targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Emissions Increased operating we continue 1o review our progress aguiis!
legal legislation caosts in order to our emissions targets and ensure our
maintain emissions L M M targets aligned to the latest climate
compliance and comply science.
with low emission zones.
Renewable Impact on revenue due The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy to changes in initiatives schemes for landfill gas which we currently
legislation available. receive for our landfill gas operations has
L H L been built into our five-year business plans.
Other sources of renewable energy such as
solar would allow us ro utilise the grid
connections across our landfill porrfolio.
waste Impact on revenue and We engage productively and transparently
legislation operating costs due 10 with regulators and policy makers to ensure
change in service that we have foresight of upcoming
demand L L L legislation, allowing us to make the
and materials. necessary adaptations. A higher demand
for recycled materials presents a great
opportunity for Biffa.
Low emission Costs to transition to fow Collabarating with our supplier on
technology carbon technology M M L rechnology advances enables efficiency

Qgains in the use of rescurces and
operational processes.
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 (‘middle of the road”)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resaurce Mare efficient Reduced and avoided we have a strong focus on energy
efficiency technology operating costs for efficiency across our operations and fleet.
facilities and L L L Improving our energy efficiency across our
collections fleet. operations and fleet is essential for us to
meet our ambitious carbon reduction
commitments.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue Our sustainability ambitions will be
services / demand for due to the continued delivered by optimising our processes and
markets low carbon development cr}d H H H combining these wiﬂ.“n our actions o help
. d reduced operating customers move their waste further up the
serV|c?s an costs. wciste hierarchy, helping to reduce the
materials carbon footprint of the services we offer.
Additionat Increased revenue Our ambition is to unlock £1.25bn of
technology from continued H H H investment in green economy infrastructure
development of by 2030, which includes but isn't limited to
additiona| services. investments in plastics recycling,
Resilience Collaborative Increased market we engege collaboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakeholder groups to help find solutions to
due to reputational L M M the most difficult climate challenges and
benefits. help our customers meet their own
sustainakility tfargets,
Mergers and Reduced operating We centinue to develop our capabilities
acquisitions costs due to efficiency through M&A, which will enchle us to
gains and increased M M M continue to gain operating efficiencies and
revenue, new capabilities, helping us to achieve cur
ambitious sustainability targets.
B Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Palicy and Emissions Increased operating we are making significant progress
legal legisiation costs in order 1o towards our commitment of a 50%
maintain emissions reduction in our emissions by 2030. We
compliance and L L - have also set a target for Net Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050. Achieving our targets will
emission zones. recuce our expose fo emission related
costs,
Renewable Impact on revenue The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy due to changes in schemes for landfill gas which we currently
legislation initiatives available. receive for our landfill gas eperaticns has
L H L been built info our five-year business plans.
we are exploring other sources of
renewable energy that will allow us to utilise
our large land holding and grid
infrastructure.
waste Impact on revenue we engage preductively and transparently
legislation and operating costs with regutators and potlicy makers fc ensure
due to change in thar we have toresight of upcoming
service demand L L L legislation, allowing us 1o make the
ond materials. necessary adaptations. A higher demand
for recycled materials presents a great
opportunity for Biffa.
Low emission Costs to transition to Collaborating with our supplier on
technology low carbon M M M technology advances enables efficiency
technology gains in the use of resources and

operational processes.
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Summary of our most materidal climate-reiated risks ~ Scenario 3 (‘hot house”)

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Acute physical  Damage 1o Increased costs due Understanding the exposure of our
impacts property/site tc physical damage. operations to the risk from extreme
(increase in infrastructure . weather events, including flooding, allows
severity of from extrame  LnCreased insurance us to identify business-critical locations
extreme weather premiums and M H H which can then be assessed for climate
weather) and evenits reduced insurance change adaption investment. New facilities
chronic availability for *high incorporate climate change and flooding
physicat risk’ areas. measures into their planning phases and
impacts (long- development.
term climate .
w  shifts) Increased Increased capital Whilst the frequency and extent of extreme
= heglth and costs as a result of weather is hard o predict, we confinue to
[ safety risk fire damage to monitor changing weather patterns on o

buildings/vehicles. . .
gs/ short-ferm basis and take action to

Indirect costs due mitigate any negative effects.
To impacts on

health and

weflbeing. L L L

Increase in
operational costs
for heating, cooling
and change in
operating proctices
due to shifting
temperatures.

The Risks and Opportunities Identified

Biffa views potential climate-related risks and opportunities under two main categories:

. Transition rigk: changes as a result of legislation, customer expectations and new technologies.
. Physical climate: physical climate impacts and how this impacts our facilities and operations,

Under both decarbonisation scenarios used in our analysis, the risks we face ara intrinsically linked to changes in policy and legislation,
technoiogical advancements and innovation that support a low carbon, energy efficient economy. Risks that relate to transport and
emissions, impact most sectors, while other risks are waste sector specific. Mitigation measures include support of our subject-matter
experts and the monitoring of future changes and our current business mode! shows our consideration of a deeply decarbonised
pathway.

To achieve decarbonisation the circular economy is needed to decouple economic growth from the use of natural rescurces. This
presents significant opportunities for Biffa including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recycling services
and low carbon materiais. These opportunities are enhanced by England’s Resources and waste Strategy, which supports the circular
economy and green consumerism. Our business strategy positions us in key role to support our custorners during this transformation.

If global climate mitigation is unsuccessful and the "hot house’ scenario becomes a reality, we understand that the world will face
changes in market conditions, but the size and nature of these changes are highly uncertain. Therefore, the focus of this scenario is the
physical climate impact on our business and workforce. The physical impacts are primarily related to severe weather events, These could
pose a risk to our workforce and facilities in the long term and reguire us to introduce additional safety measures and training. We
believe the best mitigation against the risks from this scencrio is to support the goails of the Paris Agreement and make a positive
contribution to climate action ourselves and through our value chain,

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due to the amount of carbon aiready in the atmosphere and unknown carbon feedback icops,
some increase in extreme weather events and long-terrn changes in temperature and rainfall patterns is expected. These will impact our
business, but to o lesser magnitude than if a decarbonisation pathway isn't achieved. Our business continuity planning is informed by
both post and simulated events and ensures that we remain resilienf fo any disruption caused by extreme weather events. Business
critical operations that are at a higher risk will be assessed for adaptation if required.
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Risk Management

we use our well-established risk management framework to review our climate-related risks and opportunities.

Risk governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board ensures the Group's internal control systems and risk management framework are effective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated authority to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day risk management and control. This ensures that management provides
leadership and direction to employees so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk cppetite.

Biffa opercates the Three Lines of Defence’ madel to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the reiationship
between the various management and oversight functions, and to demenstrate how responsibilities are allecated. The Internal Audit
function assesses our risks and controls independently and cbjectively.

Risk appetite

The Biffa Topco Limited Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures risk is managed appropriately Geross the
Group. Health & Safety, legal, regulatory and environmental risks (including climate-related risks) are our major focus. Biffa dedicates
significant resources 1o managing and monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside. In ecch case,
contrels and mitigating actions aligned to the risk appetite are put in place.

Risk assessment

A risk assessment matrix is used to ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materiaiising and its potential impact, We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating acticns, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any additional activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate the
risk.

For more information on our Risk Management Process please see the 'Principie risks and uncertainties’ section.
Emerging risks
In oddition to known risks, we identify ond onclyse emerging risks and the need for mitigotion as port of our existing risk managemens?

processes, These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team and the Audit Committee, and include risks reloting to climate
change such as alternative fuels, flooding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group’s risk management process is centrally coordinated. It utilises a risk management tool and considers the existing business
model and future strategy. Within this tool, climate-related risks have o separate section, but these risks are also included within the
operational risk profile for ecch area of the business where relevant. An established network of ‘Risk Champions’ s in place to facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the senior management team and take a lead role in engoging local
management to identify and regularly update risk information.

The Group Executive Team are updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned to
individual members of the Team.

The Audit Committes undertakes periodic reviews of the principal and emerging risks, as identified and assessed by monagement
through the above process. The Audit Committee olso reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which
operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible; however, we cannot eliminate all
risks to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss,
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Metrics and Targets

We assess our effectiveness of integrating climate-related risks and opportunities into our business through the use of a series of business
relevant climate change indicators,

Our targets are;

. Reduce our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 50% by 2030 from a 2019 baseline (746,925 1C0O2e) and achieve Net Zero* by no later
than 2050. During FY24 we hape to receive validation from the SBTi for our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions targets.

- Intraduce 10% non-fossil-fuelied collection vehicles by 2025.

. Increase collection route efficiency by 10% by 2025.

. Purchase 100% renewable energy by 2025,

“Net zerp refers o achieving a balonce between the omount of greenhouse gos emissions produced and the amount removed from the armosphere

Metric | 2023 L 2022 J 2021
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based) (1CCxe)* L 524,367 L 537,950 ) 533,187
% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions since 2019 ] ] 27.98 2862

Scope 5 (1CO:e)”

|

666,065 622,170

190

% of alternative fuelled cofiection vehicles

7
Coliection route efficiency (liffs per km) | 0.50 | D49

% increase in collection route efficiency from 2019 l 417

208 | -1250
% renewable energy purchased™ i 100 100 ‘ 51

* Limited assurance provided by Bureau Veritas. The independent assurance statement can be viewed ar ittps:// www.bitfa.co uk/sustainability/reports-and-performance
** FY22 armounts hove been recalculated 1o include the impact of rhe Vindor acguisition during the prior period.
*** Amounts have been restated tareflect the percentage of renewable energy purchased for sites where Biffa cantrals the energy supply agreerment,

Comments on the data

1 Curing FY23 we adopted a new methodology for calculated ermssions associated with Scope 3 Category 1 (purchased goods and servicas) and Category 5 (waste generated in

operatiens), This new methodology means we are using gquanfity dota for thied-party waste treqiment /disposal where possible rather than the spend-pased methodology

2. Ouring FY21 we maoved our main portiolie where we are responsible for the energy supplier onto d renewable tariff

3 Collection route efficiency was sigmificantly impacted by Covid-19. FY22 has been another challenging year with Cowid-19 wnpaching the start of the year and driver shartages,
however positive progress has been made rowards our 2025/30 rarget

To lead in UK sustainable waste management it is critical that we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue to develop our ability to
offer low carbon services to our customers. Qur emissions reguction target is built into the Group Balanced Business Plan (BBP). This
influences our divisional BBPs which in turn determines senior leaders’ remuneration policy. Where relevant, other targets outlined in our
sustainability strategy are incorporated into our divisional BBPs.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

we have seen o reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of almost 30% compared to our 201% baseline!, When taking into account
our purchasing of renewable energy?, this reduction is 31%.

This has been achieved through the continued improvement of our landfill gas capture and efficiency gains within our operations, including
the removal of 56 diesel RCVs to date as a result of our acquisitions since the launch of our sustainability strategy, equating to a saving of
1,600 1CQ2Ze per yeaqr.

I W20 we Lransitioned our porttolio to a new energy management system o aid more granutar data analysis. Following
recommendations from our annual SECR cudits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed o series of actions, including a
Non-Half Hourly (NHH) meter replacement exercise and creation of an independent site list, to allow us to have greater understanding of
our electricity usage and quickly identify problems. During FY23 we have begun work on business area infensity metrics, helping us fo
normalise electricity usage as the business continues to grow.

During the year we have implemented a Computer Aided Facilities Management System which has allowed for the development of
regional networks, reducing the mileage travelled for reactive maintenance. We alsc operate a rolling upgrade programme of energy
efficiency improvements across our sites. In FY23 we have fitted 7 sites with external lighting timeclocks and installed LEDs across 18 sites.
A Building Management System has been installed at our Head Office to control the Heating, Ventilation and Air Condifioning (HVAC)
system effectively. It is estimated that these improvements will save ¢.75tCO2e per year.

Building on the successful roll out of energy and utility audits in our Municipal business in FY22, during FY23 ocur Resources and Energy
division have undertaken energy and utility audits to identify potential areas for energy efficiency improverments to be made. By
identifying our sites individual energy usage, we can take more effective measures fo reduce the energy consumption. The plan for FY24 is
to roll cut a similar audit aeross our I&C estate.

As a result of our positive progress to date, we are well on course to achieve our sustainability strategy targets to reduce carbon emissions
by 50% by 2030.

UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG") Emissions and Energy Use Data

Emissions from: (in tonnes CO2e*) 2023 2022 2021
Scope 17 496,959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 (Market-based)y** 15641 16,079 20,355
Scope 2 (Location-based): Flectricity, heat, steam and cooling™ 27,408 30,320 26,959
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Market-based)™ 512,600 523,709 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based)y*™ 524,367 537,950 533,187
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) intensity ratio - 1COze per £m revenue 304 363 505
Scope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity ratio - 1C0- per £m revenue 311 373 512
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) intensity ratio - t1CO-e per employee 47.40 5375 63.92
Scope 1 and 2 {(Location-based) intensity ratic - 1COze per employee 48.55 55.21 64.72
Totat Scope 3= 666,065 622,170 n/a

* Carbon dioxide eguivalenr (CC.e) is @ standard umit in carbon accounting te quantify greenhouse gas emissions, emissions reductions and carbon credits.
** Limited assurance provided by Bureau Veritas. The independent assurance statement can be viewed ot https://www.biffa.co uk/sustainabiiity /reports-and-performance
#** FY22 amounts have been recaiculated to include the impact of the Viridor acquisition during the prior period.

Comments on the data

1 Biffa collects and reporrs environmental data in accordance with the guidelines of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The CO2e emissions were calcutated using the BELS 2022
ermission factors. We have folowed the GHG Protocol Scope 2 Guidance raquining dual reperting using Two ervssion factors for each site - Market-based and Location-based.
Prica 1o F¥2L the Location-based method has been used as a proxy for the Market-based method.

Z Scope 1 encompasses direct GHG emissions from energy generated from fossil fuels used within our operations such as diesel, gos and ail. It alse includes our landfill gas
emissions. Scope 2 encompasses indirect GHG emissions from the on-site generation and purchase of electricity using market-based emissions data. 5¢cope 3 encompasses
indirect GHG emissions in Biffa’s vakie chain (upstream and downsfream).

3 The data reported s based on our operational control. Reperted emissions are within the UK only. No direct operations ore corried oot offshore. Qur investments in joint
ventures and ossaciates are included within Category 15 of our Scope 3 emissions as they fall outside our cperational control. Detals of these investments can be found in Note
28 to the consohdated finoncicl statements.

4 Scope 3 emissions includes purchased goods and services, capital goods, fuel and energy reloted activities, downstream transportaticn of sold products, waste generated in
operations, busingss travel, employee commuting, end-of-life treatment for products sold by CSG, leased assefs ond investments. During the year we have developed an
updared methodology and FY22 1s our baseline for Scope 3 emissions as it is not possible fo calculote the prior years using the updated methodology.

5. we have exiended the boundary of our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions to include acquired companies. The ermissions associated with the ccquired companies have not exceeded
our emissions recalculation threshold.
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Energy Consumption within the UK

Climate Change/GHG emissions table (kwh) 2023 2022 2021 J
Methane emissions (utilised) 300,479 339,925 422,215 |
Diesel fuel used 554,071,615 457,705,757 342,516,629
Rad diesel used 3,674,083 77,179,734 71,590,025

T Unleaded petrol used _1_ 1,236,825 443,513 196,097
Kerosene used L 2,501,887 87499 87,542
LRG" 3,215,745 3.073,? 3,080,661
Natural gas 9,626,811 9,389,522 9,229,118
HYO 4,393,127 1,670,603 -
Purchased electricity J 108,628,860 108,025,000 81,480,688
Self-supplied electricity l 33,101,886 34,769,481 34,155,151
Total 720,841,318 692,934,607 542,558,126

* LPG has been festated 1o Ihclude sines missing from disciogures n the prior penod All other disclosures in this rable are unaffected,

Comments on the doro

1. To calculate the abave consumption figures, we used methodology based on the Streamilined Energy Carbon Reporting (SECR’ comphiance scheme.

2. The increase i kwh attributed to Diesel fuel used 1§ due to an merease in fleet size following acguisition combined with 'red dieser usage being replaced by white diesel. The
growth of the business through acquisthons has ead to on overall ncrease in Total kwh used by the Group

3 The data reported is energy used within the UK only. No energy is used offshore. All Biffa’'s operations ara UK-baged.

4. SECR data is audited by Carbon Decoded,

5 ESOS phase 3 qudit due by December 2023.

Energy Generation

2023 2022 2021
Generation (GwWh) 349 383 396
Carbon benefit (k tonnes CO»e) 68 81 92
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Biffa Topce Limited Board has overall responsibility for risk mancgement at Biffa, In support of this, risk management is firmly
embedded within our everyday bysiness activities and our culture.

Governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group’s risk management and infernal control systems are
effective. The Audit Committee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Board in the management of risk and has been delegated with authority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal contrel processes during the year.

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that management provides leadership and direction to our workforce so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our risk
appetite.

Risk Management Framework
Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines Model’ to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship between the
various management and oversight functions, and 1o demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated,

The Internal Audit function assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively. On a quarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key controls within their area of responsibility have been operating effectively. The Interncl Audit function independently validate
these results through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk appropriately across the Group. Health and
safety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our top pricrity. Biffa dedicates significant resources and focus to managing and
monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside this.

Management assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considered and agreed. The Group categorises these risks into various
areas, including: interest rate risk; inflation risk; commodity risk; currency risk; disposal risk and energy risk. This assessment includes the
exposures and the associated mitigations. This enabies Biffa to have informed decision making in line with its risk appetite, ensures
confidence in the response to risks, enables transparency over the principal risks foced and how these are managed.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management pracesses are centrally coordinated via a second line risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in place to facilitate updates to risks during the year. The Risk Partners are members of the senior
management team and take a lead role in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk information on a regular basis.

We use a risk gssessment matrix to ensure that all risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its petential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating ccfions and controls. We also identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigate the risk.

The Group Executive Team engages with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cyclical end-to-end
process. Risks are updated individually by Group Executive Team members in conjunction with the risk management function on a regular
basis prior to Group Executive Team meetings. The risks are then assessed and reviewed and then further updated as part of the cycle.
Ownership of each of these risks are assigned to individua! members of the feam. They are responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
the internal controf systems and for impiementing risk mitigation plans. The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigations, as identified and evaluated by management through the above process. The Audit Committee also
reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which operates a risk-based annuai plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible, however we cannat eliminate all risks
to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absoiute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we have o heorizon scanning review process 1o consider emerging risks. This entails involving key stakeholders,
including members of the Group Executive Team and external third parties, in the identification of emerging risks along set timelines,
collating the infermation, reviewing and considering in-depth analysis and then creating a risk radar fo illustrate the relotive time horizons
and assessments,

This enables us to engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues and
opportunities. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Biffa Topco Limited Board and the Audit Committee, and
include risks relating to future environmental, social and governance challenges, funding the transiticn to a greener environment,
technological changes and the use of alternative fuels.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk movemeant

Risk level

o Increasing @ Stable

o Decreasing

Low

Medium High

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
regulatory
compliance

Risk movement and
level

o High risk level

Risk impact
Reputational
Regulatory
Fingncial

The Group operates in a highly
regulated industry and any
changes to Gavernment policy,
reguirements with, or failure by our
staff or third parties who we do
business with to comply with lows
ar regulations or 1o uphsld our high
ethical standards could have an
adverse impact on the Group's
operations and results.

The Group was awarded the
logistics contract for the Depasit
Return Scheme (DRS) in Scotland.
[t had originalty been planned to
commence in August 2023 but this
has been cancelled. Management
remain optimistic that Biffa can
secure equivalent ORS confracts ar
a later date.

A key industry areq of risic is
landfill tax compliance, in
particular the misctassification of
waste causing the incorrect rate of
landfill tax 1o be puid. Historically,
the Group has made g number of
marerial payments 1o HMRC due
to what HMRC perceive 10 be non-
compliance with landfill Tax
guidance.

The current landfill tax enquiry ta
arise poses a significant financial
risk to the business, given the scale
of the protective assessments
issued by HMRC.

There remains a high level of
uncertainty around the final
outcome of this enguiry.

Experienced and gualified teams,
supported by external advisers
where necessary, that monitor
changes and plan appropriate
mitigations and set policies and
procedures.

Representation on the
Enviranmental Services
Association and other external
bodies; liaison with policy-makers
and Regulators ot national and
local levels; responses to
Government /regulatory
consultations and sustainability
reporting.

Environmental compiiance sirategy
in ploce including annually
reviewed fargets and actians at
local, divisionol and Group levels.

Established compliance policy and
proceduras are in place to manage
ofher regulatory compliance risks,
such as landfill tax, bribery. data
protection, modern slavery,
competition and vehicle aperating
licences.

Industry leader n raising
awareness of modern slavery risk
and founding member of the
Slavery Free Alliance,

Training for staff on a range of
compliance topics including landfill
teix procedures, modern slavery,
anti-bribery, data protection and
competition.

The Group has mitigations in place
to recover some of the commirted
expendifure incurred on DRS. An
insurance policy is also in place to
reimburse the Group for some of
the costs not recovered through
the mitigating cctions above.

We are working closely with stakeholders
to maintain our presence in the DRS
scheme structure and have retained legal
advisors to suppaort.

We continue 1o fully co-operate with HMRC
in retation to the ongoing landfill fax
enquiry and dre receiving advice from
Ernst & Young.

Strategic/
competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Reputationci
Regulatory
Financial

Medium risk level

Market disruption from the
application of new technology ond
the advent of new business madels
could change the waste supply
chain and acdversely impact Biffa's
established operating asset base
of a traditional collection network
and processing facllities.

Internal business Innovation
Special Interest Graup focuses on
market developments and acts as
an incubator for ideas and new
business models.

Continual competitor analysis to
consider threats and changes o
the landscape.

Annual strategy review to ensure
that Biffa business mode! remains
current and competitive.

Ongoing tnvestment in and
impravement of the customer
experience through digitisation,
improved processes and
management informaotion.

The business strategy was updated and
approved by the board aligned with the
SYP.

The Innovatian Special Interest Group
continued with good representation from
the business and covering a large humber
of disrupftive topics.

Adoption of the My Biffa digital customer
platform has continued alongside the
establishment of a dedicated digital team. !

A number of external events were aftended
and projects with key partners
implemented to extend our innovation
network,

Bitfa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 22



Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

)

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

High risk level

Failure to deliver strategic
initiatives, such as energy recovery
facilities and business
transformation, acquisition
integrations, commercial projects
and system implementations,
Business transformation is focused
on our products and services, how
they are scld and delivered, the
technalogy used and the online
services offered to customers.

The key M&A risks dre not being
able 1o find and secure suitable
rargets and risks and issues that
arise post completion, that impact
on the investment case.

As with any such projects, there
are risks that the project fails 1o
deliver the anticipated
improvements and/or benefits for
the budgeted investment,
adversely impacting reputation
and operatfing results.

Board und Group Executive Teom
sponsorship and leadership.

Selected software is o proven ‘off the

shelf’ preduct.

Dedicoted programme team and
change network in place, with
experienced resources

Post-investment reviews of all
projects.

Proven ERF fechnology, with
substantial UK and worldwide
reference plants.

Limited recourse project structure.

Due diligence undertaken for ail M&A

transactions, inciuding use of
external advisers depending on
target value and complexity. A
standardised approach using an
established valuation model is in
place with all fransaction

reviewed /approved by the
Investment Committee and {where
appropriate) the Board.

Dedicated corparate finance
expertise in place, who together with
experienced Biffa subject matter
experts act as senior stakeholders
for the acguisition process and help
drive opportunities through The
pipeling,

The HR cnd payroil solution has been buift
and completed functional testing and will
be ready to implement in the coming
financial year following extensive testing.

The Finance and Procurement Analysis and
Design phase was completed and signed
off enabling the buiid of the solution to
commenee nndl the fimeling and budger for
the solution 1o be refined,

The Sales and Service workstream was
mobilised and has now entered an initial
discovery phase.

At the year end date Newhurst remained on
target 1o reach ful! operatians in line with
plan. The site became fully operational in
May 2023 and is performing in line with
expectarions.

Protos construction has been impacted by
the avaitability of steel following the
Russian invasion of Ukraine - mitigation
and contingency measures employed.

JV Steerco meetings held monthly to review
progress and agree actions.

Completed 3 acguisitions in the year; Forge
(I&C, share purchase), DJB (I1&C, trade and
assets) and Total Recycling Services
(Industriai Services, share purchase)

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

>

Risk impact
Financial
Reputational
Operational

Medium risk level

The Group is exposed o risks
inherent in long-term fixed-price
contracts, in particular in its
Municipal business and Resources
& Energy division and related
opergtions.

Risks include inaccurate long-term
cost estimates due to changes in
the externat cperating environment
and market dynamics that lead to
material deviations from initial
underlying assumptions

Group Delegated Authorities Policy
for the review/approval of bids by
senior management, Investment
Committee and the Board.

Material bids are compiled by
dedicated development feams with
significant expertise and experience.

Protection from change of law or
force mojeure for unforeseen

circumstances is agreed in confracts,

where possible.

A controct risk framework is in place
to identify key commercial /legal
risks and confirm through the
governance process that these have
been considered and mitigated.

we are moving gradually the risk profile
with customers (particulorly around labour)
as and when contracts come up for re-bid
or extension. A more tfransparent poss-
through concept Is starting to emerge
although this will obvicusly take fime o
become fully embedded.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & safety

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Reputaticnal

Medium risk leve|

Biffa's operations present inherent
H&S risks to our employees, our
customers and the wider public,

Vislations of H&S laws/regulations
could have a material adverse
effect on Biffa’s business and
reputation

Group H&S Director reports to the
CEC.

Active and regular engagement by
senior monogerment including weekly
reporting and calls with the Group
Executive Team.

Inclusion of H&S targets and
abjectives within Group Balanced
Business Plans with one of the five

Investment in EcoOnline for incident
management, audit & inspection, and risk
management.

Comparny-wide adaption of TOPSET .
methodology for incident investigations

generating increasingly useful root cause

analysis.

Full review of all fire risk assessments for

Regylatory pillars being ‘Safer Together’. every property in the Biffa portfolio.
Embedded policies, Smﬁdﬂrdls and Restructured H&S leadership team with
procedures in place across Biffa for enhanced assurnce and project
the syls‘remcmc control of significant management focus.

H&S risks.

Primary authority reiationship with Imroducrion_ of Deep Dl_ve ossuronce
Hampshire & Isle of Wight Fire and reviews fooking at key risk (Fire, Machinery
Rescue Service enables access 10 and Pedestrian safety in FY25).

advice and counsel on fire risk issues. .

7 Development of suite of 'learning from
Mammme_.-d management sysfem incidents’ materials including new Group
cerfification of 150 45001:2018 standard and video ‘lessons’ sharing

learning from key incidents

New processes for collection point risk
assessments for I&C to minimise risks to
drivers and customers.

Extensive development programme for H&S
team including IIRSM Risk Management
and NEBOSH Process Safety.

Business A significant disruption to Biffa's Crisis management and emergency Regular IT security update provided o the

continuity, cyber
security and IT
resilience

Risk movement and
level

@ High risk levet

Risk impact
Financial
Reputational
Operational

infrostructure, including IT
systems, could potenticlly have an
impact on the activity of the
Group's customers, such as
increased bitling times,
inferruptions to collection
operations and processing
logistics, ond additional costs.

Additionalfy, the theft, loss,
destruction, misappropriation, or
release of sensitive and/or
confidential information could
result in business disrupticn, dota
protection breach, negarive
publicity or brand damage.

response plans in piace for key sites
and operations.

Server infrastructure supporting key
1T services hosted in Microsoft Azure
Cloud providing resilience, failover
and backup services.

150 27001 and Cyber Essentials Plus
certificotion in place.

Intrusion defection in place and a
cloud-based ‘always on’ security
service provided by Microsoft
protecting against key cyber threats.

Established data protection policy
ond procedures to ensure
compliance.

bocrd.

IT security dashboard developed and in
ploce.

A number of 1T security training and
interventions delivered.

Seme additional security measures and
features implemented for board and
executive members.

Microsoft Secure score improved by 27%

Transition to more comprehensive Mutti
Factor Authentication.

Aftraction and
retention of talent

Risk movement and
level

% Madium risk level

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

The inability to source and retain
appropriately priced and skilled
labour to maintain competitive
advantage, could have o material
adverse effect on Biffa's business
results, cperations, financial
condition and prospects.

Ongoing review of the recruitment
and retention of key workars such as
drivers.

Benefits appropriate and
comparable To market.

Talent and management
development programmes deployed
at senior levels and progressively to
other levels going ferward.

Foundation Living Wage now minimum pay
level in Biffa (excluding CSG).

Driver artrition has reduced fo pre-
pandemic levels, recruitment process
improved utilising internal recruitment ream
for drivers.

Job families implemented for staff roles
and poy adjustments made to ensure
comparable to market.

Family friendly benefits improved.

Graduate programme introduced.

Advanced Leadership Programme (ALP)
confinues.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
level

% Medium risk level

Biffa preduces significant volumes
of recycled commeodities for resale.
Commodities produced include
various paper grades, card,
plastics, and ferrous and non-
ferrous metals.

In addition, Biffa generates power
from renewable sources and
changes o electricity export prices
impact revenues and profits
achieved.

Ongoing monitoring and
improvements to product quality
within recycling processes.

Off-taker strategy to limit
dependency, where able, on non-
OECE markets.

Commeadity price risk sharing within
long term commercial contracts.

Power price hedging policy in place,
which is regularly reviewed.

OCC sales in particular moved to CECD
markets with Turkey now a major of f-taker.

we have continued our progress with 75%
of LA contracts now on commodity risk
share.

Pawer hedging is reviewed monthly by the
Encrgy Working Group.

PPAs in place for power supply up to end of
FY26

Risk impact
Finoncial Markets for these recyclate Route to market Power Purchase
Operational products have individual supply Agreement with top tier off-taker
and demand dynamics impacting gives offtake certainty and credit
both price and availability of off- worthiness.
take.
Finance If the Group were to not maintain Significant and flexible bank funding The Company’s debt was partiatly
. ers cdequate cash balances, the facility with substantial headroom to restructured when ECP’s takecver was
availability/ Group would be unable fo pay enable the Group 1o progress completed. With regards fo flexible
investment suppliers, payroll ang other strategic pricrities and facilities, the existing £350m RCF held by

Risk movement and
level

@ Low risk level

Risk impact
Financial

creditors in a timely manner or on
agreed terms. This could result in
delays or cedasing of operations,
both of which could lead to
reputaticnal damage and a
deterioration in financial
performance.

If the Group were 1o fail 10 comply
with any of the financicl or non-
financial covenants in its credit
facilities (due, for example, to
increasing interest rates and a
deterioration in financial
performance), it could result ina
default and the acceleration of the
Group's obligations to repay those
borrowings, increased borrowing
costs or cancellation of certain
credir facilities.

Underperformance, o large one-off
cash outflow or unfavourable
interest rate movements would ail
increase the risk of a covenant
breach.

accommodate any downside
performance risk. As at the end of
the year, the Group held a cash
balonce of £40.8m,

£225m revolving credit facility (RCF")
expiring in March 2026 held by the
Company’s immediate parent. As ar
the end of the year, £102m of the
facility was undrawn, Drawdowns caon
be requested and processed at short
notice if the need arises.

In addition tc the bank funding
facility, the Group has over £50m of
undrawn asset financing facilities,
cithough these are uncommitted.

Ongoing monitoring of financial and
non-financial covenants with reguiar
updates to the Board.

Incorporate cash performance and
funding reguirement considerations
into budgeting and ferecasting
processes.

Consider the impact on covenants
when making key strategic decisions
on acquisitions, disposals and capital
expenditure.

Ongoing menitoring of the status of
the HMRC landfill tax enquiry with
regular updates to the Biffa Topco
Limited Board.

The Group has significant headroom
on the lending covenants and intends
to maintain high levels of headroom
going forward. This, combined with
the tlexibility in the business model,
enables the Group 1o mitigare any
financial risks thatr materialise.

the Company was replaced with a £225m
RCF held by its immediate parent. On 23
May 2023 the facility was increased again
to £325m. Refer to Note 23 and Note 34 for
more information on the wider debt
restructure.

Increcsed debt levels and rising interest
rates have reduced the headroom on the
Group's lending covenants, particularhy
interest cover.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement and
level

@ High risk level

Risk impact
Financial

Economic conditions in the UK
may have an adverse impact on
the Group’s operational and
financial performance.

The Group exposure includes:

+ Political, social and
macroeconomic risks relating to
the UK's exit from the EU.

+ Any economic weakness that
leaas to reduced volumes of waste
and recyclate.

* A deterioration in
macroeconomic conditions
resuffing in increased pricing
pressure and customer Turnover
* Rising inferest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrowing,
reducing the headroom on the
Group's lending covenants,
particularly interest cover

* Supply chain disruption, longer
lead times and price inflation.

The Group has revenues and costs
that are impacted by the value of
Sterling relative to key currencies
such as the US Dollar or the Eure.
This provides scme degree of offser
and natural hedge.

To improve short-ferm earnings
visibility and reduce the susceptibility
of financial performance to price
fluctuations, the Group enters into
forward contracts for:

« The sale of electricity
« Short-term currency exposures
« The purchase of fusl

Bifta pravides services 1o customers
in the public and private sectors right
across the UK economy. The breadth
of customers offers o degree of
protection against econemic
pressures that may affect specific
markets and industries.

The Group has access 1o o Revalving
Credit Facility with o number of
relationship banks which provides
additional sources of funding. Cash
and liquidity levels are regularly
monitored to ensure the Group <an
meet its abligations and strategic
objectives.

The Group continues to monitor this risk,
specifically the impact of increasing
interest rates, inflationary pressures and
supply chain constraints, and remains
confident that existing mitigations enable
the impact of any weakening conditions to
be minimised.
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Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financial Reporting Requirements set out in the Act are addressed in the statement below.

Main policies and standards which govern our approach

Environmental information
Environment, sustainability and carbon palicy

Protection of the environment and the climate is a cornerstone of
Biffa’s business. It is underpinned by our Vision and Purpose to be
the leader in UK sustainable waste management and to change the
way people think about waste. It is delivered by our sustainability
cnd operotional environmental compliance strategies. Biffa is
committed to its compliance obligations as well as pramoting high
standards of environmental, sustainability, carbon and energy
management at all cur workplaces, and in all cur activities.

« Colleagues
»  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a long-established whistieblowing policy by which ali
employees may, in confidence, report any concerns that the interests
of the Company or others are at risk.

« Diversity and inclusion policy

Qur Diversity Policy is designed fo provide equal opportunities in
employment and to avoid unlawful discrimination.

Biffa will net discriminate directly or indirectly in our recruirment,
employment and post-employment practices because of age,
disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy, maternity, race
(which includes colour, nationciity and ethnic or notional origins),
sexual orientation, religion or belief, or because someone is married
or in a civil partnership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safety and wellbeing is the highest priority within the
business and Biffa is committed to monitoring and reviewing
performance on a regular and ongoing basis, Qur goal is to
keep our people, cur custorners and the public safe through
effective leadership and risk management, promoTing high
standards of health, safety & welleaing in the workplace and in
all our activities.

s  Social matters

e Sustainable procurement policy

. Biffa is a significant purchaser of goods and services. This
reguires us to ensure our precurement practices are not only
responsible, but alse environmentally, economically, and
ethically sound.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Responsibility for environmental compliance sits with the Board.
Our Environmentatl, Sustainability and H&ES teams wark together
ocross the business ensuring we meet our compiionce obligations
by monitoring, evaluating, auditing, coaching and fraining.

we report on our progress against our sustainability strategy
targets annually in our Sustainability Report.

All whistleblowing reports are entered in the Group Whistlebiowing
Register and are thoroughly investigated.

The output of an investigation is typically reviewed by the Group
HR Director, General Counsel and Compeny Secretary and other
senior leaders as apgropriate, dependent on the nature of the
complaint.

The Audir Committee monitors the Group's whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every employee is required 1o assist us to meet cur commitment to
provide egual opportunities in employment and avoid unlawful
discrimination,

we have manager guidelines for diversity, helping them to consider
diversity/equal opportunity obligations. Managers are olso advised
to make reasonable adjustments to our standard working practices
to overcome barriers caused by disability and we hove a Fiexible
working Policy in place to support requests for variations to
standard working practices.

Employees are expected te report and discuss health, safety and
wellbeing matters with their managers, and Groug Health & Safety
business partners who will offer or obtain further expert advice,
where necessary.

Employees are encouraged to contribute good ideas and
improvements and report any shortfalls so management can maoke
informed decisions and improve standards across the business.
we monitor performance through our LTI rate and have a target in
place to reduce lost time injuries by 50% by 2030 from our 2019
baseline,

Biffa works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externdlly in order to share best practice, identify new
opportunities and deliver programmes that promote our aims for
sustainable procurement.

Performance s monitored and recorded, and key performance
measures such as carbon emissions reductions are regularly
reported.
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Non-Financial Information Statement

Social matters continued

Suppliers - social responsibility and ethical standards

Our suppliers of goods and services must comply with all relevant
legislation and international standards including trading policy, child
and forced labour, health and safety of workers, nan-discrimination,
employment law, human rights, bribery and corruption. We procure
under the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Institute of Purchasing
and Supply.

. Corporate responsibility policy

Qur corporate responsibility framewocrk encompasses our people,
heaith, safety & wellbeing, communities, the environment,
marketplace, reiationships with stakeholders and commitment to
business ethics and conduct.

Employee volunteering policy and procedure

Biffa recognises that facilitating the voluntary involvement of our
employees in community-based projects can result in a range of
positive outcomes,

Biffa will grant one day’s paid leave per annum, in line with an

employee’s contracted hours, to eligible employees 1o get involved in

team volunteering opportunifies within our local communities and
envirenmental-based projects.

. Human rights

. Modern slavery and human trafficking policy

The policy sets out the measures, systems and procedures which
Biffa empioys o minimise the opportunity for modern slavery and
human trafficking toking place within the Group and within our
supply chain.

«  Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

« Anti-bribery and gifts and hospitaiity policies

Our policies set out the standards that are expected of anyone
working at Biffa, and third parties working with Biffa, They include
the reguirements on giving and receiving business gifts and
haspitality.

we have a social responsibility to our suppliers, when problems
arise with o supplier’s performance, we work with the company
concerned to help them 1o meet requirements.

we will be fair and lawful in our dealings but avoid any conduct
which could be counteractive to our corporate social responsibility
and ethico! standards, We reserve the right o discontinue business
with suppliers who do not comply with our requirements in this
areq.

Our standard trading terms with suppliers are 60 days. This has
been the policy since May 2008 and is applicable to all existing and
new suppliers alike.

we are committed 1o complying with our permits os well as
promating high standards on all of our sites, premises, and in all of
our activities.

Our Group Executive Team is responsible for the delivery of the
policy at a business level, with aversight and direction from the
Biffa Topco Limited Board. Ifs success is measured through our
sustainability KPIs, which track our performance across three key
areas (building a circular economy, tackling climate change and
caring for our people, supporting ocur communities), enabling us To
deliver against our responsible business objectives.

Managers are responsible for assessing local operational needs
and proposed volunteering activity, taking inte account the
benefits to both the employee and to Biffa.

Managers will clso consider personal development ond where
appropriate, volunteering may be offered as one of the methods of
meeting development needs.

Biffa conducts risk assessments across its activities and supply
chain in order to identify any areq of its operations that might
represent higher potential risks for slavery or human trafficking to
occur

Biffa works with specific recruitment agencies and labour
resourcing partners wheo are equally committed to ensuring the
work environment is free of slavery and human trafficking.

All Biffa colleagues and managed service providers have reguiar
meetings with onsite account managers where we discuss their
actions regarding the prevention of modern slavery. It is a standing
iterm on menthly business meeting agendas and quarterly business
reviews. Labour providers also give biweekly updates on any
activity of concern.

we produce anh annual modern slavery statement, which the Biffa
Topce Limited Board reviews and approves.

Biffa enforces a strict prohibition against the giving, receiving,
offer, acceptance, payment or authorisation of any bribes, and alse
aguainst any other form of corruption.

we also demand fransparency and integrity in all our business
aeclings, to avoid any improper advantage, or the appearance of
questianabie conduct by our employees or third parties with whom
we do business.

Any instances of potential or actual nen-complicnce with these
palicies are fully investigated and reported to the Audit Committee.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the consolidated financiai statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023,

This Directors’ Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (‘the
Act?.

Directors

The Directors who served during the period and up to the date of signing were:
M Topham

S Parsons (oppeinfed on 31 March 2023}

R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023)

C Chesney (resigned on 26 January 2023)

K Lever (resigned on 26 January 2023)

D Martin (resigned on 26 January 2023)

C Miles {resigned on 2& January 2023}

L Morant (resigned on 26 January 2023)

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject to
the provisions of the Act. In addition, the Group maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither the Company’s
indemnity nor insurance covers clkyims arising from dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches outside the UK.
Company Registration

Biffa Limited is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England and Wales with company number 10336040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ.

Engagement with employees
The Company puts employee engagement at the heart of its people strategy and plans, as detailed in the Strategic Report.
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes and abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the Company
continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promotion
of disabled perscens should, as far as possible, be identical with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 6.89p).
External Auditor

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information of which the external auditer (Deloitie LLP) is unaware. Each Director has
taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant gudit information and to establish
that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

The auditors, Deloitte LLP, will be proposed for reappeintment in accordance with section 485 of the Act.
Streamiined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG") Emissions and Energy Use Datc, Energy Censumption in the UK and Energy Generation
data within Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Financial Risk Management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liguidity risk. The Group’s overaft risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Post Balance Sheet Events

In April 2023 the Group acguired the enftire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capital of Esterform
Packaging Limited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Energy division.

A restructure of the Group's debt became effective on 23 May 2023, with the following changes:

- Term loans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 to £235m
- Rolling credit facility increased from £225m on 31 March 2023 to £325m
- Private placements decrecsed from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

On 7 Juna 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it
would be delayed until October 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made previously on 18 April 2023 that the start date of
the scheme would be delayed from August 2023 to March 2024. Circularity Scotland Limited ('CSL"), the scheme administrator, entered
administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and was therefore unable to meet its contractual ebligations to Biffa and
other parties. The Joint Administrators’ Proposals were released on 28 July 2023, indicating that at best Biffa would receive an
immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSL.

In May and June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-managerment in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 29. At 31 March 2023, the total liability was £17.8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected to be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025.

Refer to Note 34 to the financial statements for more information.
Looking to the future

we have a well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us continue to grow the business over the coming years. The
foundations are in piace to enable us to do so, whilst retaining the balance between changing the way people think about waste,
sustainability and delivering strong financial performance. The UK Government’s ambition to move to a circular economy is also expected
to provide further opportunities to support our growth.

On behalf of the Board.
Michael Topham
Director

Biffa Limited

Registered in England and Wales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that low, the Directors are reguired to
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Infernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the IASB and as adopted by the UK.

The Directors have also chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

s Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

. Make judgements and cecounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

. State whether the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the finoncial statements.

s Prepare the financial staterments on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

. In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors;

. Properly select and apply accounting palicies.

. Present information, including accounting pelicies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information.

s  Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient fo enable users to
understand the impact of particular fransactions, other events and conditions an the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

. Make an assessment of the Company’s ability To continue as o going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to
ensure that their financial statements comply with the Act. They are aise responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- the financial statements of Biffa Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state

of the group’s and of the parent company's offairs as at 31/03/2023 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended,

- the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordanice with United Kingdom adopted international accounting
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASBY;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

. we have cudited the financial statements which comprise:

. the consolidated income statement;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,;

. the consolidated and parent company statement of financial position;
. the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

. the relgted notes 1 to 34.

The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the group financicl statements is applicable low, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the TASB. The financicl reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

we conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

we are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements thot are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropricte to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to confinue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

. held discussions with management to understand the Group's process in respect of its going concern assessment;

. reviewed the reasonableness of assumptions applied by management in preparing its FY24 budget and 5-year plan;

. performed an analysis on the Group's results against budget to assess historical accuracy;

. assessed the level of headroom available to the Group from its loan facilities and evaluated the risk of breaching covenants;

. challenged management’s reasonable worst-case analysis and whether it is appropriately plausible but severe, and performed
sensitivity analysis on key variables;

. assessed the appropriateness of considerations and assumptions regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill tax enguiry and the
Group's ability to settle a potential liability in the going concern period;

- evaluated the additional external funding facilities accessible to the Group;
. obtained and performed analysis on post year end results and benchmarked this against management’s forecasts;

. assessed the disclosure in Note 1 to the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements,; and

. assessed the going concern impact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Note 34,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertanties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively. moy cast significant douibt on the group’s and parent company’s ability o continue as a going concern for a period of at
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our respansihilities and the responsibiities of the directars with respect to going cancern are described in the relevant sections of thus
report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon The directors are respansible for the other Information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover The other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon,

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other informaticn is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or oUr knowledde obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or appadrent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to o
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conciude that there is o
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that foct.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respaonsibilities of directors

As explaned more fully in the directors’ respansibilities statement, the directors ore responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being sofisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to froud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going cancern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend fo liguidate the groug or the parert company or to cease operations, or have no reqiistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabie assurance about whether the financial statements as o whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to froud or error, and to issue an quditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
teve! of assurance, but is not @ guarantee that an audit conducted in cecordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect o material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of cur responsibilities for the cudit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www fre.org uk /auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our audiror's report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capoble of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irreguianties, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with lows and regulotions. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irreqularities, including fraud. The extent t¢ which cur
procedures are capable of detecting irregularinies, including fraud is detailed below,

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to fraud and complionce with lows and regulations. We aiso enguired of management, internal audit, those
charged with Governance and the directars about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irreqularities, including those that
are speafic to the groun’s business sector.

we obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and
reguiations that:

. had a direct effect on the determination of matericl amounts and disciosures in the financial statements These included UK
Companies Act, pensions legislation and tax legisiction in all refevant junisdictions where the Group operates; and

= donot have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group's akility fo
operate or to avoid a materigl pendlty. These included the landfill tax requlations and the Environment Act 2021

We discussed among the oudit engagement tearm including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions, IT and vaiuahon specialists
regardimg the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for froud and how and where fraud might occur in the
financigl stoterments.
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As g1 result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potennial for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures performed Tu
addiess Them are described below:

. lrpoinment of Compony Shop Group Goodwill: we considared the reasonableness of 1he modet (drawing on inpuf from speaialists i
FY22Z as the model was unchanged), involved valuation specialists in determining reasonable ranges tor discount rate and long rernm
dgrowth rate, evaluated revenue growth and gross margin, as well as assessing the relevant disclosures in Nofes 1 & 9,

Completeness of Municipal Onerous confracts. We obrained an understanding of relevant controls 1n place To identity contracts which
may be onerous and defermine whether the potential liability is appropriately accounted for ang disclosed in the financial statements.
we also assessed the contract terms for contracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions around infiation & wages, and
anolysed forecast future performance against historical contract results, and wheve appropriate, bridged any expected rmprovement
in performance to specific one-off events in the y2ar and considered whether they would reaccur. Finally, we assessed the disclosures
1N Note 18 To evaluate whether it is In accordance with the requirements of IAS 37 “Pravisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent
Assers”;

. Landfill Accounting: We pinpointed the fraud risk To certain gross cost estimates on figher risk siies, therefore our 1esponse facused
on assessing and challenging the underlying data and key jJudgements ysed in determining the provision, Specific consideranons were
paid fo long-term energy prices, included as part of our assessment of gross cost estimates for higher risk sites, Furthermore, ww
performed an assessment of the reasonableness of the gross cost estimates used by managerment, by performing a retrospective
review of the costs incurred in comparison to those originally estimared.

- HMRC londfilf tax inguiry: We obtained an understanding of the assumptions and the estimation process for tax provisionig. We
angaged interncl forensic specialists to evaluate the scope and findings of the Group's internal analysis which was itself supported by
legal and forensic advisers we also invelved infernal tax specialists i understanding the requirements of LFTL, the application by the
Group, analogous legal precedent and potential exposure. We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the legal and
torensic advisers used in the Group's investigation;

For completeness, we reviewed correspondence between the Group, HMRC and the Group's external legal odvisers and obtained direct
correspondence from and made direct inquiries of the Group’s external legal adviser with regard 1o the status of claims o date and their
views. When making direct inguiries of HMRC, we sought to understand the status of their investigation and ro corroborate areas of inquiry
as the investigation progresses. Additionally, we brought additional resource onto the team, including at partner and director level, who
supported in challenging the findings ansing from the Group's investigation, in particular in relation to the complereness and accuracy of
provisions and contingent liabilities arising from the Group's internal analysis. We evaluoted the completeness of the provisions and
contingent ligbilities through review of board minutes and hoard correspondence, internal audit reports and other supporting and
contradictory evidence. Lasily, we atso challenged the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the financiai staterments relating 1o
the invesrnigation and chalienged management and the directors on the impoct on the compieteness of their going concern assessment
and disclosure relating to this matter.

In common with oll audits under 13As (UK}, we are atso required 1o perform specitic procedures To respornd o the risk o management
override. In oddressing the risk of froud through monagement override of controls, we tested the appropridreness of journal enfries und
other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a pofential bias; and
evaoluared the business rahonole of any significant fransactions fiat are unusual or outside the normaol course of busiNess.

In addinien to the abeve, cur procedures fo respond to The risks identified inciuded the following:

. reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant
luws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

. performing analytical procedures fo identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;

. enguiring of management, inTernal audit and external legal counse! concerning actual and potential litigation and cleims, and
instances of non-compliance with lows and regulations; and

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal aud:!t reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 34



Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based an the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financicl year for which the financicd statements are
prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements; and

+  the strgtegic repert and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable leqal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of
the gudit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion;

«  adequate dccounting records have not been kept by the parent cormpany, or returns adequate for our gudit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums; or

= certain disclosures of directors’ remunergtion specified by law are not made; or

*» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

we have nothing to report in respect of These martrers.

Use of our report

This repart (s made solely fo the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, Cur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not dccept or assume responsibility o anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opihions we have formed.

DocuSigned by

22AFAQBF393847A

Peter Gailimore, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on pehaif of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 September 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Continuing operations

Revenue 2 1,680.4 14432
Cost of sales (1,574.6) (1,351.5})
Gross profit 105.8 1.7
Operating costs 4 (20.0) (75 0)
Impairments 11 (?.1) 25.00
Operating profit / {loss) 6.7 (8.3
Finance income 3 6.7 32
Finance £osts 3 (29.5) (22.4)
Share of results in joint ventures and associates 28 1.0 LD
Loss before taxation (15.1) (28 6)
Taxarion 7 (1.6) 11.0
Loss for the period 16.7) (17.6)
(16.7) (17 6)

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Loss for the period (16.7) {17.6)
Qther comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or lass:
Actuarial {loss) / gain on defined benefit pension scheme 25 325 48.7
Tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 7 20.6 {15.0)
(61.9) 337
Itemns that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gdin on foir value of cash flow hedges:
Fair value (loss)y / gain arising on hedging instruments 16 {10.9) 15.0
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequentty to profit or loss 7 2.4 2.2)
Net gain on cash flow hedges in joint ventures and associates (net of tax) 28 19.8 35
11.3 163
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the period, net of income tax (50.6) 50.0
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period (67.3) 324
(61.3) 324
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 291.8 264.3
Investments in joint ventyres and nssociates 20 oLy 4.4
Other intangible assets 10 206.6 2229
Property, plant and equipment 11 654.6 617.2
Long-term receivables 13 25 23
Loans to joint ventures 16 20,2 14.3
Derivative financial instruments 16 0.9 7.7
Retirement benefit surpius 25 95.1 166.1
1,333.6 1,324.2
Current assets
invenfories 12 435 35.2
Contract assefs 14 62.5 71.8
Trade and other receivables 13 2179 207.6
Financial assets 16 144 16.3
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 4.0
Cash and cash equivalents 15 41.3 40.8
379.6 3577
Current liabilities
Lease liabitities 24 {55.1) (53.8)
Borrowings 16 {351.3) -
Trade and other payables 17 (3492.2) (340.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration 1& (3.1) (4.2)
Contfract liabilities 14 (27.9) (27.1)
Derivative financial instruments 16 (0.4) (0.2)
Provisions 18 {20.0) (20.3)
(807.0) (446.3)
Net current liabilities (427.4) (70.6)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 (81.5) (368.3)
Lease liabilities 24 (2284) (222.5)
Trade and other payables 17 {5.6) (6.6)
Deferred consideration 16 2.8) (3.0)
Provisions 18 ¢154.5) (137.4)
Deferred tax liability 1¢ {12.4) (32.5)
(495.2) (770.3)
Net assets 411.0 4833
21
Equity
Called up share capital 31 4.1
Share premium 2522 24/6
Hedging reserve 21.2 .9
Merger reserve 170.3 170.3
Retgined earnings 22 (35.8) 52.4
Total equity attributable to shareholders 411.0 4833

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023. They were signed on its

behalf by:
Michael Topham

Directer
Comor v o 103
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up Share Hedging Merger Retdined Total

share premium reserve reserve earnings equity

capital (Note 21) (Note 21) | (Note21) | (Note 22) £m

(Note 21) £m £m £m £m
£m

As at 26 March 2021 3.1 247.0 (6.4) 170.3 43.9 457.9

Loss for the period - - - - (17.6) (17.6)

Qther comprehensive income - - 16.3 - 33.7 50.0

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 16.3 - 16 324

Exercise of share options - 0.6 - - - Q.6

Shares purchased by employee benefits frust - - - - (3.6) (3.6)

Value of employee service in respect of share option - 27 27

schemes (excluding NICs) - _ _

Dividends poid (Note 33) - - - - 6.7 (6.7

As at 25 March 2022 3.1 2476 9.9 170.3 52.4 483.3

Loss for the period - - - - (16.7) (16.7)

| Other comprehensive income / (loss) - - 11.3 - J_ (619 (50.6)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the Beriod - - 113 - (78.6) (67.3) J

Exercise of share options - 4.6 - - - 4.6

Shares purchosed by employee benefits frust - - - - {1.5) {1.5)

Value of employee service in respect of share option - 6.2 6.2

schemes (excluding NICs) - . _

Dividends paid (Note 33) / - - - Y ¢14.3) |

As at 31 March 2023 | 3.1 252.2 21.2 170.3 {35.8) 411.0
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 (8.3)
Share-based peyments 20 4.7 3.7
Amortisation of intangibles 10 29.3 30.7
Depreciation of preperty, plant and equipment 11 108.0 94.9
Impairment of gssets 9.1 9.1 250
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4 (2.3) (6.2)
EVP related items - 20.8
Pensicn deficit payments (8.6) (4.2)
Increase in inventeries (8.3 12.2)
Decrease / (increace) in receivables 0.0 (72.73
(Decrease) / increase in payables (4.7} 62.8
Decredase / (increase) in financial assets 09 (3.49)
{Decrease) / incregse in provisions 23.1 13.7
Net cash from operating activities 166.7 144.6
Income tax received / (paid) 0.4 (0.3)
Net cash flows from operating activities 167.1 1445

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and eguipment (79.3; (67.2)
Purchases of intangible assets (1.73 {2.1)
Funds on long-term depaosit 0.2y -
Business combinaticns 8 (37.5) {135.8)
Cash acquired from business combinations 8 4.3 14.2
Deferred consideration (3.6) (1.2)
Investment in joint ventures and associares {11.7) (17.5)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 5.2 6.9
Lodn 10 joint venture (4.6) (7.5)
Interest received 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (128.6) (210.2)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (24.1) (19.3)
Employee share scheme purchase (1.5) (3.6)
Exercise of share options 4.6 0.6
New loans roised 23 725 345.0
Repayment of borrowings 23 (13.4} (1911
Cash flow on seftlement of derivatives - 41
Lease liabilities principal payments 23 (61.8) (53.1)
Dividends paid 23 (14.3) (6.7
Net cash flows from financing activities (38.0) 75.9
0.5 10.0

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 40.8 30.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the pericd 15 413 40.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

General Information

Biffa Limited {the ‘Company’) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the
Biffa Group (the ‘Group”). The address of the Company’s registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycoembe, Buckinghamshire, HP12
3TZ. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management services in the United Kingdom.

Basis of accounting

The consclidated financial staterents have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Act and Infternational Financial Regorting Standards (TFRSs). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as issued
by the IASB and as adopted by the UK, The comparative financial information has clso been prepared on this basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the recording of pension assets and liabilities,
share-based payments and the revaluation of certain derivative financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling (GBP') and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m. The financial statements for 2023 have
been prepared for the 53-week period ended 31 March 2023. The prior year was o 52-week period, to 25 March 2022, The upcoming year will be a
52-week period, to 29 March 2024.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving o higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consclidated financial statements are disclosed at the
end of this Note.

Going concern

In assessing whether it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis of accounting, management have considered the Group's ability to
continue for a period of af least 12 months from the date of approval of the consolidated finoncial statements. In doing so, management have challenged
future cash and debt levels and lending covenant headroom using a number of downside scenarios to assess the resilience of the Group’s financial position.

During the year, the Group was delisted from the London Steck Exchange having been acquired by Energy Capital Partners ("ECP’), o US-based private equity
firm. It is not expected that the ECP takeover will drastically change the Group's business model and management have maintained a focus on sustainakle
growth, demonstrated by the completion of three acguisitions since the takegver. The Board recognise the medium and long-term sustainability risks arising
from climate change, including cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificates held by the landfilf gas business in 2027. Shert term impacts in relation to
climate change are not considered to have a significant impact on the Group’s business model within the going concern pericd.

The Group has performed strongly again throughout FY23, growing Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA despite continued headwinds in the form of Inflationary
pressures, supply chain disruption and a challenging economic outlook. At the year end the Group had unutilised committed bank focilities available of
£102.0m and cash and cash equivalents of £40.8m. The closing leverage ratio (Net Debt:Adjusted EBITDA) of 3.4x on a covenant basis compares against the
covencnt [imit of 4.5x corresponding to the new debt facilities effective from 23 May 2023. The headroom on the 4.0x interest cover covenant limit was
significantly greater than the headroom on the leverage covenant at this date due 1o the lower interest rates in the FY23 year.

Since the year end, the Group has restructured 1ts debt by increasing its rolling credit facility by £150m, increasing its term loans by £135m and replocing its
existing £345m of private placements with £260m of new private placements. The net impact of these changes is an increase in total liquidity of £200m but
under the new facilities the Group is required ro comply with revised leverage and interest cover covenants. In modelling its forecast cash flows and
covenants, the Group has considered the impact of a possible settlement of the HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry in line with The provision recognised in the financiai
statements in the first half of FY25. Cash flow forecasts indicate that the Group will maintain net available liquidity levels above £200m throughout the next 12
months, so the Group would have sufficient liquidity to fund a large one-off cash payment.

Management have also applied reverse stress tests to determine the extent to which key financial measures could worsen over the next 12 months before
cavenant limits are breached. Interest cover headroom is expected to be naticeably lower than previous periods due to increased floating rate exposure and a
sharp rise in interest rates, so certain downside scenarios could cause a breach of interest cover. However sufficient headroom is expected over the next 12
months 5o that o breach of either covenant would still require a warsening in EBITDA and cash flow alongside a rise in inferest rates.

Interest cover headroom is expected to reduce further at September 2024, making a potential breach due to a worsening of performance or a rise in interest
rate expectations more likely than at September 2023 or March 2024. It is management's expectation that an amendment to the covenant will be requested
from lenders but if required we consider we could meet our existing covenants by carrying out a numiber of cash improvement initiatives such as delaying
capital expenditure, cancelling non-essential costs, utilising additicnal funding from owners and working capital management, It may alse be possible to enter
into an interest rate swap to reduce the exposure to any further adverse interest rate movements. On Tthis basis we consider the likelihood of o future covenant
breach at Septrember 2024 fo be remate.

Based on the above, management have concluded the Group is well placed 1o manage its financing and other business risks satisfactorily and have a
reasonable expectatian that the Group will have adequate resources to continue in operation for at least 12 months from the signing date of these
consolidated financial statements. It is therefore considered appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consclidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financicl statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries) made up to 31 March 2023. Control is cchieved when the Company:

*  Has power over the investee;
« Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
s HAs the ahility to use ite powar to affoct ite roturns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if focts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers
that it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally.

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

+  The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative fo the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

+  Pofential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

+«  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

= Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

Consolidation of ¢ subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acguired or disposed of during the year are included in the Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-Group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that dre effective for the current year
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the below Standards and amendments are effective for reporting periods
beginning after 1 January 2022, but have not impacted on the Group’s reporting:

»  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture

+  Amendments 1o IFRS 3 Business Combinations: References to the Conceptual Framework

«  Amendments 1o IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

. Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts; Cost of Fulfilling a Contfract

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group.

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective and had not yet been adepted:

» IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

» Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

* Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

. Amendments to IAS 1: Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants

»  Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
= Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

- Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liabkility in a Sale and Leaseback

»  Amendments to IFRS 17: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in any future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies confinued

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair vaiues of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group fo the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets ocguired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liobilities related to employee benefit arrangements, are recognised and measured in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

. Liabilities or equity measurements related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, and share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, are measured in cccordance
with IFRS 2 Share-based Payments at the acguisition date;

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Nen-current Assets Held for Saole and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the ccguirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acguisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets cequired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), is recognised
immediately in profit or koss as a bargain purchase gain.

when the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in o business combination.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurerment period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding cdjustments against goodwill. Medsurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the iterns for which the accaunting is incomplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, 1o
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acguisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out in the ‘Business combinations’ section above,

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or if there is an indication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwili relating to that cash-generating unit.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goadwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in o subsequent period.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance, expectation of future performance
inciuding climate change related matters such as the potential cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificate ('ROC") schemes in 2027,
implications from possible carbon tax regulation and the Deposit Return Scheme coming into effect. The value in use is also determined
after considering market information and ¢ consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of each division.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributabie amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued

Investments in joint veniures and associates

A joint venture is o joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights fo the netf assets of the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. An associate is an entity over which an investor has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an gssociate or a joint venlwe. On acguisition of the Investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or @ joint venture exceeds the Group’s inferest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary To recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture, When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
{including goodwil)) is tested for impairment in accordance with TAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying cmount. Any impairment loss recognised is aliccated to the investment
as a whole and not to the underlying assets of the investee that make up the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment toss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subseguently
increases.

when ¢ Group entity fransacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the fransactions with the joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements anly to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related fo
the Group.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group's operating segments are split into four divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial ('I&C")

s Resources & Energy (‘R&E’) which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

- Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group (‘CSG'), Hazardous Waste, Infegrafted Resource Management ('IRMM, and
Biffpack

. Group Business Function (‘GBF")

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered to custormers in the normal course of business, net of frade discounts
and VAT, The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts with Customers are applied to determine when services are deemed to
have been delivered and when the Group has met its obligations under its service contfracts. Payments received in advance of
performance are held as contract liabilities and recognised as revenue when the related service is deliverad.

Collections division

waste collection revenue
The Collections division collects waste from customer sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the waste is delivered to transfer

stations or to a third party. The transaction price is based on contractually pre-agreed prices for callecting and processing the waste. Due
to the short time between start and completion of the performance obligations {usually on the same day), the revenue recognition and the
allocation of the transaction price over performance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste.

The Collections division also provides collections services to households on behalf of local authorities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue is recognised ‘over time’. The nature of the contracts and performance obligations includes management fees to operate local
authority recycling centres, waste collections and gate fees. The annual revenue for the service is agreed at the outset of the contract and
invoiced in equat amounts, monthly in arrecrs. The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting period,
which is considered an appropriate approximartion to when the process occurs. This is adjusted for any discounts given and penalties for
non-delivery of services, However, gate fee revenue is recognised as customer waste is deposited and based on tonnage received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued
Revenue recognition continued
Resources & Energy (‘R&E™) division

Landfifl revenue

The Company generates revenue from landfill activities by accepting customer waste onto site for disposal into void space. This revenue
stream consists of gote fee revenue derived from the Company's operational assefs and is based on measured tonnages received from
customers. Performance obligations are satisfied as the customer waste is deposited onto the landfill site and revenue is recognised at ‘o
point in time’,

Revenue from sale of recyclate materials

The Group collects various waste materials, some of which are general waste and some of which are recyclable materials. The recyclable
materials are generally commingled and as such then have to be separated into individual recyclate streams ready for resale. Recyclote
revenues are measured at the agreed transaction price per tonne of recyclate under the contract with the customer. Revenue recognition
occurs when control over the recyclate assets has been fransferred and therefore the performance obligation is satisfied. This is at the
point of collection by the customer.

Energy revenue

The Group receives revenue from the sale of electricity from generating assets. These assets include anaerobic digestion and gas from
landfill sites. Revenue from the sale of electricity is measured based upon metered output delivered at rates specified under agreed
contract terms with Biffa’s broker, EDF, under Power Purchase Agreements ('PPA’Y or prevailing market rates. Energy generction revenues
are recognised at ‘a point in fime’, being the point at which the power is supplied through the sale to the customer, via EDF, based on the
quantity of units supplied.

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food and household products

CSG is a redistributor of surplus food and household product in the UK. The business redistribufes surplus stock that it purchoses from
the Fast Moving Consumer Goods (‘FMCG’) supply chain to members who work in key sectors including FMCG businesses, emergency
services and socicl care. Sales are recognised when the risks and rewards attached to the products (including product obsolescence)
have been transferred to the customer. This occurs when the customers take possession of the stock that has been purchased.

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agreed as part of the terms of certain customer contracts, The discounts are usually in the form of o price reduction
based on volume collected on a monthly basis. The caleutations and terms of the discounts are set out in the agreed customer contracts.
They are caleulated In accordance with the contract, accrued automatically by the accounting system on a manthly basis, and reported as
a reduction in revenue. At the end of the colendar month, the omount of the discoun? for that period is disclosed 1o and ogreed with the
relevant customers. This discount is then recognised either by raising a credit note or by the customer raising a separaste invoice. These
mechanisms are agreed ot the outset of the contract. As the monetary trade discount per unit is known and the volume is known, there is
no element of estimation within rthe coleulation.

The Material Recycling Facilities ('MRFs™) have contracts with local authorities which contain o ‘risk-sharing mechanism’. Local authorities
are charged ¢ gate fee per tonne of waste delivered, at the point the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled waste
recyclate streams have been sorted and sold, the local quthorities are then entitled to a rebate based upon a pre-agreed percentage of the
recyclote value achieved. The calculations and terms of the rebates are set out in the respective contracts with local authorities. The
rebates are accrued by netting this amount off revenue every reporting period. The calculation is shared with the customer and a credit
note raised (or the customer raises an invoice). There is no element of estimation within the calculation,

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises o right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, unless the Group decides to exercise the
exemptions available under IFRS 16: Leases for short-term leases (defined os leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low-value assets (defined by management to not exceed £5,000). The upplicability of these exemptions is considered on a lease-by-lease
basis. If the Group exercises these exernptions on certain leases, the payments corresponding to these leases are recognised as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless ancther systematic basis is moere representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid af the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The Group's incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow, over a similar term
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar economic environment.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Leases contfinued
Lease payments included in the measurement of the liability comprise:

. Fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives;

= Varioble lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
=  The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

e The exercise price of purchase options, if the lesses s reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separcate line item in the consaolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount fo reflect the interest on the lease lickility (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

*» The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liakility is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

s  The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the inifial discount ratre (uniless the
lease payment change is due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

«  Alegse confract is medified and the lease modification is not accounted for os a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of modification.

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment ot or before the commencement day
and any initial direct costs, They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciction and impairment losses,

Wwhenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If o lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and equipment’ palicy.

Fareign currencies

In preparing the financial information of each individual Group entity, fransactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
{foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing of the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denorinated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monefary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated ot the rotes prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

. Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustment 1o interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

+  Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under financial instruments
hedge accounting); and

+  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to o foreign operation for which settlernent is neither planned
nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financicl statements, the Group’s foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
are franslated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated ot the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies continued
Exchange differences arising on the difference between translating net assets at closing rate and translating P&L items at the average
rate, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive incorme and accumulated in eguity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the gronts will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unir credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of ecch annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
return on plan assets (exciuding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financici position with a charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or foss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liakility or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

. Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements)
. Net interest expense or income
- Remeacsurement

The Group presents service costs in operating costs and net inferest expense or income is included in finance income. Curtailment gains
and losses are accounted for as past service cosfs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated stotement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in
the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

The Group makes contributions under Admitted Body status to a number of Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS’) for the period to
the end of the relevant customer contracts. The Group will only participate in LGPS for a finite period to the end of the customer contracts,

The Group determines whether an LGPS scheme is accounted for under a defined benefit or defined contribution scheme based on
whether the deficit/ surplus can be passed through to the next contractor or Local Authority at the end of the contract. If, at the end of
the contract, the Group is not liable to settle any liability or equally entitled to any benefit, the scheme is recognised as defined
contribution and contributions are recognised as an expense. For contracts that do not allow for pass through of pension costs, the Group
recognises the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of scheme assets, and an adjustment to only recognise the amount of defined
benefit for which it is responsible under the contract. Movements in this adjustment are recognised in the same way as movements in plan
assets.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick teave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured of the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service,

The accounting policy for the Group is to recognise the net surplus/deficit for defined benefit plans upon acquisition through Cther
Comprehensive Income, as opposed to an adjustment to goodwill, pursuant to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits,
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Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share options 1o its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the
income starement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing
model. The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access, other short-term investments and bank
deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception.

Taxation
Taox represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax, This focilitares comparisen with prior periods to assess trends in
financial performance more readily.

The tax currently payabkle is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated income statement because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in ather years and items that are
never taxable or deductible, The Group's current tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is the 1ox expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of the taxable profit and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxoble profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liakilities in a fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are net recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recoverad.

The Group has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (loss of revenue from
cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCSs”) in 2027, potential legisiation of Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS’) in England and
operating costs due to increased carbon taxes in subsequent reporting perieds for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact
from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in the future forecasts, however given the low financial impact of the DRS legisiation and
increased carbon faxes, the Group does nof consider it to have a material impact on the recoverability of the deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabiilties and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying omount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tox are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, the tax effect is included in
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes the
cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites. There are no directly attributable borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment is
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and aeccumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, The estimated usefu! life and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied to property, plant and equipment during the pericd:

. Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
. Plant, vehicles and eguipment - 4 10 15 years straight-line method
. Landfill sites - on a void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 to 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction (‘AUC’) are not depreciated. AUC is depreciated when the asset is deemed to be complete, and inling
with the above classifications,
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Property, plant and equipment continued

where the obligation to restore a landfill site is an integral part of its future economic benefits, a non-current asset within property, plant
and eguipment is recognised. Changes to the obligation are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset
recognised is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives an the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no
reasoncble certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are deprecicted over the shorter of the lease
terrm and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired in business combinations and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised initially
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on o prospective basis. Infangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The following useful lives have been applied fo the intangible assets during the period:

. Brand - indefinite life

. Customer contracts - 3 fo 20 years

- IT development - 3 to 5 years

. Service concession arrangements — over the life of the contract

. Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas exfraction based on the life of the site's associated ROCs

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale,

. The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

. The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

. The ability to measure retiably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above. when no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Subseguent to initial recognition, internatly generated intangible assets are reported af cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumutated impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately,

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The Group has a number of contracts for Software as a Service (‘SaaS’) arrangements. These contracts permit the Group to cccess
vendor-hosted software and platform services over the term of the arrangement. The Group does not control the underlying assets in
these arrangements and costs are therefore expensed as incurred.

The Group also incurs implementation costs in respect of these contracts. Implementation costs are capitalised as intangible assets where
they meet the definition and recognition criteria of an intangible asset under IAS 38 Intangible Assefs. Such costs typically relate to
software coding which can provide a benefit to the Group on a standalone basis.

Other implementation costs, primarily relating to the configuration and customization of the Saa$ solution, are assessed fo determine
whether the implementation activity relating to these costs is distinct from the SaaS solution, in which case costs are expensed as the
activity occurs. If the configuration and customisation costs relate to activity which is integral to the Saa$ soiution such that the activity is
received over the term of the sclution, costs are recognised as a prepayment and expensed over that ferm.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful I'fe are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Assets that are subject to gmortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units (‘{CGUs™), the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows

In cssessing value in use ('VIUY), the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-fax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU)
is reduced fo its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaiuation decrease and to the extent that the impairment loss is
greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increcsed to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversai of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the
extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is treated as a revaluation increase.

The Greup carries different classes of intangible assets including, gas reserves, brands and customer contracts, The Group also has classes
of tangible assets in property, landfill gas ond plant, vehicles, and machinery. The carrying value of these is dependent on future cash flows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group’s expectations there is risk that the assets will be impaired. The impairment reviews
performed by the Group contain a number of significant estimates:

=  Forecast energy prices including the impact of climate change to these prices

+  The ROCs recycie benefit rights (which is dependent on the ROC scheme being in place)
+  Forecast gate fees, tonnage prices and gas yield projections;

+ Long term growth rates; and

. Discount rates,

The above have been considered in determining the VIU of other intangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net reclisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventeries less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Full provision is made for obsolete or defective stock.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of ¢ past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to setftle the obligation, and a refiable estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting peried, taking info
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. when a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the financial statements as a finance
charge.

when some or gl of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and after-core costs are made as the abligation o restore the site arises. Costs are
charged to the profit or loss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each landfill site. The restoration
obiigation is typically fulfilled within two vears of the landfill site being closed 1o waste,

Provisions for after-care costs are made as the void usage increases, which results in the recognition of an asset representing the future
economic benefits expected fo arise from future gas generation from the landfill site. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the
operational life of each landfili site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives cccess to
future economic benefits, an asset in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates
that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset.
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Provisions continued

The asset is depreciated over the period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the
closure date, preducing commercial volumes of gas for up to 16 years. Affer-care costs are provided for based on the Directors’
expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilled 60 years post closure of the site.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions, An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Service concession arrangements

Service concession arrangements typically involve a private sector entity constructing infrastructure and using that infrastructure to
provide a public service on behalf of a government or local autherity for ¢ limited period of time before handing ownership of the
infrastructure back to the government or iocal authority.

The Group applies the fincncial asset model when the concession grantor contractually guarantees the payment of amounts specified in
the contract or the shortfall, if any, between amounts received from users of the public service and amounts specified. This financiai asset
accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This approach has been adopted on the Leicester City
Counci contract.

The Group applies the intangible asset model when it has a right or a licence to charge users or the local authority based on usage of the
public service. This approach has been adopted on the West Sussex Recycling contract that was ocquired as part of the Viridor cequisition
in the year ended 25 March 2022.

Financial assets and intangible ossets resulting from the application of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements are recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Refer to Note 30 for further information.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments, Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire. The financial
instruments recognised by the Group are set out below.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially ot fair value and subsequently af amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
expected credit losses.

Expected credit losses are updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Expected credit losses
are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions at the reporting date. For financial
assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

All customers are subject to credit scoring on a quarterly basis. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the
external credit rating of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no reglistic prospect of recavery.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised ¢ost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or gs equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Any difference between the amount initially recognrised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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Financial instruments continued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detailed above, the Group applies the financial asset model to service concession arrangements where there is a guaranteed right to
receive payments. The financial asset accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received. This approach has
been adopted on the Leicester City Council contract.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
are subseguently remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities); or &)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction); or ©)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception,

At inception and at each reporting date the Group ussesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16, Movermnents in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity. At the reporting date the Greup has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions. At the inception of the hedge and on
an engoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged item, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness reguirements;

. There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the vaiue changes that result from that economic relationship; and

*  The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually
hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If o hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge rotio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again,

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group's cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either the income statement or in the
hedging reserve.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or 10ss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity will be transferred 1o the income statement.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that
it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transcction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects that
some or all of the loss accumuiated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Cash flow hedge continued

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or o part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria
(after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires ar is sold, terminated or exercised. The
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs.,

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised ¢s o liabiiity in the financial statements in the pericd in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying Group accounting policies. The Group continually evaluates its
estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimates is inherent in financial
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates,

Critical Judgements
The Group applies judgement in identifying the significant, excepYional and non-recurring items of income and expense. We have
summarised the policy in more detail in the Appendix.

HMRC Landfiil Tax Enquiry

The Group operates o nurmber of landfill sites in the UK. Operators of landfill sites are responsible for collecting landfill tax and paying it to
HMRC. Excise Notice LFT1: o general guide to landfill tax (LFT1’) sets out guidance published by HMRC on the application of landfill tax
legislation to the activities of landfill site operators such as Biffa.

The Group is the subject of an HMRC enquiry (‘the Enquiry”) regarding landfill tax complicnce as part of HMRC concerns regarding possible
misclassification of waste across the industry. To date approximately £377m (2022 - £168m)} of protective assessments have been issued
by HMRC to Biffa. The growth in the level of protective assessments reflects both an extension of the time period covered by the
assessments and increase in the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC.

In February 2020, Biffa Waste Services Limited ('BWSL) was notified by HMRC that it had concerns regarding certain aspects of landfill
tax compliance that may have led to an underpayment of landfill tax and was conducting an enguiry primarily relating to the
interpretation of the gualifying fines regime set out in LFT1. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the
potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

Fines are particles produced by a waste treatment process that involves an element of mechanical treatment, For o landfill site operator to
treat fines as gualifying fines (meaning that landfill tax on such material is payable at a lower rate), it must be satisfied that the conditions
set out in LFTL have been met. These include pre-acceptance checks on customers, visual inspections of materials deposited at the lanafill
site and compliant loss on ignition (LOT’) tests conducted at the specified frequency (which is dependent on whether a customer is
classified as low or high risk). LOI fests are laboratory tests on samples of waste to establish the amount of organic content in the woste.

In response to the concerns raised by HMRC, Biffa appointed Ernst & Young (‘EY") to conduct an extensive review. In May 2020, an interim
report was submitted by EY and BWSL to HMRC addressing a number of the concerns raised by HMRC and outlining some immediate
changes to processes at landfill sites operated by Biffa, which were made on a without prejudice basis, to mitigate the risk of any ongeing
potential liability.

In March 2021, a disclosure report and supporting data (the ‘Disclosure Report’), prepared by EY and BWSL, was submitted to HMRC. This
challenged HMRC’s findings and assumptions used.

In February 2022, BwWSL received a further letter from HMRC which responded to a number of specific findings in the Disclosure Report,
asserted specific amounts that they considered were due and indicated that HMRC would be carrying out further work on other aspects of
the Disclosure Report, Following receipt of this letter, further detailed work was carried out by Biffa and its advisors.

In the period since the release of the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts, the Enquiry has continued with Biffa and its advisors carrying out
further detoiled work and communications with HMRC.

Management has applied judgement in concluding on the different potential outcomes and their respective probabilities in accordance
with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. A provision of £64m has been recognised at March 2023 (March 2022:
£20.0m) as this represents management’s best estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation at that date.
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Critical Judgements continued

Legal and tax cases
The Group has provisions for ongoing litigation. Management exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision required. This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professionais where applicable or management’s best estimate.

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill fax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. The Group has received a protective assessment of £8.5m, which has been paid. As the Group is currently disputing this
assessment, and management believe it likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included in prepayments in the current
year (2022: £8.5m).

Going concern

This is considered an area of critical judgement due to the Group’s recent debt restructure and interest rate rises. Refer to the going
concern section earlier in this Note.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the following key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period:

Envircnmental and The Group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK. A significant cost of owning and operating o landfill site in the
after-care UK arises after the land-filling operation ceases due fo the constructive and legal obligation fo restore sites and then to
commitments of care for them until it can be demenstrated that they present no ongoing risk to the environment,

£33.6m

A provision is made for the costs associated with restering and mainfaining its landfill sites and controlling leachate and
methane emissions from the sites. A number of factors create estimarion uncertainty, including the Impoct of regulation,
transportation costs, inflation and changes in the real discount rate. Due to recent volafility, the impact in the change of
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are o particularly source of estimation uncertainty. The provisions
incorporate our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these
estimates could materially impact the calculation of the provision. An increase of 5% in assumed energy and chemical
costs, which impact energy consumed and leachate freatment costs, would resuit in an increase in the environmental
provision of £1.2m.

{see Nofe 18)

The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site
closure. In determining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure required to settle the obligation are inflated
using longer-term inflation rates of 3.1%, and discounted using the nominal risk free discount rate of 4.4%. The rates
reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years. Future energy prices are
estimated using reliable external scurces.

An increase of 1% in the nominal discount rate {at current cast) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of
approximately £8.0m (2022; £16.0m). A 10% increase in forecast cash outflows would result in an increased
environmental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and
after-care provisions have been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022; 3.3%). An increase of 1% in the rate of inflation would
result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23.1m).

Retirement Benefit The Group operates severdal defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for under IAS 19 Employment
Accounting relating Benefits. Pension accounting is a specialist area requiring the exercise of significant management judgement and the
to surplus of 95.1m use of technical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accordance with generally cccepted
¢(see Note 25) actuarial practices. The assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit pension liabilities including the discount rate,

miortality ossumption and inflation level are complex and changes to the assumptions can have a material impact on the
value of pension liabilities. As at the end of the financial year the Group recognised a retirement benefit surplus of
£95.1m (2022: £166.1m).

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m). If the inflation
assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m), If the life expectancy
increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit osset would decrease by £9.6m (2022: £14.9m),

All pension valuations are performed as ot the year end reporting date.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Orerous Confract
Provision of £20.3m
{see Note 18)

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered onerous and long-term in nature. These contracts can be complex
and contain key performance indicetor clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-compiliance. The
Group is therefore required to moke operational and financial assumpticns to estimate future losses over periods that
can extend beyond seven years.

Variability of contract penatlties, underlying delivery costs, inflation rates, commodity prices apglied and customer claims
or disputes can put additional pressure on margins and on future contract profitability, giving rise to onerous contract
provisions. The Group mitigates against the risk of price movements by entering into fuei hedging arrangements.
Management continue to monitor potential cost impacts on services and seek 1o discuss those with customers as
appropriate, on a case-by-case basis.

The prediction of future events over extended periods contains inherent risk and the outcome of customer and
subcontractor claims is uncertain and involves a high degree of management estimation. Management recegnise the
risk of future onerous contract provisions being recognised due to significant cost increases as detailed above.

The Group holds three onerous contract provisions relating to contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vale and
Leicester. The future cash inflow from the remaining onerous contracts are highly predictable as they are fixed, based on
the terms of the contract. However, the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future
cash outflows is considered a significant estimate when modeliing the future net cash outflows on cnerous contract
provisions. On the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale provision, o 5% increase in future cash outflows would
increase the provision by £1.5m. On the Leicester provision a 5% increase in future cash outflows wouid increase the
provision by £2.3m.

In arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group
has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the
provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In arriving at the onerous confract provision for the Leicester confract, the
Group has discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the
provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.

Goodwill
Impairmentin
Company Shop
Group {'C5G") (see
Note @)

The Group recognised goodwill on completion of the acquisition of CSG in February 2021, The carrying value of the
goodwill is dependent on future cashflows and, if these cashflows do not meet the Group's expectations, there is a risk
that the assets will be impoired. The impairment review performed by the Group contains a number of significant
estimares:

. Revenue in both the short and long term
- Gross margin in both the short and long term
. Discount rate

Changes in these assumptions can have a significant impact on the estimated value in use. An impairment assessment
was performed by the Group in the prior year, with the outcome being the recognition of a £25.0m impairment to
goodwill due to trading under performance, in accordance with IAS 36: Impairment of Assets. The annual impairment
assessment was performed again in the current year, with the value in use exceeding the goodwill carrying amount and
the outcome being no further impairment. This is due to improved trading in the year. The value in use excludes any
additional value which may be generated by future store roil-outs.

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are detailed obove. Management’s colculation of volue in use has
been developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance and
expecrations of future performance which considers climate change, marker information and a consistent growth rate.

The valuation of the goodwill allocated to CSG has headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tax
discount rate used in the value in use calcukation was 10.75%. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 320 basis peints
would reduce headroom to nil. The average short term annual growth rate used was 3.00%. A reduction of 167 basis
peoints in the average short term annual growth rate would reduce headroom 1o nil. The long term compounded annual
growth rate used was 3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would
reduce headroom te nil. The average gross profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis points in gross profit
margin would reduce headroom 1o nil.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

HMRC Landfill Tax Protective assessments

Engui
aury HMRC has issued protective assessrents totalling approximately £377m to BWSL in respect of the period from March

2016 to September 2021, Consistent with their usual practice when conducting an enquiry that may result in additionagt
liability fo tax, the protective assessments have been issued by HMRC betore the conclusion of the Enguiry 1o ensure
that any claim for payment of landfill tax that may be made by HMRC as a result of the findings of the Enquiry is not
time-barred.

These protective assessments are not necessarily an indication of what liability may ultimately arise and may be
amended or withdrawn by HMRC at the conclusion of the Enquiry. BWSL is not currently required to make payment to
HMRC or reserve or ringfence funds for o possible payment as o result of these protective assessments, however it has
made payments on account of £2.2m to date,

Potential outcomes and Habilities

In Biffa’s view, based on advice received to date, there are a range of possible outcomes to the Enquiry, including an
agreed settlement. To date Biffa has received opproximately £377m of protective assessments from HMRC, HMRC has
also shared further estimares of Hability in the context of without prejudice settlement discussrons. In addition, BWSL will
incur further costs in conducting and responding to the Encuiry.

At the end of the Enquiry, HMRC will be required to confirm the amount of the protective assessments. If no settlement
is agreed and BWSL does not accept HMRC's decision, BWSL will be entitled to request a formol statutory review by
HMRC. Assuming HMRC uphelds its decision in respect of all or part of the assessments, BWSL will have 30 days from
the date of HMRC’s review decision fo subrmit an appeal 1o the First-tier Tox Tribunal ('FTT") 1o chollenge HMRC and
formally protect BwSL's position. To bring the appeal, BWSL would be required to pay the assessed landfill tax to HMRC
at that stage, although BWSL could make a hardship application to HMRC to secure their agreement to the deferral of
the payment of the assessed tox, failing which BWSL could apply 1o the FTT directly on grounds of hardship. If the
Enquiry resuited in BWSL being licble to pay additional landfill tax, such amounts should be tax deductibie.

Provision (see Note 18)

A provision of £20 0m was recognised at 25 March 2022, based on Biffa's best estimate of the liabilities at that paint in
fime, recognising the fact that the Enquiry was at an early stage. This reflected the infermation that had been shared
with Biffa at that time and the Directors’ expectations of how the matter would be resolved.

Following the receipt of further correspondence and protective assessments from HMRC since then, the provision at 31
March 2023 has been increased to £64m,

Thus reflects Biffa's best estimate of the specific amounts asserted by HMRC in their estimates of liability that have
been notified to Biffa in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments and the further eshimates of liability exciuding the element we consider to be a
contingent liabiliry.

The estimate assumes that ony possible penalty that could be levied would be suspended subject to certain conditions
and accordingly has not been recognised. A suspended penalty will not need to be paid providing we meet the relevant
conditions during rhe suspension period and de not incur a further penalty within the suspension pericd,

Further lickilities could arise in relation to general issues raised by HMRC about Biffa's complance with the qualifying
fines regime set ouf in LFT1, These been disclosed as a contingent liability.

The ultimate manner of settlement of the liability remains uncertain but we do not balieve payrment will be due before 31
March 2024 and accordingly we have disclosed the liability as non-current.

Contingent Liability (see Note 27)

A provision has been recognised in respect of specific amounts asserted by HMRC to date. However, general issues have
diso been raiser hy HMRC about how certain requirements within the qualifying fines regime set out in LFT1 were
intended to be applied in practice, and the extent to which Biffa has complied with these requirements.

Based on advice received to date for these areas, a present obligotion does not exist and a lichility is not probable.
BWSL's patential additionat liability far landfill tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m based on
informaneon provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

Based on advice received, the Directors do not consider a liability is likely to arise in respect of such general issues, nor
can o cost be reliably estimated, and therefore this item s tregted as o contingent liability and no provision anses for
these generat issues.

In order to illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and financial position, further sensitivity
analysis has been included within the Notes.
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2. Segmental information

The Group 15 munaged by Type of business and 1s orgamised into rhree operating divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipat and Industrial & Commercial,
. Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfil Gas.
. Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group and Industrial Services.

These operating divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its pnmary segment informanon and are consistent
wiTh the infernal reporting provided jo the chief operating decision maker. Head office costs are recorded within the Group Business
Function ('GBF’) division, however for operating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Business Furchion cusrs
represent shared secvices and corporate costs (including, infer alic, Board and corporate costs, finance, HR, IT, leged and insurance,
external affairs and Safety, Health, Environment and Quolity Management (‘SHEQ')). The chief operating decision maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of tThe operating divisions, has been identified as the Group Executive
Tean.

The Group's segmental results are os follows

2023 2022
Revenwe 0 __ e et e e+ e e = e - LEmo _Em,
Caollections [RSISION EYEY]
Resources & Energy 4390 3953
__Specialist Services 234 7 . LN
_Total 16804 _ 14432

Revenue within divisions is eliminarted upon consclidation. Suies between operating divisions are carried out at arm’s length. There have
been no material amounts of revenue recogmised in the year that relate to performance obligations satisfied or partially safistied in
pravious years, Revenue received where the perfarmance obligation will be fulfilled iy the future is classified ag deferred wncome or
contract habilities and disclosed in Note 14.

Al trading activity and operaticns are in the United Kingdom and there is therefore no secondary reporting formar by geographical
segment. There is no single customer that accounts for more that 10% of the Group’s revenue (2022° none}

2023 2022

Qperating profit / {loss) e e EM____Em
Collecnions 754 [eleX ]
Resources & Energy 355 175
Specialist Services 12.7 (19

_ Group Business Funchon - ; _ o 72) 1Sy

TS )

2023 . _ 2022
Depreciation Amortisation Total Depreciation Amortisation Total
_Deprecigtion and Amortisation £m £m £m £m £m £m
Collections 636 5.2 6£8.8 558 4.5 60.3
Resources & Energy 323 227 55.0 297 251 4.8
Specialist Services 8.0 0.4 8.4 6.2 . .2
_Group Business Function 41 1.0 5.1 3.2 | S 4.3
_Jotad . . w8d 293 i57.3 949 367 _125.8
2023 2022
_Property, piant and equipment - net book vaiue £m S Em
Collections 3603 3193
Resources & Energy 2089 2266
Specialist Services 50.4 503
_Group Business Funcilon e e 3RO WU
_Total 6546 _e72
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2. Segmental information continued

2023 2022
Other intangible assets - net book value £m £m
Collections 452 21.3
Resources & Energy 62.6 1218
Specialist Servires - n4
Group Business Function 288 744
Total 206.6 2229

2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m Em
Collections 123.4 104.1
Resources & Energy 275 962
Speciclist Services 1.8 16.4
Group Business Function 217 7.1
Total 174.4 2258

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including lecsed assets and aequisitions.

3. Finance income and charges
2023 2022
£m £m
Interest on bank overdrafrs, bonds and loans (15.8) 9.7
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 24) (10.3) (9.8)
Interest unwind on discounted provisions (Note 18) (3.3) (2.8)
Interest on forward contracts (0.1) (0.1)
Total finance charges {29.5) (22.4)
Interest income 19 0.9
Net inferest on the net defined benefit surplus (Note 25) 4.8 2.3
Total finance income 6.7 3.2
Net finance charges (22.8) {19.2)
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4, Profit before taxation
The following costs / {income) have been included in arriving at the profit before taxation:
2023 2022

- Notes £m e Em
Employee costs 5 430.9 361.0
Cost of inventories recognised in expense 12 876 683
EVP tax dispute 1.2 208
Provision for HMRC landfill tax enquiry 50.7 17.0
Net defined benefit surplus (income) / expense 25 (1.3} Q5
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: 11
. Owned assets 522 428
. Right-of-use assets 55.8 521
- Amertisafion of infangible assets: 10
- Acguisition intangibles 252 29.6
. Other intangibles 4.1 1.1
. Expense / (income) relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets:
. Plgnt and machinery 23.8 21.0
»  Other 2.2) 45
Impairments 8,9 91 250
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use gssets (3.3) (3.3
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (2.3) (6.2)
Income from grants (0.2) (0.4)
Expected credit loss recognised 0.5 12

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
to a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site. In the prior period an impairment of £25.0m was recognised in relation to

the goodwill arising from the CSG acquisition.

Operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs as detailed below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Distribution costs 292 261
Administrative expenses 60.8 48.9
Operating costs 90.0 75.0

5. Employees and Directors
The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group, by reporting division during the period,
was:
2023 2022
Number Number
Collechicns 7,391 6,749
Resourcas & Energy 1,244 1,105
Specialist Services 1,709 1,454
Group Business Function 490 436
Total 10,836 9,744
Their aggregate remunergtion comprised:
2023 2022
£m £m
wages and salaries 379.5 3147
Social seCurity costs 373 30.4
Other pension costs 122 13.2
Redundaoncy and termination payments 1.9 27
430.9 361.0

Total
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Directors’ remuneration
During the year, the emoluments of the 7 (2022: 9) Directors of the Group were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 19 23
Caompany contributions to meney purchase pension schemes 0.z .2
Lompensahon tor loss of office 0.1 -
Total 2.2 25
2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number
Are members of a meney purchase pension scheme 2 2
Exercised options over shares in the Company 2 -
Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 2
2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 1.1 1.1
Company confributions To money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1
Total 1.2 1.2

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

é. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the Company and Groug's auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m

Fees payable fo the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s consolidated
annual financial staterments 1.0 1.0
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 05 05
Increase in fees paid to the Company's auditer related to the audit in the prior period 0.7 -
Total audit fees 2.2 15
Audit-related assurance services Q.1 0.1
2.3 1.6

Total audit and non-audit fees

Subseguent to the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, o remuneration increase of £0.7m was agreed with the auditors for the
audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022,

The other assurance services provided by the auditor related to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of statutory
requirements.
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7. Taxation recognised in profit or loss
2023 2022
£m £m
Current tax
Current pericd 0.1 02
Adjustments in respect of prior years [QHY)] -
(0.9) 0.2
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 29 (9.5)
Adjustment in respect of prior years a.6 a3
Adjustment ottributable to changes in tax rates and laws 4.8 (2.0)
25 (11.2)
Total tax charge / (credit) 16 (11.0)

Corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2022: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period can be
reconciled to the profit per the consolidgoted income statement as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m
Loss before taxation (15.1) (28.6)
Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022: 19%) 29 54)
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of prior yeors X:] 03
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.4 (0.2
Super deduction (4.1) (3.6)
Change in rate 0.6 2.0)
Non-taxable income (0.2) (0.1}
Total tax charge / (credit) 1é {11.0)

In addition to the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been (credited) / charged directly
to equity:

2023 2022
Deferred tax (credit) / charge arising on: fm im
Actuarial gains / losses (20.6) 150
Hedging (24) 2.2
Share-based payments {1.5) -
Total deferred tax (credited) / charged directly to equity (24.5) 172

The Finance Act 2021, which provides for an increase in the main rote of corperation tax from 19% to 25% effective from 1 April 2023, was
enacted on 24 May 2021. As deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the rates that are expected to apply in the periods of
reversal, deferred tox bolonces ot the balance sheet dote have been coleuloted of the rate of which the relevant balance is expected fo be
recovered or settled.

8. Acquisitions
53-week period ended 31 March 2023

DJB Recycling Limited

On 1 July 2022, the Group acquired the trade and assets of DJB Recycling Limited, a wasfe collection and recycling business for
consideration of £1.7m. The business generated revenue of ¢.£4.7m in the 12 months prior to acquisition, employed 31 people, had o fleet of
13 vehicles and operated from 2 sites in Sheffield. Goodwill arising on the acguisition was £0.6m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year, DJB Recycling has generated revenues of £2.9m and a profit before tax of £0.4m. If the
acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,684.3m and
operating profit for the year would have been £29.2m.
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8. Acquisitions continued
53-week period ended 31 March 2023 continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited

On 2 November 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited and i#s subsidiaries. Forge
Recyciing is o Leads-based I&C collections business with 100 employees and 3,800 customears. Upfront nat cash considergtion was £14 7m,
with a further contingent sum due post year-end, calculated by reference fo the performaonce of the acquired business through to the end
of March 2023, The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Goodwill arising en the acquisition was £12.1m,

Since acguisition to the end of the financial year Forge has generated revenues of £5.9m and a profit before tax of £0.7m. If the
acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,694.5m and
operating profit for the year would have been £30.4m.

As at 31 Morch 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Forge acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement period post-
acquisition and shouid therefore be considered provisional.

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Total Recycling Services Limited. Total Recycling is an industral waste
management business with 3 sites across the North East of England, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash
consideration was £17.1m and Goodwill arising on the acguisition was £12.0m.

In addition to net cash consideration paid above, ocquired borrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Given the timing of the acquisition the business’ contnbution To the revenue ond profit before tax was immaterial. The business generoted
revenue of . £15m in the 12 months prior to ccquisition. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695 2m and operating profit for the year would have been £29.8m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Total Recycling Services acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement
period post-acquisition and should therefore be cansidered provisional.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable nssels acquired and lickilities assumed are set out in the table below:

Total
[ )] Forge Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Total
£m £m £Em £m
Intangible assets 08 6.4 5.3 125
Froperty, plant gnd eguipment 08 2.6 8.4 1nsa
Trade and sther receivables - 19 29 48
inventory - - 01 01
Cash and cash equivglents - 34 09 43
Deferred tax liobility (0.2) (2.2y 3.2y (5.8)
Trade and other payables - (2.0) {3.9) {59)
_tease licbilities (0.3) (14) (D.5) (22)
Borrowings - (0.4) (4.0) (44)
Total net assers 1.1 8.3 6.0 154
Goodwill 0.6 12.1 12.0 247
Total consideration 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Safisfiedby:
Cash . o 1.4 181 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideration 0.3 2.3 - 2.6
Total consideration transferred 1.7 20.4 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 1.4 18.1 18.0 375
Deferred and contingent consideration poid 03 - - 03
Less cash ahd cash equivalents acquired - (3.4) (0.9 (4.3
Net cash flow arising on acquisition - 1.7 14.7 171 335

Acquisition-related costs included in adjusting items amount to €2.0m (2022: £9.4m). See the Appendix for further details.
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8. Acquisitions continued

52-week period ended 23 March 2022
Cn 31 August 2021, the Group acguired 100% of the share cupital of Syracuse Wuste Limited and ts subsidianies from the Vindor Group

Syracuse Waste Limited is @ speciaily created entity into which Viridor hived down 1ts collections business and certain recycling assets
order 1o encble the sale. The deal involved the transfer of approximately 21,000 existing Viridor business waste customers alongside u
network of 15 depots across the UK The acguisition (s infine with the Group’s growth strategy and complemeants the current operarions
across the Collections and Rescurces & Energy divisions. The accounting on the Viridor acquisition, in accordance with [FRS 3, Business
Combinations, nvolves g number of key judgements. The majorfty of these judgements were made during the year ending 25 March 2022,
but some additional adjustments have been made in the current period, as ser out below.

The adiustments are grouped as follows

. £2.1m of assets within Property, plant and equipment have been impaired 1o £nil

a Expecred future capital expenditure obliggtions on the West Sussex Recycling contract have incregsed, increasing the IFRIC 12
provision by £3.8m and reducing the IFRIC 12 infangible asset by £1.2m

B Recelvables and Payables have been updated, with a net £0.6m increase 1o working caprtal

. Deferred tax calculations have been updated, resulting in o £3.7m reduction in the net deferred tax liability

These adjustments have caused an mcrease of £2.8m to the goodwilt arising on acquisition.

On 25 June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Green Circle {Polymers) Limited i exchange for cash consideration of £9.6m
and deferred cash consideration of £3.7m payable over a period of 13 years. The deferred considerahon had an acquisition date fair value
of £3.3m. Soodwill of £6.0mM was recognised on acquisition. During the current period, outstanding deferred consideration of £0.3m was
seftied

9. Goodwill

2022
—_ __Em
Cost
As at 25 March 2022 289.8
Additions (Note 8) 24 7
_Adjustments to prior period acquisifions (Nofe 8) Y _uB
As at 31 March 2023 _ o B . - SR 1/

Accumuloted impairment losses
As at 25 March 2022
_As at 31 March 2023

Net book vaiue
_As ar 25 March 2022 . 2643

_Asar3iMarch2023 o _ o 2918
2023 022

e e EM__ . _Em
Collections 171.2 7 1585
Resources & Energy 59.5 b6/
Specialist Services 6L1 4.1
VTetal G e R o e R91B 0 2043
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. Goodwill continued

Operating divisions

At ecch reporting period the Group reviews whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with IAS 36: Impairment of
Assets. An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for each operating division to its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. If the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill and then to
the assets of the operating division.

Ihe key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs, Management's calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecost five-year cash flows which are prepared based on past performance and expectations of future performance. The
value in use is dlso determined after considering market information and o consistent growth rate thereafter.

The pre-tox discount rates used in the value in use calculations ot year end are as follows:

s Collections 11.00%
. Resources & Energy 10.00%
»  Specialist Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annnal growth rate assumption for the Gruup’s uperating divisions peyond the five-year pian period, based on market frends, after
adjustment for assumed inflation, is 3,25% (2022: 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due to the long-term nature of the business. No
reasonably foreseeable change in the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the
operating divisions.

Company Shop Group

Speciglist Services goodwill includes £40.6m (2022; £40.6m) attributable to CSG. The valuation of the geodwill allocated to CSG has
headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tox discount rate used in the value in use calculation was 10.75%. An increase
in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis points would reduce headroom to nil. The long term compounded annual growth rate used was
3.25%. A reduction of 587 basis peints in the long term compounded annual growth rate would reduce headroom to nil. The average gross
profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis poeints in gross profit margin would reduce headroom to nil.

10.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill IT Customer concession
gas rights  development Brands contracts agreements Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
As at 26 March 2021 190.2 83 452 8§24 - 3261
Acquired through business combination - - 0.3 31.2 375 69.0
Additions - 2.1 - - - 2.1
Disposals - (1.6) - - - (1.6)
As at 25 March 2022 190.2 3.8 455 113.6 375 395.6
Acquired through business combination - - - 125 - 125
Adjustments 1o prior pericd acquisitions (Note 8) - - - - (1.2) (1.2)
Additions ~ 1.7 - - - 1.7
Disposals - (4.0) (1.3) (45.7) - (51.0)
As at 31 March 2023 120.2 &.5 44.2 80.4 36.3 357.6
Accumulated gmortisation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (89.8) (3.7) (1.2) (48.9) - (143.6)
Amortisation charge for the period (20.1) (L.1) (0.3) 2.2 2.0 (30.7)
Disposals - 1.6 - - - 1.6
As at 25 March 2022 (109.9) (3.2) (1.5) (56.1) {2.0) (172.7)
Amortisation charge for the period (18.8) (1.0) - (6.4) (3.1 (29.3)
Disposals - 4.0 13 45.7 - 51.0
As at 31 March 2023 (128.7) (0.2) (0.2) (16.8) (5.1) (151.0)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 615 6.3 44.0 63.6 31.2 206.6
As ar 25 March 2022 80.3 5.6 44.0 57.5 35.5 2229
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10,  Other intangible assets continued

During the year, the Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register fo determine ossets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of intangible assets in the current year with a gross cost and accumulated amortisation and impairment of £51.0m relate 1o this
review.

The Group holds intangible assets relating to the Landfill Gas ('LFG’) business, The LFG business generates some of its income via the
production of Renewable Obligation Certificotes (‘ROCs™. These are “green energy certificates” which are issued 10 operators of
accredited renewable generating stations for the eligible renewable electricity that they generate, ROCs are then sald on to energy
providers for which the Group recognises revenue on sales, The ROCs scheme lasts for 20 years and the majority of landfill gas sites will
see their ROCs scheme terminate in financial year 2027. At this point, the revenue and profit profile of the LFG division will change
significantly. The Group recognised amortisation of £18.8m on LFG sites during the financial year (2022: £20.1m).

All amortisatian charges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within IT development costs are internaily generated assets with a net
book value of £3.2m (2022: £5.4m), The amortisation charge in relation to these assets was £0.6m (2022; £0.6m).

Given the significant investment in technology and IT development, the Group undertakes @ review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each year and impairs where necessary those that are superseded by new technology. The key estimate underpinning the value in use for
IT projects is forecast costs.

IFRS 3 reguires that on acquisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair value. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highly recognisable brand. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset o have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsider the valuction of the brand at each reporting date. The recognition of
brand and landfill gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken folliowing the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by wasteholdco 1 in 2008. The vaiues were subsequently remeasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013.

11, Property, piant and equipment

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites! equipment construction Total
- £m £m . _E&m = fMm £m
Cost
As at 26 March 2021 2677 Q3.4 4183 262 805.6
Acquired through business combination 19.8 ~ 292 - 49.0
Adjustment to prior period acquisitions 1.4 ~ - - 14
Additions 125 51 764 83 1023
Disposals (9.5) (0.1) (36.4) - (46.0)
Transfers! - 1.1 283 (28.3) 11
As at 25 March 2022 2919 29.5 515.8 6.2 913.4
Acquired through business combination 39 - 79 - 11.8
Adjustments to prior pericd acquisitions (Note 8) - - (21) - 25n
Additions 175 29 61.1 70.2 151.7
Disposals (47.5) - (244.3) - (291.8)
Trar\sfer%i__ o o (0.8) (2.2 m_il ’___;7(36.5) (22)
As at 31 March 2023 ) 265.2 100.2 3755 39.9 780.8
L Landfill sites includes £5.9m (2022: £8 8m) in relation to future economic benefit ta be derived as a result of actively fuifiling after-care abhgations that results in gas

generarion. Landfill site rransfers include £2.2m (2022: £1.1m) in relation fo the future economic benefit 1o be derived as a cesult of actively fulfiling after-care obligations that
results in gas generation, When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an asset in property. plant and equipment 1s recogrised.
Changes in the prowvision arising from revised estimares that relate to the osset are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset when the carrying value of the
asset 15 negative, these are classified to provisions.
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11.  Property, plant and equipment confinued

Pilant, Assefs
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites! equipment construction Total
£fm £m £m £m £m
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (53.3) (56.3) (132.8) [GR)] (243.4)
Depreciafion charge for the pericd {20.4) 4.7 (69.8) - (94.9)
Disposals 6.0 - 361 - 421
As at 25 March 2022 (67.7) 61.0) (166.5) (1.0) (296.2)
Depreciation charge for the period (19.9) (4.6 (B3.5) - (108.0)
Impairment charge for the period - - [CAY] - @.n
Disposais ) 45.2 - 2419 2871
As at 31 March 2023 (42.4) {65.6) (17.2) (1.0) (126.2)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 2228 34.6 358.3 38.9 654.6
As at 25 March 2022 22472 385 349.3 5.2 617.2
1. Landfill sites includes £5.9m (2022, £8.8m) in relation 1o future econormc benefit 1o be derived as a result of actively fulfilling after-care obligations that results in gas

generation Landfill site transfers include £2.2m (2022 £1.1m) in relation o the future economic benefit to be derived as a result of actively fulfiling afrer-care obligations rhat
resutts in gas generation. when the obligation recogrised as a prowision gives access to future econemic benefits, an asset in property, plant and equipment is recegnised
Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are recerded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. when the carrying volue of the
asset is negative, these are classified to provisions

Assets corresponding to the Poplars Ancerobic Digestion Plant with a total net book value of £9.1m were impaired to £nil during the year
due to its performance being weaker than expected.

During the year, the Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposals of property, plant and equiprment in the current year with a gross cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment of
£281.8m relate to this review.

In addition, further assets were disposed of in return for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buildings with a net book value of
£2.3m and vehicles and equipment with a net book value of £2.4m. Total proceeds of £7.0m were received (2022: £6.9m), of which £5.2m
was cash, leading to the recognition of a gain on disposal of fixed assets of £2.3m (2022: £6.2m).

Land and buildings and landfil sites at net book value comprise:

2023 2022

Land and Landfill Land and Landfill

buildings sites buildings sites

£m £m £m £m

Freehold 420 12.5 428 13.5
Long leasehold 65.2 14.3 58.7 16.0
Short leaseheld B 115.6 78 122.7 G.0
222.8 4.6 2242 385

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment
amounting to £49.6m (2022: £12.5m).
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11.  Property, plant and equipment continued

Right-of-use assets

The Group records its right-of-use assets within property, plont and equipment, The Group leases assets including buildings and plant and

eguipment.

The average lease term is 14 .8 yedrs (2022: 12.8 years). The Group has options to purchase cerfain plant and equipment for a nominal
amount at the end of the lease term. The Group’s obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such lecses.

The carrying amodnt of the Group's total right-of-use assets included within Property, plant and equipment are as foliows:

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
Carrying amount e £m Em 0 £m
As at 26 March 2021 172.6 123.4 296.0
Acquired through business combination 137 3.6 17.3
Additions a2 203 285
Depreciation charge for the period (17.9 (34.0) BLYH
Disposals 1.8 0.2 20
Lecse modifications 0.7 - 0.7
"As at 25 March 2022  wer  uss 2928
Acquired through business combination 0.1 21 22
Additions 11.0 521 63.1
Depreciation charge for the period (17.6) (38.2) (55.8)
Disposals [ R)] (0.6) (1.5)
Lease modifications 5.6 - 5.6
Transferred to owned assets (20.9) 346 (17.1)
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 1325 289.1
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 1325 289.1
As at 25 March 2022 175.1 1135 292.6
12. Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Raw marterials and consumables 3.2 2.3
Finished goods 403 329
43.5 35.2

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories consumed in the period ended 31 March 2023 were £87.6m
(2022: £68.3m). Inventory written down in the period totalled £nil (2022: £nil), Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period

were £nil (2022: £nil).

At the end of the financial year £3.8m (2022: £4.2m) of inventory held by the Group related to CSG.
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13. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022
Amounts falling due within one year - £m £€m
Trade receivables 183.5 178.0
Less expected credit loss allowance (6.3) (58)
Trade receivables - net 1771.2 172.2
Other debtors 11.5 53
Prepayments 259 30.0
Prepaid landfill provision expenditure 33 0.1

217.9 207.6

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

All amounts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Due to their short
marurities, the fair value of trade and other receivables approximates to their bock value. The average credit period taken on inveices was 38 days
(2022: 35 day=<)

Included within Other debtors is £6.1m related to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scofland. Refer to Note 34 for further information.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debts with a carrying amount of £32.5m (2022: £16.2m} which are past due at the reporting
date, representing 18% of the toral balance (20227 9%).

Credir limits for new customers are assigned based on the customer’s credit quality. An external credit scoring system is used before assigning any
credit limit over £500. Management monitors the ufilisation of credit limits reguiarly. The frade receivables bolance consists of a large number of
customer balances, in excess of 87.000, represented largely by local account customers, and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example when a customer enters liquidation. The following table details the risk profile of frade receivables. As the Group's
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status is not distinguished between type of customer.

2023 2022

Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime

credit loss expected credit loss expected

rate credit loss rate credit loss

Trade receivahles - days past due % £m Y% £m
1 to 30 days 1.0% 3.4 1.0% 27
31 to 60 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 05
61 to 90 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 0.3
QOver 90 days 50.0% 23 50.0% 2.3
6.3 5.8

The allowance for expected credit loss ('ECL) includes individually impaired trade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liquidation
or are the subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the
present value of any expected recoveries. Expected credit losses are recognised in accordance with the simplified approach set outin IFRS 9.

2023 2022

Movement in expected credit loss £m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 5.8 46
Impairment losses recognised in the period 5.4 1.4
Amounts recovered during the period (3.93 Lo
Amoeunts written off as uncollectable (1.0 (1.2)
Balance ot the end of the pericd 6.3 5.8

Long-term recejvables

2023 2022

Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Funds on long-Term deposit 25 2.3
2.5 2.3

No expected credit loss has been recognised for long-term receivables on the basis that the counterparties are A-rated financial institutions.
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14, Assets and Liabilities related to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets

2023 2022

£m £m

Current contract assets 625 718
62.5 718

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the balance sheet dote.
Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounts are agreed by the customer. On most contracts, certificates and
agreement is by the customer on a monthly baosis. All contract assets held at 31 March 2023 is expected to be invoiced and fransferred to
trade receivables within the next 12 monfths.

None of the contract assets at the end of the reperting period is past due, and, taking intoc account the historical default experience and
the future prospects in the industry, the Directors consider that no contract assets are impaired.

Contract liabilities

2023 2022

£fm £m

Current contract liabilities {279 (27.1)
(27.9) (27.1)

The timing of payments received from customers, relative to the recording of revenue, can have a significant impact on the liabilities
recorded on the Group’s Statement of Financial Position.

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned to when revenue is recognised,
particulorly for those contracts with revenue recognised over fime by reference 1o the stage of completion. where cash is received in
advance of work carried out, and therefore the revenue recognised, a contract liability arises.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers in respect of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised. All contract liabilities held af 31 March 2023 are expected
ta satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months.

15, Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 41.2 40.2
Short-term deposifs 0.1 0.6
41.3 40.8

Deposits comprise of an insurance deposit of £0.1m (2022: £0.6m) which represents cash held as security for self-insurance obligations.

16. Financia! instruments

2023 2022

Assets held at amortised cost £m £m
Liguidity fund' .5 10.7
9.5 10.7

1 Current investments hetd by Bray Insurance Company Limited, the Group's caphive Insurance company.
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16,  Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments
The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9. All cash flow hedges were
deemed to be fully effective and therefore movements in fair value were all recognised within the hedge reserve.

The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all mature within one year; these forwards will be used by the
Group to hedge Eurc currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel ('RDF"). The forward foreign exchange contracts have
resulted in the recognition of a derivative liahbility of £nil (20272 £012m)

The Group enters into commodity swaps to hedge against future movements in fuel prices, At the end of the financial year these hedges
were in an asset position of £0.5m (2022: £11.7m).

The fair value measurements of derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, as they are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liabllity, either directly (l.e. as
prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).

2023 2022

Fair value Notional Fair value Notional

£m £€m £m £m

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 53 0.2) 63
Commodity hedges 0.5 34.8 117 239
0.5 40.1 11.5 30.2

The table below represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on the Group's derivative financial instruments.

Foreign exchange risk Interest rate risk Commeodity risk Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m £fm £m £m £m
Balance ar the beginning of the period 0.2 0.3 - 27 {11.7) 0.6 (115) 56
Gain / (loss) arising on changes in fair (0.2) (0.1} - 1.4 (0.2) {16.1) (0.4) (14.8)
value of hedging instruments during the
period
(Gain) / loss reclassified to profit or loss - - - - (4.1 - - - (4.1)
forecast transaction no longer expected to
occur
Cumulative (gainy / loss transferred to - - - - 11.4 18 11.4 3.8
inifial carrying amount of hedged items
Balance at the end of the period - 0.2 - - (0.5) {11.7) {0.5) (11.5)
Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Private placements and bank loans 418.5 630.3
EVP preference liability 14.3 14.3
4328 644.6
2023 2022
Book Averaoge Book Average
value  interest rate value  interest rate
£m Y% £m Y%
Current
Private placements and bank loans 345.0 2.6% - -
EVP preference instrument 6.3 - - -
3513 -
Non-current
Private placements and bank loans - - 354.0 2.8%
Parent company loan 735 83% - -
EVP preference instrument 8.0 - ) 143 -
81.5 368.3
Total borrowings 432.8 368.3
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16, Financial instruments continued

Borrowings continued

Refer to Note 23 for the cashflow movement on borrowings during the current and prior financial periods.

The Group repaid its Revolving Credit Facility (‘'RCF’) during the year, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bidco Limited.

The private placements have been classified as current because they were terminated on 23 May 2023,

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPO lenders were issued with preference share capital in Wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange
for settflement of amounts due to them. The associated fiability is £14.3m.

Borrowings are measured ot amortised cost and the EVP preference liability is measured at fair value. All financicl assets and financial
liabilities have been classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Interest rates on borrowings

2023 2022
Principal Average Principal Average
amount interest rate amount interest rate
£m Yo £m %
Term facility - - 90 3.2%
Parent company loan 735 8.3% - -
Private placement - £150.0m 1500 2.7% 150.0 27%
Private placement - £195.0m 185.0 25% 195.0 2.5%
418.5 354.0
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
o 2023 . 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
Notes £m £em £m £m
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables! 13 1772 177.2 1722 172.2
Financial asset arising on liquidity fund Q.5 9.5 107 107
Financial asset arising frem IFRIC 12 29 43 4.3 4.0 4.0
Financial asset arising from capitalisation of borrowing fees? - - 1.0 1.0
Financial asset arising from investment in Lovejunk Limited Q.6 0.6 0.6 0.6
Funds on long-fterm deposit 13 25 25 23 23
Loans to joint ventures and associates 20.2 202 143 143
Derivative financial instfrument e 09 11.7 117
Cash and cash equivalents 15 413 413 408 40.8
256.5 256.5 257.6 257.6

Financial liabilities
Private placements and bank loans? (345.0) (306.0) (354.0) (337.4)
Parent company lcan {73.5) (735) - -
Ltease liabilities 24 (283.5) (283.5) (276.3) {276.3)
EVP preference liability 29 (14.3) (14.3) (14.3) {(14.3)
Trade and other payables® 17 (305.6) (305.6) (286.7) (286.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration (5.9 (5.9 (72) (7.2)
Derivative financial instrument {0.4) (0.4) 0.2 0.2
{1,028.2) (989.2) {938.7) (922.1)
Net financial liabilities (771.7) (732.7) (681.1) (664.5)

1 Trode and other recewables excludes prepayrments and cther debtors,
Trade and other poyables excludes contingent liabilinies, deferred income, taxation and social secunty and arher non-financial liabihines.

8]

3. Private placements and bank loans includes £19% Om green loan following the aunch of its Sustamability-Linked Finance Frameweork in the year ended 25 March 2022. The fund
s linked 1o two key performance targets' reducing scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 50% by 2030; and mpring Biffa Bolymers plastics recycling capacity by 2025
4, Unamortised fransaction costs of £1.0m incurred in the origination of the private placements have been wrirten off duning the year

The fair values of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current

market rates for similar instruments.
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16. Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow inferest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overal) risk rmanagement programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potentia! adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management in
e ubvie uigus is curtied o unded U policy dpproved by the Board ot Urrectors.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strategy is appropriate and effective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest-bearing ussels include cash and cash equivalents which earn inferest at floating rates. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group 1o cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain an
appropriate proportion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

2023 2022
Financiol liabilities (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate 9.0

Fixed rate 7020 6213

Non-interest bearing

EVP preference instrument 143 14.3
Other financial liabilities 3115 2939
1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabilities. Non-interest bearing financial liabilities comprise frade payables.

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Floating rate - other 25 2.3
Fixed rate 20.2 -
Non-interest bearing
Liquidity fund 9.5 6.9
Other financial assets 182.1 192.1
255.6 245.9

The interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investment, The interest on floating rate finoncial
instruments is reset at intervals of less than one year. The other financial assets and liabifities of the Group that are not included in the
cbove fables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk,

Fixed rate and non-inferest bearing financial assets and liabilities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk and floating rate financial
assets and liabilities to cash flow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures primarily related to the disposal of RDF via export to Europe. The
Group enters into forward confracts 1o purchase Euros based upon expected costs. These derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk, but is exposed to commodity price risks on its cutputs. The
commedities that the Group is exposed to are fuel, electricity, paper, glass, cardboard, steel, aluminium and plastics (including HDPE and
PET). The price risk associated with commeodities is considered to be in the ordinary course of business for the Group.
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16. Financial instruments continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables, For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A are accepted.

Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Note 13,

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial information, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. These amounts include receivable balances from local autherity clients, hence are not exposed 1o
significant credit risk. Given the above factors, the Board does not consider it necessary to present a detailed analysis of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities to meet short-term business requirements, after taking info account

the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cash flow of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities {including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2023
Due between  Duye between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond Total
. £m £m £m £m £m
MNon-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings! (345.0) - - (73.5) (418.5)
Lecse liabilities (55.1) (41.6) (74.9) (111.9) (283.5)
Trade and other payables (300.0) 4.0 (1.2 (0.3) (305.6)
Deferred and contingent consideration (3.1} 0.3 (0.9 (1.6) (5.9)
EVP Fic:bil‘wy (6.3) (8.0) - - (14.3)
Non-derivative financiol assets
Cash and cash equivalents 413 - - - 413
Liguidity fund .5 - - - 2.5
Trade and other receivables 177.2 - - - 177.2
(481.5) (54.0) (77.0) (187.3) (799.8)
z A restructure of the Group’'s debt became effective in May 2023, as part of which the private placements were refinanced. See Note 34 for further detals,
2022
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings - - (2.0} (345.0) (354.0)
Lease liabilities (53.8) (431 (69.4) (110.0) (276.3)
Trade and other payables (286.7) - - - (286.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration 4.2 0.3 (0.8) (1.9 (7.2)
EVP fiability - - (14.3) - (14.3)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 408 - - - 40.8
Liquidity fund 10.7 - - - 107
Trade and other receivables 172.2 - - - 172.2
(121.0) (43.4) (93.5) (456.9) (714.8)
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17. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£m £m
Current

Trade poyalylog 2247 2087
Taxation and sociol security 452 54.0
Interest poyable L3 18
Accruals 718 75.6
Other payables 1.8 0.6
o 349.2 340.7

Non-current
Trade and other payobles 5.6 6.5
5.6 6.6
354.8 3473

Included within trade and other payabies is £2.0m (2022: £2 3m) in relation ta government grants.

The taxation and social security figure of £49.2m (2022: £54.0m) includes £0.1m (2022: £0.3m) in relation to the corporation tax creditor.

18. Provisions

Landfill
restoration HMRC
and after- Onerous IFRIC Landfill Tax
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enquiry Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 71.0 16.1 20.5 8.8 - - 1.0 117.4
Utilised during the period (4.7) (5.8} (6.3 (0.2) - - (3.5) (20.5)
Acquired through business
combinagtion - - 2.0 34 127 - 50 231
Charged fo the income
starement during the period 45 2.7 4.2 15 - 17.0 13 313
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (03 - - - - - - (0.3)
Unwind of discount 2.4 - - - 04 - - 2.8
Transfers from fixed assets
(Note 11) 039 - - - - - - o9
Transfers fram trade and other
payables - - - - - 3.0 - 30
As at 25 March 2022 739 13.0 20.4 135 131 20.0 58 157.7
utilised during rhe perod (4.4 (0.4) (5.2 (02 (1.4) 30 @n (18.5)
Adjustments to prior period
acguisitions (Note 8) - - - - 38 - - 38
Charged to the income
starement during the periodo 44 1.9 6.1 0.1 - 50.7 09 64.6
Impact of real discount rare
changes to profit or loss (24.8) - - - - - - (24.8)
Unwind of discount 29 - - - 0.4 - - 33
Tronsfers 1o fixed assets
(Note 11) 2.2y - - - - - - (2.2)
Transfers from trade and other
receivables 23 - - - - - - 33
Transfers from /(to) trade and
other payables - 0.3 - - - (3.0 - (2.7)
_As at 31 March 2023 . 53.6 14.8 20.3 13.4 15.9 64.0 25 1845
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18. Provisions continued

Provistons bave been analysed between current and non current as follows:

2023 2022

o e e I [ [ ... Em e Em
Current 20.0 203
_Mon-current 164.5 1374
L =

Landfill restoration and after-care
As part of Its normal activities, the Group undertakes to restore its landfill sites and to maintain the sites and control leacharte and
methane emissions from the sites. A provision is made for these anticipated costs. A number of estimate uncertainties affect rhe
calculation, including the impact of regulation, climate chunge, accuracy of site surveys, transportation costs, and chonges in rhe reul
discount rafe. The provision incorporates our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncerfainties, but future changes in any ot
these estimates could materially impact the calculation of the provision. Restoration costs are incurred as each site 1s filled and in e
period immediately after its ciosure. Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is filled and for o
number of years post closure. After-care costs are incurred tor o nurnber of years post closure. This period can vary significantly from site
10 sife, depending upon the types of waste landfilled. the speed at which It decomposes, the way the sile 1s engineerea and the reguiutury
requirements specific to the site.

Changes 1n The provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relate 1o
property, plant and equipnment are recognised within the income statement. The associoted outtlows are estimated fo arise over a period
of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site closure. In determining the provision, the estimates for tuture expenditure required ro
setile the obligation are inflated using longer-term inflation rates, and discounted using the nominal discount rate as explained in the
‘discounting of provisions’ section below.

Insurance
The associated cuttlows are estimated fo orise over o period ot up to six years from the balance sheer date, The Insuronce provision Nchides seli
insurarice by the Group on both low and high value items.

Onerous contracts

fhe Group recognises onerous contract provisions for any unavoidable net losses arising from contracts. The Group reviews Its gnerous conmract
provisions at each reporting date and whenever There is a marernal change in management’'s expectations of the contract AT the end ot the
financial year the Group held onerous contract provisions In relation to the following confracts:

- Epping Forest District Council (<2 years remaining)

- South Oxfordshire & Vale (<2 years remaining)

- Leicester City Council (<6 years remaining}

The future cash inflows from these cnerous contracts are relatively predictable as they are fixed and based on the terms of e confract However,
the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future cash outflows is considered a significant estimate when
maodelling the future net cash outflows on onerous conrract provisions

Dilapidations
Ditapidations arise on feased 1terns where the Group has an obligation to return these itfems to their original condition as ar the lsase incephion,

IFRIC 12

The IFRIC 12 provision represents the future capital expenditure an reverting assets on the West Sussex Recycling contragt This coniract was
acqusred as part of the Vindor acquisition and a provision of £12.7m was inifiolly recognised on the acquisition opening balance sheet in me priv:
period. A subsequent remeasurement exercise resuited in the provision on the opening balance sheet being increased by €3.8m in he current yea
The provision 1s discounted over the durarion of the contract rerm

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As sef out i Note 1, Biffa Waste Services Limited ('BwSL) is currently the subject of an enguiry by HMRC regarding certain aspecrs of 11s Landfill
Tax compiiance (‘the Enquiry’), as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating to the interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out in LF 11,
HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers, which may have led
to the incorrect rate of Landtill Tax being paid.

In Bitfa's view, and based on advice received 1o date, there are a range of possiile outcomes 1o the Enquiry and it 1s difficull 1o accurarely
ascertain the guantum or timing of any potential hability with certainty or precision, wWhilst Biffa believes 1t has a strong case, There remains
significant uncertainty i the ultimate outcome and g provision has been recognised for £64m, including associated costs and Inferest, which
addresses the range of matters arising from the £377m of protective assessments received 1o date and the further estimates of llability shared by
HMRC in the context of without prejudice sefflement discussions disclosed in Note 1 excluding the element we consider To be @ confingent liobility
disclosed in Note 27

The estimate assumes that any possible penalty that could be levied would be suspended and accordingly has not been recogrised PaymenT would
not be required ar the end of the suspension penod providing the relevant conditions are mer
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18. Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relate to legal fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions
Long-term provisiens included in londfill restoration and after-care have been inflated and discounted using the below nominal rates. The
rates reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and &0 years.,

Long-term provisions included in onerous contracts have been discounted using the below nominal rates.

Inflation rate Discount rate
Period of obligation 2023 2022 2023 2022
5 years 2.4% 3.6% 4.9% 27%
10 years 2.9% 3.6% 4.8% 2.8%
20 years 3.3% 3.6% 4.9% 2.9%
30 years 3.2% 3.4% 4.6% 2.9%
60 years 31% 33% 4.4% 2%

An increase of 1% in the real discount rate {at current cost) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in cash outflows would result in an increased environmentaol provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term
after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and after-core provisions have been inflated at a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An incregse
of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £23,1m).

In arriving at the onerous contfract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £0.2m. In
arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using o risk-free rate
of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.
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19. Deferred taxdtion

The following are the major fax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period:

Temporary
ditference
arising on Recognised
property, Share- Retirement Other tax losses
plant and based benefit intangible carried
equipment payments Provisions Hedging surplus Goodwill assets forward Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 25.6 2.3 0.8 - (21.3) 6.8 (35.7) 8.4 (111)
Acquired through business
combingtion {5.5) - - - (0.3) - (9.6) - {15.4)
Credit / (charge) 1o the
income statement during
the period 6.6 04 05 0.1 (4.9 0.8 (3.3) 11.0 11.2
Charge fo other
comprehensive income
during the pericd - - (2.2) {15.0) ~ - - (17.2)
As at 25 March 2022 26.7 27 13 (2.1) (41.5) 76 (44.6) 19.4 {32.5)
Acquired through business
combnation 25 - - - - - &R - (5-6)
Adjustments to prior period
acquisitions (Note 8) 3.4 - - - - - 03 - 3.7
(Charge} / credit to the
income statement during
the period (12.9) “n 162 - (29) (1.3 (0.5) 31 (2.5)
Credit t¢ other
comprehensive income
during the period - 15 - 24 206 - - - 245
As at 31 March 2023 14.7 - 17.5 0.3 {23.8) 63 (49.9) 225 (12.4)

A deferred tax liability of £24.5m (2022: £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%). Deferred
tax assets and ligbilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had unused tax losses of £106.9m (2022: £94.6m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of £89.7m (2022: £77.4m) of these losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £17.2m (2022: £17.2rm) as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available in the statutory entity in
which these losses are being carried forward.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed af the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxabie profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

The Group has considered the impact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (including loss of revenue
from cessation of ROCs in 2027, the potential Deposit Return Scheme (‘DRSY in England and increased carbon taxes) in subsequant

reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impact from the cessation of RCCs has been considered in forecasts,

however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have a
material impact on the recoverability of the deferred tax asset,
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20. Share-based payments

Share-based poyments charges of £7.7m (2022: £3.7m) have been charged to administrative expenses. The increased charge during the
year is due to the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acquisition, all schemes either vested early or were cancelled, resulting in an
accelerated charge.

During the year the Group had one conditiona! share-based payment arrangement granted to Directors and employees. The arrangement
lapsed in full on completion of the ECP acquisition. The likelihood of lapse was reflected in the reduced fair value on grant, as detailed in
the following table.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price

options  Contractual at date of  Number of Expected Fair value

originally life grant  employees  Expected life Risk-free  per option

Date of grant granted (years) (pence) at grant volatility (years) rate {pence)
2 July 2018 1,014,880 2.9 251.0 36 24% 2.93 0.71% 173.2
1 October 2018 218,359 29 253.0 2 24% 2.93 C.89% 173.8
11 December 2018 18,819 29 192.2 1 24% 293 0.50% 114.1
1 July 2019 1,773,988 3.0 2110 37 25% 3.0 0.54% 1128
1 July 2020 2,354,948 3.0 201.0 77 27% 293 (0.073% 1077
1 June 2021 29,792 3.0 300.5 1 30% 2.09 0.09% 1744
14 June 2021 1,855,274 3.0 2935 41 29% 3.01 0.14% 1876
4 Cctober 2022 1,051,065 3.0 409.2 26 39% 3.0 4.05% 345

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochastic, black-scholes and chaffe model.

The expected volatility is o measure of the amount by which o share price is expected to fluctuate during the period. It is caiculated based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the fength of the award period. A reconciliation of movements in the number of share
awards can be summarized as follows:

Number of options Outstanding as at
Date of grant originally granted Vested Lapsed / forfeited 31 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,319) (194 561) -
1 October 2018 218,359 (218,359) - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18,819) - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427) -
1 July 2020 2,354,948 (2,058,878) (296,070) -
1 June 2021 29,792 (29,792) - -
14 June 2021 1,855,274 (1,066,675) (788,599) -
4 Qctober 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065) -

The Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and June 2021 awards vested during the year ended 31 March 2023, with the latter two vesting early due to the sale to ECP.
The 14 June 2021 award was reduced by one third for time pro-ration to reflect the early vest. The October 2022 award lapsed in full on
completion of the sale to ECP. Given the acqguisition of the Biffe Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected to be no future
PSP awards,

Sharesave Plan

In the financial year 2017 the Biffa Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Plan to all employees with six months or more continuous
employment at the date of the scheme launch. The scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions to £500. The
scheme term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six months after completion of the Save As You Earn contract.

Since the launch of the scheme new Sharesave Plans have been launched in subsequent financial years under the same terms.

There were no new options granted during the year All Sharesave Plans ended on acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP.
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21. Reserves

Share capital

Number £
As at 25 March 2022 305,908,483 2,059,085
Share issues 3,389,261 33,892
As at 31 March 2023 309,297,744 3,092,977

Share premium
The share premium represents amounts received in excess of the nominal value of shares issued since IPO, net of the direct costs
associated with issuing those shares.

£m
As at 25 March 2022 247.6
Share issues 4.6
As at 51 March 2023 252.2

Merger reserve
The opening merger reserve of £170.3m arose on both the acquisition of wasteholdcao 1 Limited in 2008 and a Jersey registered ‘cash box’
company that facilitated an equity raise in 2020.

£m
As at 25 March 2022 170.3
As at 31 March 2023 170.3
Hedging reserve
2023 2022
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the pericd 9.9 (5.4)
Fair value (loss) / gain arising on hedging instruments during the period (10.9) 15.0
Tax retating to items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 24 (22}
Net gain on cash flow hedges in joint ventures and associates (nef of tax) 19.8 3.5
Balance at the end of the period 21.2 9.9
22. Retained earnings
2023 2022
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the period 524 439
Loss for the period (16.7) (17.6)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the period {61.9) 33.7
Value of employee service in respect of share option schemes (excluding NICs) 4.7 2.7
Purchase of shares in EBT (1.5) (3.6)
Deferred rax movement in share option schemes 15 -
Cividends paid (14.3) (6.7)
Balance at the end of the period (35.8) 524
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23, Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt

2023 2022

£m £m

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 05 10.0
Net increase in private placements and bank loans (64.5) (156.4)
Net (increase) / decrease in lease hlabilities (1.2} 1.4
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period (71.2) {139.0)
Group Net Debt at the beginning of the pericd (595.8) (456.8)
Group Net Debt at the end of the peried (667.0) (595.8)

Analysis of Group Net Debt

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash and cash eguivalents 41.3 40.8
Lease liabilities (283.5) (276.35)
Private placements and loans (418.5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability {6.3) {6.3)
Group Net Debt (667.0) (595.8)
EVP preference liability 63 63
Other finghce instruments 95 107
Covenant basis Net Debt (651.2) (578.8)

The £6.3m EVP preference liability has been included within Group Net Debt as it is payable to EVP preference shareholders. The remaining
£8.0m liability payable to EVP preference shareholders will be funded by reduced tax poyments on future earnings.

The Group’s leverage is calculated on Group Net Debt as follows:

2023 2022
Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA) 3.0x 31x

Adjusted EBITDA is defined and reconciled to Operating Profit in the Appendix fo the financial statements.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liobilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and nen-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities,

As at As at
25 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 31 March
2022 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes' 2023
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (276.3) 72.2 - (2.2) (687 8.5) (283.5)
Private placements and loans (354.0) 13.4 {(/2.5) (4.4) - (LO) (418.5)
EVP preference liability (14.3) - - - - - (14 3)
{644.6) 85.6 (72.5) (6.6) (68.7) (9.5) (716.3)

1 Other changes includes interest expense recogmsed on lease liabilihes; disposals of lease abihthies, and interest accrued on loans and private placements.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 79



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23, Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities continued

As at As at

26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 25 March

2021 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes?! 2022

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Lease liabilities (2837) 62.8 - (17.3) (31.9) {62) (276.3)
private placements and loans (197.6) 1911 (345.0) - - (2.5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability (47.6) - - - - 33.3 (14.3)
{528.9) 253.9 (345.0) (17.3} Gle) 24.6 (644.6)

1 Other changes inc udes intergst expense recognised on lease labiliies; disposals of lease habitities; and nterest accrued on loans and private placements,

24, Lease liabilities

Leaise obligatians are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12
months from the reporting date, as follows:

2023 2022

o . » £m £m
Current 55.1 538
~ Non-eurrent - ; 228.4 2225
- 283.5 . 2763
Undiscounted payments Present value
2023 2022 2023 2022

_Lease liability maturity analysis £m £m £m £m
within one year 653 62.2 55.1 53.8
More than one year but less than two years 55.0 49.0 41.6 431
tMore than two years but less than five years 100.0 795 749 9.4
After five years 178.6 2571 1119 1100
398.9 447.8 283.5 276.3
_ Less future finance charges (115.4) (171.5) - -
283.5 276.3 283.5 276.3

The average lease term is 14.8 years (2022: 12.8 years). For the period ended 31 March 2023, the effective borrowing rate was 4.0% (2022
3.1%).

Costs / (income) recognised in the income statement relating to leases and right-of-use assets are as follows:

2023 2022

. Notes £m £m
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 11 55.8 519
Interest expense on lease liabilities 3 10.3 9.8
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 4 (3.3) (3.3)
Expense relating to short-term and low-value assets 4 21.5 255

Cash repayments of £72.2m (2022: £62.8m} on leases have been made in the year.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes
During the period the Group incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) in relation to defined contributions schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes; Biffa Pension Scheme ('BPS™), an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits
Scheme (‘ULURBSY, the Federated Pension Plan (FPP?), Prudential Platinum (‘Platinum’), the Kent County Council Pension Fund (the ‘Kent
Fund?), The Citrus Pension Plan- Biffa waste Services Limited Section (previously named the viridor Somerset Section) ('Citrus’), the bevon
County Council Pension Fund (‘Devon’), the Staffordshire Pension Fund (the ‘Staffordshire Fund’} and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
("GMPF") (collectively, the ‘Schemes”).

The Group is also admitted in the Cornwall Pension Fund (the ‘Cornwall Fund and Norfolk Pension Fund (the ‘Narfolk Fund”™. The
centractual terms of the commercial agreements that admit the Group to these schemes limit the actuarial risk that the Group is exposed
to; conseguently the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. All the Schemes are closed to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cornwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although the BPS is closed far the majority of members
and only o few empioyees with statutory protections remain in active service. The BPS makes up around 95% of the total liability across
the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market {investment) risk, interest rate risk, infiation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board of the
Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member nominated Trustees (where the lega! minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of the members
of the Scheme Investment policy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Scheme” surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group’s Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated at the triennial actuarial assessment, is used to agree contributions to the
Schemes. The two measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated at different rates and in different ways.
The key calculction difference is that the funding position considers the expected refurns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scheme”
liability, whereas the accounting position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally available
in the form of a reduction in the future cash contributions or as a cash refund. Where a surplus of a defined benefit Scheme arises or there
is potential for a surpius to arise from committed future contributions, the right of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund of
that surplus is considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which revealed a funding surplus of £19.3m on the technical
provisions basis, a deficit of £106.9m cgainst the solvency estimate, and o deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimate.

The Group will contribute as follows until the earlier of: i. 30 June 2025; and ii. the date on which Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited (‘BCHL)
and the participating employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term target of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive quarter ends;

. the first payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal to £4.3m;

» the second payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2023 equal to £4.3m;

» the third poyment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 equal to £4.3m; and

« thereafter, payments will be made in monthly instalments of £358,333 payable on or before the last day of the month in which they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Nortolk Fund, Kent Fund, Stattordshire Fund and GMPE are all Local Government Pension Schemes. when determining

the appropriate cccounting treatment for these schemes, the Group considers the extent to which it is exposed to actuarial risk

throughout the term of the commercial contract and also obligated to fund any deficit on exit of the confract.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-
quality AA-rated corporate bonds; in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the return on the Schemes’ assets were
below this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addition to the natural interest rate hedging provided by its investment in bonds, the Trustees also purchase derivatives o ensure that
the funding position of the Schemes are, overall, hedged against 85% of movements in long-term risk-free interest rates and 85% of
movements in inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interest risk
A decrease in the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes’ liabilities; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the
Schemes’ corporate bond assets.

Longevity risk
The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the Schemes’ members bath during
and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes’ liabilities.

Inflation risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in deferment
and pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectations. As such, an increase in the expectation of future inflation will
increase the Schemes' liabilities.

The lump surn death benefits paid to dependents of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external insurance company. The present value of
the obligation, and the refated current service cost and past service cast, were measured using the projected unft credit method.

Actuarial valuation
A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 and has been updated fo 31 March 2023 by a qualified independent
actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms) as follows:

2023 2022
Discount rate 4.9% 2.9%
Rate of salary increase 3.2% 3.9%
Rate of inflation - RPI 3.1% 4.2%
Rate of inflation - CPI 2.7% 34%
Rate of pension increases' - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 2.5% p.a. (pensioners / non pensioners) 2.0% 2.2% / 1.9%
Rate of pension increases' - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 5.0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 2.9% 3.3% / 2.8%
Rate of pension increases! - RPT with floor of 0% cap of 6.0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 30% 3.5% / 3.0%
Raote of pension increases' - CPIL with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p.o. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 27% 23% / 21%
Rate of pension increases! - CPI uncapped (pensioners / non-pensicners) 2.8% 3.3% / 3.0%
Longevity (years)
Expected future lifetime of a malg pensioner currently aged 65 20.8 21.2
Expected future lifetime of a female pensioner currently aged 65 229 233
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a male member currently aged 45 221 225
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a female member currently aged 45 245 24.9
1. In excess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (‘GMPY),
The assets in the Schemes were;

2023 2022
£m % £m %
Equity 82.4 18.5% 107.4 17.1%
Bonds 8.0 1.8% 10.8 1.7%
Properties and infrastructure 18.0 4.1% 225 3.6%
Hedge funds 721 16.2% 720 11.5%
LOI investments - BPS 164.2 37.0% 3014 479%
QOther 99.6 22.4% 114.2 18.2%

4443 628.3

Actual return on plan assets . (176.3) 9.4

The fair value of the above asset classes are determined based on quoted (‘bid') market prices. Virtually all equity and debt instruments have
quoted prices in active markets, Derivatives are classified os Level 2 instruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 instruments under IFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement. It is the pelicy of the Schemes to use hedge funds and liability driven investments to hedge some of their exposure to
interest rate and inflation risks. This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years,

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the valuation of the property portfolio, where a valuation is obtained annually from
professionally qualified external valuers. The evidence to support these property valuations is based primarily on recent, comparable market
fransoctions on an arm’s length basis. However the assumptions applied are inherently subjective and so are subject to d degree of uncertainty.

Anincrease in the property valuation of 10% would increase pension assets by £1.8m. An increase in the valuation of traded assets of 10% would
increase pension assets by £16.2m,
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued
Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022
£m £m
Benefit obiigation at the beginning of the period 470.6 525.8
Servire cnst 2.4 2.5
Interest cost 135 10.4
Contributions by scheme participants 0.4 0.3
Net remeasurement gains - financial (142.2) (56.2)
Net remeasurement gains - demographic (4.2} (4.3)
Net remeasurement losses - experience 17.6 1.0
Newly recognised schemes - 78
Benefits paid (18.23 (16.8)
__Past service costs - 0.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the period 339.9 470.6
Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of Schemes’ assets
2023 2022
£m £m
Fair value of Scheme’s assets ar the beginning of the period 6283 621.6
Interest income on Scheme’s assets 18.1 124
Rerurn on assets, excluding interest income (194.3) (3.0)
Other experience 1.7 -
Contributions by employers 10.2 57
Contributions by Scheme's participants 04 03
Newly recognised schemes - .3
Benefits paid (18.2) {16.8)
Scheme administrative cost (2.0) (1.2)
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 628.3
Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in the period
2023 2022
£m £Em
Current service cost 2.4 2.6
Past service cost - 0.1
Administrative cost 1.9 12
Service cost adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.8} (1.1
Net interest on the defined benefit surplus (4.8) {2.3)
Components of defined benefit (gain) / cost recognised in the income statement (1.3) 05
Return on Scheme’s assets {(excluding amounts in net interest expense) 194.2 3.0
Actuariol gain loss from changes in financial assumptions (142.2) (56.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumptions (4.2) (4.3)
Actuariai loss from changes in experience gssumptions 15.9 1.0
Movement in asset ceiling (0.4) 31
Newly recognised schemes - (1.3}
GMPF Admission agreement 19.2 6.0
Components of defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in other comprehensive income 82.5 (48.1
Total defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in total comprehensive income 81.2 (48.2)

The current service cost is included in operating costs in the income statement. The net inferest expense is included within finance charges
in the income statement. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive income.
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25.  Pension and post-refirement benefits continued

Actuarial valuation continued
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined
benefit Schemes is as follows:

2023 2022

£m £&m

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation (339.9) (470.6)
Fair value of funded Scheme’s assets 444.2 6283
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benefit (4.0) (4.3)
Adjusiment in respect of GMPF agreement (52) 127
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 95.1 166.1

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected future inflation
and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the assumptions occurring
at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m).
If the inflation assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100.0m).
If the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrease by £3.6m (2022 £14.9m).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actucl change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unliikely
that the change in gassumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analys’s, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit
obligation liability recognised in the stafement of financial position.

The Schemes’ participating employers are Biffa wWaste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa Lejcester Limited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future acerual
(to the extent that any protected members remain working for each of these companies) earned on a yearly basis.

Protected members pay a range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
above entities of the Group. These contributions are agread between BCHL (the Principal Employer) and the Trustees of the Schemes
following each triennial valuation of the Schemes.

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes’ liabilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the triennial valuation,
but some asset out performance 1s allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers.
Additional liabilities stemming from past service due to augmentation of benefits are added to the Schemes’ deficit.

The avercge duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2023 is approximately 18 years (2022: 19 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of £6.0m to the Schemes during the financial year to 29 March 2024,

26.  Related party transactions
There have been no material related party transactions with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil) except for key
management compensation as set out in Note 5.

During the vear to 31 March 2023, the Group invested £11.7m (2022: £17.4m) in Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Limited. The Group issued
further loan notes of £4.7m (2022: £7.5m) during the period and accrued unpaid interest income of £1.2m (2022: £0.8m). As ¢t 31 March
2023 the Group recognised outstanding loan receivable balances due from Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Ltd of £20.2m (2022
£14.3m). Both parties can redeem the notes at any time. The annual rate of interest on the notes is 8%. This whole balance remained
outstanding ¢t year end. None of the amount is deemed to be uncellectable and no expenses have been recognised during the period in
respect of bad ar doubtful debts in this regard.

No Directors held any material interest in any contract with the Company or the Group in the year to 31 March 2023 or subsequent period.
The Group has made £10.2m (2022: £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes.

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group received loans of £73.5m from its parent company, Biffa Bidce Limited. The loan proceeds
were used to repay the Group RCF, Interest accrues on the outstanding loan balance at 8.3%.

There are no additional related party transactions to disclose.
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27.  Contingent liabilities

Bonds

The Group must satisfy environmental agency financial security requirements in order to ensure that it is able to discharge the obligations
in landfill site licences and permits, The Group meets these financial security requirernents by providing financial security bonds. The
amount of financial security which is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatory agencies, as is the method by which
assurance is provided. The Group has cutstanding bond arrangements in England and wales of approximatety £96.3m {2022: £86.7m) for
permitted waste activities where the Group has obligations under the Envircnment Agency’s fit and proper perscn test to make adequate
M rar il provision, Addinionally, the Grodp has bonds to o value ot £18.5m (2022: £16.1m) for performance of local authority and other
contracts. No liakility is expected to arise in respect of these bonds. The Group alse has three letters of credit in relation to the deferred
equity contributions on Newhurst Efw and Protos Efw ameunting to £17.2m (2022: £32.2m),

Hazardous soils

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill fax trectment of sub-soils with low levels of contemination from
asbestos, At the date of signing of the accounts the cutcome is not certain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and is included in prepayments as the Group is disputing this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffa waste Services Limited (“BWSL") is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Landfill Tax complionce {‘the Enquiry’), as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating fo the interpretation of the qualifying fines
regime set out in LFTL. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the pofential conduct of BWSL and
specific customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised for £64.0m (2022: £20.0m) including associated costs and interest based on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC to date. In addition, HMRC has raised general issues about Biffa’s compliance with the gualifying fines regime set out in LFTL
The Directors do not consider that a liability is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is freated as a contingent
liability.

BwWSL's potential additional liability for Landfill Tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, plus interast and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

For further information, please refer to the key source of estimation uncertainty disclosure relating fo this matter in Note 1 and the
reloted provision disclosure in Note 18,

28. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures and associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture or Place of incorporation and Proportion of ownership
associate Principal activity principal place of business interest and voting rights held
Protos Holding Limited Energy from waste England and Wates 5%
Protos ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 25%
Newhurst ERF Halding Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Waies 50%

Summarised financial information for each of the Group’s joint venturaes and dassociates is set out below. Amounts presented are prepared
in accordance with IFRS Standards.

2023 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
Statement of Financial Position £m £m £m £m
Current assets 19.8 1021 70 529
Non-current assets 338.1 2633 255.3 1858
Current ligbilities 9.7 (8.4) (7.4) (22.1)
Non-current liabilities (254.3) (297.1) {197.7) (213.1)
Net assets 93.9 59.9 572 3.5
Net assets includes:
Cash and cash equivalents 3.2 33.0 5.1 50.0
Current financial liabilities! (9.9) €A 5.7 (14.8})
Non-current financial liabilitiest (254.3) {297.1) (197.7) {213.1)

1 Ainancial iakilities excludes *rade and other payables and provisions
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28, Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

2023 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
Statemenf of Comprehensive Income ) £m £m £m : £m
Revenue 6.6 - - -
Profit / {loss) for the period 2.6 (SN )] (1.8) (1.2)
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period 252 289 i4.1 {14.4) !
Total comprehensive income / (loss) 344 278 12.3 (15.6)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information 1o the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture or
associate:

2023 2022 !
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
£m £m £m £m

Net assers 3.9 59.9 57.2 35 !
Group percentage ownership interest 50% 25% 50% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest . 47.0 15.0 28.6 0.8
Interest in joint venture or associate at the start of the peried 28.6 0.8 11.5 (19
Additions 4.4 73 108 6.6
Share of past-tax results 1.3 (0.3) (0.8) (0.5
Share of nef gain / (loss) on cash flow hedge 12.6 72 71 (3.6)
Interest in joint venture or associate at the end of the period 46.9 15.0 28.6 0.8

29, EVP-related items

The Group has been engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning historical Landfill Tax.

HMRC claimed that the Group was liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa’s landfill sites
from 2009 to 2012 CEVP’). Biffa contested that the material was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and was not therefore subject
to Landfill Tax. Notwithstanding the Group's opinion on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 all materials of this nature have been
subjected to Landfill Tax.

The matter was heard by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRCs favour, before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tribunal for the EVP
case. HMRC however reguested a further hearing from the Court of Appeal which took place in March 2021. Biffa was unsuccessfut in the
hearing with the Court of Appeal and the Directors sought leave to appeal the decisian to the Supreme Court. In May 2022 the Group's
request of leave to appeal was refused by the Supreme Court.

The contested amount was paid to HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upon its IPO in Octolber 2016, In addition to the payment i
of £61.9m, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the pericd ended 24 March 2017. The Directors, having taken appropriate advice, did not '
believe that a liability to tax exists and accordingly treated the payment of the tax and associated interest as a prepayment.

As part of the IPO of the Group, arrangements were put in place to make certain payments to the shareholders and certain members of
employee incentive schemes of the Group immediately prior to its Listing, subject 10 and in respect of the outcome of the dispute. A
financial lickility of £47.6m was recognised in borrowings and an accrual of £13.0m was recognised in non-current liabilities.

with the negative outcome confirmed, in the year ended 25 March 2022; the £63.6m prepayment was impaired to £nil ond a corresponding
deferred tax asset of £15.5m was recognised; the £47.6m financial liability was reduced to £14.3m; and the accrual was reduced to £3.5m.
These outstanding balances reflect the amournts payable to the shareholders and certain members of employee incentive schemes of the
Group respectively, immediately prior to its Listing. The net impact of these fransactions is a loss after tax of £5.4m in the prior period,

No payments were made in the year ended 31 March 2023. Subsequent to the year end date, £7.8m was paid fo EVP preference
shareholders and ex-management as explained in Note 34.

Of the outstanding liability at the year end date of £17.8m, £6.3m has been included within Group Net Debt, as explained in Note 23.
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has twe integrated waste management confracts that are considered 1o fall within the scope of IFRIC 12: Service Concassion
Arrangements. These are the West Sussex County Council recycling contract (length of 29 years - awarded in 2004 and acquired by the
Group as part of the Viridor acquisition in the year ended 25 March 2022 and the Leicester City Council contract (25 years - awarded in
2003).

The concessions vary as to the extent of their obligations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concession period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically at the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes to these arrangements in the period.

The West Sussex County Council recycling contract involves the construction and maintenance of recycling assets that will be returned to
the councii at the end of the contract. This arrangement is therefore considered to be within the scope of IFRIC12. An intangible asset of
£31.2m is beld at the year end date (2022; £35.5m) and is being amortised over the remaining life of the contract. A provision for future

capital expenditure on reverting assets of £15.9m (2022: £13.1m) has been recognised in relation 1o this contract as described in Note 18,

The Leicester City Council confract aiso falls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a financial asset of £4.3m (2022: £4.0m) has been
recognised. The contract is loss maoking and a return to profitability is not expected, and as such an onerous contract provision has been
recognised as described in Note 18,

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £21.9m).

31. Subsidiary undertakings

The following entities are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023. All subsidiary undertakings have o financial year
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise noted.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Amber Engineering Limited' England and wales Wwaste Biffa Group Heldings (UK) Limited'  England and Wales Holding company
management
Barge waste Management England and Wales Waste Biffa Group Holdings Limited? Jersey Holding company
Limited' management
Biffo (Corby) Limited' England and wales Darmant Biffa Group Limited! England and Wales Holding company
Biffa (Earls Barton) Limited! England and Wales Dorrmarit Biffa GS (FC) Limited! England and Wales Waste
management
Biffa (Jersey) Limited? Jersey Holding company | Biffa GS (LPP) Limited' England and Wales waoste
. mcnagemem
Biffa (Land) Limited* Guernsey waste Biffa GS (M&B) Limited’ England and Wales woste
managerment management
Biffa (Roxby) Limited' England and wales Dormant Biffa GS$ Environmental Limited' England and Wales waste
mancgement
Biffa (LK) Holdings Limited England and wales Dormant Biffa GS Environmental Recycling England ond wWales waste
Lirnited' management
Biffa (WES) Limited’ England and wales Dormant Biffa GS Holdings Limited' Engiand and wales Holding company
Biffa (West Sussex) Recycling England and wales Waste Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited’ England and Wales Holding company
Limired monagement
Bitta Corporate Holdings Limited’ England and wales Holding company | Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited’ Jersey Dormant
Biffa Corporate Services Limited! England and wales Dormant Biffa Holdings Limited! Engiand and wWales Holding company
Biffa Environmental Municipal England and wales waste Biffa Leicester Limited' England and wales Wwaste
Services Limited’ management managemert
L Registered at Coronation Road, Creszex, High wycombe, Buckinghamshire HP12 3TZ
2 Registered at 44 Espianade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG,
3 Registered at PG Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3H
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31, Subsidiary undertakings continued
Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Biffa Municipal Limited' England and Wales Waste Material Recovery Nominees England and Wales Dormant
management Limited*
Biffa Netherlands BV.* Netherlands Heolding company | New Star Environmental Limited' England and Wales Waste
management
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees £ngland and Wales Dormant Norwaste Limited! England and Wales Dormant
Lirmitect
Biffa UK Group Limited' England and Wales Dormant O'Brien waste Recycling Selutions England and Wales Dormant
Holdings Limiteq!
Biffa UK Limited! England and wWales Darmant O'Brien wWaste Recycling Solutions England and Wales Dormant
Limited'
Biffa Waste Limited' England and wales Dormant Poplars Resource Management England and Wales waste
Company Limited* managerment
Biffa Waste Management Limited'  England and wWales Waste Reclamation & Disposal Limited' England and Wales Dormant
management
Biffa Waste Services Limited’ England and wales waste Richard Biffa (Reclamation) England and Wales Dorrnant
management Limited'
Biffa wesr Sussex Holdco Limited' England and wales Dormant RUR3 Enwircnmental Limited' England and Wales waste
management
Biffa wesr Sussex Limited! England and Wales Waste Simply Waste Solutions Limited® England and Wales Dormant
management
Bray Insurance Company Limited®  Gibraltar Insurance Specidlist Waste Recycling Scotland waste
services Limited® management
CAMO Limited' England and Wales Dorrmant SWR Smash & Grab Limited’ England and wales waste
management
Community Shop C.I.C** England and Wales Cther retail non- SWRNewstar Limited' England and wales Dormant
specialist
Cempany $Shop Holdco Limited’ England and Wales waste Syracuse Waste Limited! England and wales Waste
management management
Company Shop Limited*” England and wales Cther retail non- The Withnell Brick and Terra Cottg Englend and wales Cormant
specialist Company (1912) Ltd'
Cressex Insurance Services England and wales Dermant Total Recycling Services England and waoles Waste
Limited’ Limited™*"! management
Forge Recycling (Holdings) England and Wales Holding company | UK wuste Management Holdings Engiond and Wales Dormant
Limited*! Limited'
Forge Recycling (UK) Limiteg**! England and wales Waste UK Waste Management Limited! England and wales waoste
managerment management
Forge waste Limiteg! England and Wales Cormant wastedrive (Manchester) Limired’ England and Wales Waste
management
GS Acquisitions Limited' England and Wales Holding company | wastedrive Limited England and Wales Dormant
GS Equity Co’ Cayman Islands Holding company | wasteholdeo 1 Limitedt? Jersey Holding company
Island waste Services Limited! England and wWales Waste wasteholdco 2 Limited?” Jersey Holding company
management
Lavelle & Sons Limited! England and Wdles Dormant Weir Recycling Services Limited' England and wales Dormant
Loristan Services Limited! England and Wales Carmant Weir Waste Services Limited' England and Wales Dormant
M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) England and Wales Dormant white Cross Limited! England and wWales Dormant
Limited*

* Financial year ended 2 Apnil 2023

t Directly held by Biffa Livited

Financial year ended 27 March 2023

Registered at Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire HP12 3TZ.
Registered at 44 Espianade, St Heler, Jersey, JE4 9WG.
Registered at 20 Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Park, St Pater Port, Guarnsey, G¥1 3.

Registered at Jupiter Building, 2nd Floor, Herkerbergweg 88, 1101 CM Amsterdam, The Netheriands
Regisrered at Fiduciary Management Limited, Suite 23 Portland House, Glacis Road, Gibraltar, GX11 1AA,
Registered at wentworth Waqy, Tankersley, Barnsley, South Yorkshire, $75 3DH

== Financial year ended 3l Ccrober 2022

Registered at Intertrust Corperate Services (Cayman) Lirvited, 190 Elgin Avenue. George Town, Grand Cayman KY.2005.
Regrstered ot Annan Suite, 10 York Prace, Edinburgh, Scotland EH1 3EP

@ N R

Subsequent ta the reporting date, Loristan Services Limited was dissolved on 18 April 2023 and Esterpet Limited was acquired on 25 April as disclosed in Note
34,
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32. Controlling party

Biffo Limited is o 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bidca Limited), a Company incorporated in the United Kingdom, whose
registered office is Coronation Road, Crossex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent company of the smallest and lorgest group inwhich
the Company's results are consolidated.,

On 10 July 2023, Beors Bidco Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidco Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ContrelCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United Stgtes,

33, Dividends

The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 6.89p). A final dividend of 4.69 pence per share for the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the yeaor.

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

On 25 April 2023 the Group acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of Esterpet Limited ('Esterpet”), a recycler of Polyethylene Terephthalate (‘PET') plastic, for
consideration of £0.7m. From its state-of-the-art recycling facility in Narth Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 tonnes of plastic flakes each year, generdted
from recycled bottles, inte high-purity plastic pellets. These pellets are made into new plastic botties for beverages, cosmetics and househeld goods, with the
company's customers including some of the kirgest brands in the UK and Eurcpe.

Alengside the cequisition of Esterpet, the Group acguired 49.9% of the issued share capital of its sister company Esterform Packaging Limited, a feading
manufacturer of plastic bottles and Esterpet’s largest customer, for o consideration of £5.5m. Both investments will form part of the Polymers business in the
Resources & Enerqy division.

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group restructured its existing debt as follows:

. The Group repaid its private placerments of £345.0m. These were reploced by £260.0m of private plocements held within Biffa Limited.

" The new notes are a mixture of 5- and 7-year notes with a weighted average borrowing rate of 6.2%.

. Term loons and RCF beld by Biffa Bideo Limited, to which the Group has access, were Increased. Term loans of £100.0m were increased o £235.0m and
RCF of £225.0m wos increased to £325.0m. Interest is charged at a floating rate and other terms remain unchanged.

EVP Payments
In May and June 2023, £7.8m was paid 10 EVP preference shareholders ond ex-management in reiation to the EVP dispute disclosed in Note 29, At 31 March
2023, the fotal liability was £17.8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected to be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025.

DRS

On 7 june 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland, it weuld be delayed until
October 2025 at the earliest. An announcement had been made previously on 18 April 2023 that the start dote of the scheme would be delayed from August
2023 to March 2024. Circularity Scotiand Limited ('C5L7), the scheme administrator, entered administration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and
was therefore unoble to meet its contractual obligations to Biffa and other parties. The Joint Administrators' Proposals were released on 28 July 2023,
indicating that at best Biffa would receive an immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSL.

In the year ended 51 March 2023 the scheme made no contribution to operating profit but the following material amounts were held on the balance sheet ot
the year end date:

. Accrued income - £6.1m

. Property, Plant and Equipment - £9.8m

- Right-of-use assets - £8.1m

. Lease ligbilities - £8.5m

In addition to the amounts recorded at 31 March 2023 the Group had further capital commitments of approximately £39m, of which a proportion are expected
10 be leased. I1is fikely that impairments will be recognised on a number of assets, with the impact on FY24 Operoting Profit within the range £nif to £64m.
The Group has various options avalilable to mitigate the committed cash outflows and latest estimates indicote that up to £40m can be recovered.

The announcement on 7 June 2023 is judged to be ¢ non-adjusting event in accordance with IAS 10: Events after the Reporting Period becouse it is not
considered to provide evidence of conditions that existed ot 31 March 2023. In other wards there were no reliable indications before 31 March 2023 that this
postponement would occur. Therefore no adjustments corresponding to this announcement have been made to the 31 March 2023 financial statements and
instead the appropriate accounting entries will be posted in the year ending 29 March 2024 once mitigation plans are finalised and enacted.
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company statements are prepared under FRS 101 and relate to the Company and not to the Graup The tinancial statements

are prepared under the historical cost convention.

Non-current assets
investments

Current assets

Financial assets

Current liabilities

Borrowings

As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
e _Notes £ £m
L] 255.1
_JTrade and other receivables 420.0
B 675.1 .
S e Lo
I e e e T EE
Trade and othoer payables 7 (1.5) (L8}
_Borrowings Lol —_— —_ 8 3850y -
. - — _ 3465
. Net current liabilities . (346.5)
Non-current liabilities
- S T L 13450)
T 184500

_Met assets e

Equity
Called up share capital 9 31
Share premium 9 252.2
Merger reserve 95.8
_Retained earnings {22.5)
328.6

__Total equity attributable to shareholders

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of
comprehensive income. The loss of the Company for the year attributable to shareholders was £11.0m (2022 £8.9m |0ss).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Girectors and quthorised for issue an 11 September 2023, They were signed on its

behalf by:
.-\.4:;;“1-4.&_\

Michael Topham
Director
Company no: 10336040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 3.1 247.0 (2.9 5.8 161 359.1
Loss for the period - - - - (8.9 (8.9
Other comprehensive income - - 2.9 - - 2.9
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - 2.9 - (8.9 (6.0)
Exercise of share opticns - 0.6 - - - (5.6)
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (3.6) 2.7
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - ?7 0.A
Dividends paid - - - - 6.7 .7
As ot 25 March 2022 ) 31 2476 - 95.8 (0.4 ~546.1
Loss for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Cther comprehensive income / (loss) - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Exercise of shore options - 4.6 - - - 4.6
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (1.5) (1.5
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 4.7 4.7
Dividends paid . - - - - {14.3) (14.3)
As at 31 March 2023 321 2522 = 95.8 (22.5) 328.6

In May 2020, the Company incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company in order o facilitate an equity raise. The transaction
satisfied oll required conditions to obktain merger relief in accordance with section 612 of the UK Companies Act 2006, The amount within
the merger reserve relating to this equity raise is now a distributable reserve.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Accounting pelicies

General Information

The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and is the parent company of the Group. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ. The principal
activity of the Company is as holding company for the Group. The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management
services in the United Kingdom,

The Company was a public company limited by shares until 26 January 2023 when its entire share capital was acquired by Bears Bidco
Limited, a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK. The Company name changed from Biffa plc to Biffa
Limited upon delisting from the London Stock Exchange on 27 January 2023,

Basis of preparation
These financial statements present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the going concern basis, in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standerd 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework” ('FRS 101y and the Companies Act 2006,

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting Reguirements issued by the
FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101. The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently applied to cll the years presented except where the
Company has elected to fake the following exemptions as allowed under FRS 101

. The requirements of TAS 7 ‘Staterment of Cash Flows’.
. The requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ in respect of key management personnel.
. Requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose transactions between wholly owned members of the Group.

. The requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, as equivalent disclosures are provided in the consclidated financial statements
of the Group t@ which the Company belongs.

. The requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payments’.

. The requirements of paragraphs 91 10 99 of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurements’, as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling ('GBP") and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

The Company participates in the Group's centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company is expected fo generate positive
cash flows to continue 1o operate in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of comprehensive income as permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Company does not consider there to be any there to be any critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncerfainty.

Investments
Investments are initially stated at cost. Investments are tested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.

An impairment ioss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amounts cannct be recovered either by selling the asset or by the
discounted future cash flows from the investment.

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved. Inferim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other receivables
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value less any provision for expected credit loss. They are subsequently held at amortised
cost less any provision for expected credit loss.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 92




Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire. The financial
instruments recognised by the Company are set ouf below.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently al amortised cost using the effective interest method, less

expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financicl liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the confractual
arrangements.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Any difference between the amount initially recognised and the
redemption value i1s recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered info and subsequently remeasured at fair value
at each baiance sheet date, The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Company designctes certain derivatives as either o) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities); or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associgred with a recognised asset or liabkility or a highly probable forecast transaction); or ¢}
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At incepticn and
at each reporting date the Company assesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income
statement eguivalent 1o the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing modgel,
The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

2 Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022; 2), being the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Their emoluments
were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 15 1.8
Company contributions fo money purchase pension schemes 0.2 c.2
Total 1.7 2.0
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

2. Employees and Directors confinued
2023 2022
_The number of Directors who: . o Number Number
Are members of a money purchase pension scheme 2 2
Exercised opticns over shares in the Company 2 -
Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 2
2023 2022
_ Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 11 11
_ Company centributions To money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1
_Total 1.2 12

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
sChemes.

3. Investments
p— . . P — £m
As at 26 March 2021 2564
Movements relating to share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees 1.5
As at 25 March 2022 2579
_Movements relating to share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees (2.8)
_Asar31March2023 ] - 255.1 _

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year and no requirement for impairment, The Directors believe that the carrying
value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Company’s joint ventures and gssociates and subsidiaries is given in Notes 28 and 30 of the Group financial statements.

4, Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
_ Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
__Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 4200 434.0
420.0 434.0

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value. The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. An expected credit loss provision of £4.2m has been
recognised as at the close of the current period (20272: £4.4m) in relation to the balance due from subsidiary underfakings.

5. Financial assets
2023 2022
£m £m
__Financial assets - 1.0

During the previous financial period the Company undertook two private placements and capitalised associated borrowing costs of £1.0m.
The private placements were refinanced in May 2023 and the capitalised costs have therefore been written off during the year ended 31
March 2023.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

6. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
R} £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other rereivables 420.0 420.0 4341 4540
Financial assets - - 1.0 1.0
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (1.5 (1.5} (1R) (1.8)
Private placements (345.0) (345.0) (345.0) (345.0)
Total financial assets and liabilities 73.5 73.5 88.2 88.2
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due in under one year £m £m
Other creditors - 0.5
Interest payable 15 1.3
1.5 18
All creditors are unsecured.
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
£m £m
Amounts falling due in under one year
Private placements 345.0 -
345.0 -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Private placements - 345.0
- 345.0

The £345m private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of private

placement notes held by Bears Bidce Limited, maturing in May 2028.

9. Reserves

Refer to Note 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10. Related party transactions

There have been no material related party transactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £nil) except for key monagement

compensation as set out in Note 5 of the Group financial statements.
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11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Biffa Limited is the parent company of the Group. The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within
Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 31 Morch 2023. The undertakings listed below are 100% indirectly owned by
Biffa Limited. In accordance with Section 479C of the Companies Act, the Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the below UK
subsidiary undertakings.

Company Company
Name Number Name Number
Amber Engineering Limited 1067283 Forge Recycling {Holdings) Ltd 11062914
Barge Waste Management Limited 2849409 Forge Recycling (UK) Ltd 07383076
Biffa (Corby) Limited 3216850 Forge Waste Limited 4594882 ‘
Biffa (Earls Barton) Limited 748129 GS$ Acguisitions Limited 7255980 ‘
Biffa (Roxby) Limited 2031961 Island Waste Services Limited 1552791
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited 3249158 Lovelle & Sons Limited 1312867
Biffa (WES) Limited 2729607 M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Limited 440100 !
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited 5656364 Material Recovery Nominees Limited 5186581
Biffa Corporate Services Limited 7155949 New Star Envirenmental Limited 7306131
Biffa Envirchmental Municipal Services Limited 205800 Norwaste Limited 1041912
Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Limited 4081901 O'Brien Waoste Recycling Selutions Holdings Limited 9560589
Biffa GS (FC) Limited 4800628 O'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited Q9352987
Biffa GS (LFPP) Limited 2276336 Poplars Resource Management Company Limited 2630491
Biffa GS (M&B) Limited 1173504 Reclarmation & Disposal Limited 879315 :
Biffa GS Environmental Limited 3446693 Richard Biffa (Reclamation) Limited 929000 I
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited 4786413 RUR3 Environmental Limited 6304761
Biffa G5 Holdings Limited 4602885 Simply Waste Solutions Limited 12155099
Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited 4631832 Specialist Waste Recycling Limited SC324466
Biffa Holdings Limited 1032104 SWR Smash & Crab Limited 5667032
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees Limited 2694166 SWRNewstar Limited 11098385
8iffa UK Group Limited 3650457 Syracuse Waste Limited 13269384
Biffa UK Limited 3650459 UK waste Management Holdings Limited 2536345
Biffac waste Limited 4084432 UK waste Management Limited 1362615
Biffa Waste Management Limited 1138022 Wastedrive (Manchester) Limited 1517244
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Limited 7001231 wastedrive Limited 1396771
CAMO Limited 6524298 Weir Recycling Services Limited 9390664
Company Shop Holdco Limited 12215502 Wweir waste Services Limited 3777183
Company Shop Limited 192743 white Cross Limited 1537610
Cressex Insurance Services Limited 6848093

12.  Controlling party
Biffa Limited is a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears Bidco Limited), a company incorporated in the United

Kingdom, whose registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent company of
the smailest and largest group in which the Company’s results are consolidated.

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bidco Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidco Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ControlCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States.
13. Post balance sheet events

On 23 May 2023, the Company repaid £345.0m of private placements. Refer to Note 34 of the Group financial statements for details.
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group's financial performance is analysed into three components: ‘Statutory Performance’, ‘Adjusted Performance’ and ‘Adjusting
Trems’. Adjusted performance is used as it aids comparability of the reported financial performance year to year and between divisions.
Management identify a number of Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs') in order to separately disclose an adjusted performance for
the Group. The Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way, which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior to
IFRS measures, is relevant fo an understanding of the Group's performance trends, financial performance and position. Our APMs and
KP1s are aligned to our strategy and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are
consistent with how the performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating Committees to aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented in this Appendix to provide a useful tool in understanding the performance of the business. It should ke noted,
however, that these APMs may not be comparable with similarly titled megsures presented by other companies. It is recommended that
APMs are viewed as supplementary information alongside the equivalent statutory measures.

This Appendix has been presented to help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind cur use of APMs, our
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impoct of these adjusting iterns on the APMs. The Group income statement does not
disclose any adjusting items and has been presented as o single column showing the statutory results oniy. The same approach has been
adopted for the Group statement of cash flows.

Depreciction and amortisation reiates to the write-down of both infangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles is disclosed separately in line with divisional Adjusted Operating Profit.

The Group’s policy is to exclude items that are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the normal course of business or are
consistent with items that were separately disclosed in prior periods. Management utilises an exceptional item framework that has been
approved by the Board. This follows @ three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the financial materiality involved and the
particular facts and circumstances. Items of income and expense that are considerad for designation as adjusting items include
significant acquisition-related costs, write-downs or impairments of non-current assets, movements on onerous contract provisions and
strategy-related and restructuring costs.

Clesest equivalent

APM statutory measure  Definition

Net revenue Revenue Statutory revenue excluding kandfill tax. Unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers to statutory revenue.
Landfill tax is excluded as the rate is outside the Group’s confrol.
See table below for reconciliation

Organic Net Revenue The increase/(decrease) in Net Revenue in the pericd excluding Net Revenue from acquisitions completed

revenue growth in the period and Net Revenue from acquisitions completed in the prior period up to the anniversary of the
relevant acquisition date, to the extent such Net Revenue falls in the current period. where comparative
periods differ in duration, the KPI is adjusted on a pro-rata basis,
Organic Net Revenue Growth can be expressed both as an absolute financial value and as a percentage of
prior period revenue.
Organic Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate to users of the financial stotements the growth
attributed to organic growth rather than as a result of acquisitions.
See table below for reconciliation

Acquisition Net  Revenue Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period

revenue growth from (i) acquisitions completed in the relevant period and (i1} any acguisitions completed in the 12 months
prior to the relevant period up to the 12-month anniversary of the relevant acquisition date (t¢ the extent
such Net Revenue folls in the current period), Acquisition Revenue Growth is calculated on the same basis,
using revenue in place of Ner Revenue.
Acquisition Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate the level of growth achieved s o direct result
of the Group's acquisition strateqy.
See table below for reconciliation

EBLTDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation, amortisation, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted EBITDA Operating profit Profit before depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, changes to landfill provisions, net finance
costs and taxation.
Adjusted Divisional EBITDA is stated after allocation of shared service costs.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is widely used by analysts and investors to evaluate the
profitability of compaonies. EBITDA eliminates potenticl differences in performance caused by variations
in capital structures, tax positions, the cost and age of tangible assets and the exfent to which intangible
assets are identifiable.

See table below for reconciliction
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

APM

Closest equivalent
statutory measure

Definition

Adjusted
Cperoting profir

Adjusted Profit
before tax
Adjusted Profit
for the period
Adjusted Free
cash flow

Adjusted Return
on operating
assets
Adjusted Return
on Capital
Employed
('ROCE"

Group

Net Debt

Covenant Basis
Net Debt

Group
Leverage Ratic

Cperating profit

Profit before tax

Profit for the period

Net cash from

aperating activities

n/q

n/a

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Profit before adjusting itfems, amertization of acquisition intangibles, impact of real discount rate
changes to landfill provisions, net finance costs and taxation.

Adjusted divisional operating profit is stated after allocation of shared service costs.

See table below for reconciliation.

Profit before tax excluding adjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intangibzles and the impact of
real discount rate changes to landfill provisions.

Profit after tax excluding adjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real
discount rate changes to landfill provisions.

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents excluding dividends, restructuring costs, adjusting
items, acguisitions, movernent in financial assets and movements in borrowings or share capital (but
including finance lease principal payments).

This measure reflects the cash generated in the period excluding adjusting items and ferms part of
management incentives,

Adjusted Operating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and closing Property, Plant &
Equipment, phus average of opening and closing net working capital.

See table below for reconciliation.

Adjusted Operating Profit less amortisation of acquisition intangibles divided by the average of opening
and closing shareholders’ equity, Net Debt (including lease liabilities), pensions and environmental
provisions.

See table below for reconciliation.

Bank and other borrowings plus lease liabilities and EVP preference liability, less cash and cash
equivalents.

See Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for o reconciliation.

Bank and other borrowings plus lease liabilities, less relevant financial assets and cash and cash
equivalents. This is the measurement that our lenders use when assessing covenant compliance.

See table below for reconciliation.
Ratio of Group Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA,
See Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation.

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfill
results in Asset provisions
joint impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real

ventures and related and Landfill of discount
53 weeks and Acquisition onerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate
ended Adjusted associates COSTS contracts costs dispute enquiry 1z intangibles changes Statutory
31 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,680.2 - - - - - - 02 - - 1,680.4
Costs {1,456.0) - (24 8) - (180) (12) (507} 1.4y - 248 (15273)
Share of resuits -
in joint ventures
and associates 13 (1.3) - - - - - - -
EBITDA 225.5 (1.5) 4.8) - 80 (s3] (k) L2 - 24.8 1531
Depreciation (117 - - - - - - 37 - - (108D
Amortisation 1.0y - - - - - - @& (252) - (293)
Impairments - - - (1) - - - - - [
Operating
profit 1128 (1.3} (24.8) 91 (18.0) D ©0n {0.6) (25.2) 24.8 8.7
Fingnce income &7 - - - - - - - - - 67
Finance casts 292) - - - - - - R - - {29.5)
Share of results
in joint venrures
and associates {0.3) 13 - - - — - - - 10
Proftit/ (loss)
before
taxation 90.0 - (24.8) (9.1) (18.0) [oF.] sk (0.9) (25.2) 24.8 (15.1)
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item continued

Landfill
Asset provisions
impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
and related and Landfill of diseount Exceptional
52 weeks Acquisition anerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate net interest
ended Adjusted costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Statutory
. 25 March 2022 __Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,443.2 - - - - - - - - - 1,443.2
Costs (1,248.2) (94) - (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) (10) - 03 - (1.300.9)
EBITDA 195.0 {(9.4) - {4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 1.0y - 0.3 - 1423
Depraciation {973) - - - - - 24 - - - 4.9
Amrortisation 1 - - - - - (29.6) - - (307
Impawrments - - (25.0) - - - - - - - (250
Operating
profit / (Joss) ?%.& 4 (25.0) {4.8) (20.8) ar.g) 1.4 (29.6) 0.5 - (8.3)
Finance income 2.1 - - 1L 3.2
Finance costs (22.0) - - - - - {04} - - - (22 4)
Share of results
in ot venturas
and associates (11 - - - - - - - - — (L1
Profit / (loss)
before
taxation 75.6 (9-4) {25.0) (4.8) (20.8) {17.0) 1.0 (29.6) 03 1.1 (28.6)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
Adjusted Operating profit £m £m
Collections 825 75.0
Resources & Energy 423 411
Specialist Services 138 5.4
Group Business Function {25.8) (24.9)
Total 112.8 96.6
2023 2022
Adjusted EBITDA £m £m
Collecticns 146.1 130.7
Resources & Energy 78.3 754
Specialist Services 218 116
Group Business Function (20.5) (20.7)
Total 225.5 195.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Function costs represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alic, Board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) remaining after allocation to cperating divisions. Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit eamed by each division without allocation of depreciction and amortisation, adjusting items, finance costs, material impaocts of
changes in real discount rate applied to the Group's long-ferm provisions and income tax expense. Adjusted Operating Profit recognises
the impacl of depreciation and amortisation excluding the amortisation of acquisition infangibles. These measures are both reported to

the Group Cxecutive Team for the purpose of resource ulloculion and assessment of divisional performance,

Share of results of joint ventures
In a joint venture with Encyclis, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facilities ('ERFs™): Newhurst and Protos.
The Newhurst ERF entered commercial operation during the year to 31 March 2023. The Group’s share of the results of this joint venture

have therefore been recognised in Adjusted Operating Profit (£1.3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘fAPMs’) continued

Acquisition-related costs

Delivery of the Group’s strategy includes investment in acquisitions that enhance the guality of its operations. The exclusion of significant
items arising from M&A activity is designed by the Board to align short-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy.
Accordingly, amounts drising on acquisitions are excluded from adjusted performance. The £2.0m (2022: £9.4m) of acquisition-related
expenditure in the 53-week period ended 31 March 2023 relates to professional fees and other costs which are directly attributable to
acquisitions.

Also included in Acquisition-related costs are £22.8m of costs relating to the acquisitien of the Group by ECP in January 2023.

Asset impairments

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion plant, in addition
to a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site, The prior financial period saw a £25.0m one-off cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on CSG, which was acquired in February 2021,

Strategy-reiated and restructuring costs

Strategy-related costs of £18.0m (2022: £4.8m) arise from Group-wide initiatives to reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency
in the business. These costs are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of our operational performance. Adjusting for these
charges provides a measure of operating profitability that is comparable over time. Within the strategy-related costs is £16.2m relating to
the Transformation Project which does not gualify for capitalisation (2022: £4.6m).

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25.2m (2022: £29.6m) represents the amounts amortised by the Group in each period in respect of intangibles from prior
acquisitions, which are reported separately from the Group’s depreciation and amortisation charges. The performance of the acquired
business is assessed as part of the Group’s adjusted operational results. The Group uses this adjusting item to improve the comparability
of information between reporting periods and divisions.

Impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions

The impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions reflects the provision movement which arises wholly due to the change in
discount rate. wWithin the current financial pericd a credit of £24.8m was recognised {2022: £0.3m credit). This is not refiective of
operational performance.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry
As set out in Note 27, BWSL is currently the subject of an enqguiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of its Landfill Tax compliance.

A provision of £20.0m was recognised in the prior year. In the current year, the provision has been increased ro £64.0m with a charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjusting items. Further information is provided in Note 18.

IFRIC 12 adjustments

The adoption of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements, results in large accounting adjustments that are not reflective of the
operational performance cf the underlying contracts. The purpose of these adjustments is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 12 in Adjusted
Performance.

Under IFRIC 12 depreciation on reverting PPE items is reversed out. The IFRIC 12 adjustment reinstates this depreciation.

Also under IFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order to fulfil the contract is captured upfront and
recognised as a provision, with the corresponding discount unwind being recognised within net finance costs. The IFRIC 12 adjustment
reverses this charge from the Adjusted Performance.

The net impact of these IFRIC 12 adjustments is a £0.3m credit to the Income Statement, which is treated as an adjusting item.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract provisions reflect the future unavoidable losses expected on the Group’s existing contract portfolio. At the year end date
the Group heid onerous contract provisions for the Leicester City Council, Epping Forest District Council and South Oxfordshire & Vale
contracts.

when onerous contract provisions are recognised or increased, the corresponding P&L charge is treated as an adjusting item because
recognising multiple years of losses in one financial year skews the financia!l performance in that year. Onerous contract provision releases
are also treated as adjusting items because the inflated profit they couse does not represent the in-year performance of the business. This
approach ensures that Adjusted Operating Profit for any given period presents the contract losses incurred in that period.
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of adjusting items to profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusting items
HMRC Landfill Tax enquiry 507 17.0
Share of results of joint ventures 13 -
Acauisition related costs 21.8 A
Strategy related and restructuring costs 180 4.8
Asset impairments 9.1 25.0
EVP dispute 1.2 20.8
IFRIC 12 depreciation adjustment 0.6 [OK:D]
105.7 75.6
Other adjusting items
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 25.2 29.6
Impact of recl discount rate changes on landfill provisions (24.8) (0.3
Impact on Operating profit 106.1 104.9
finance income adjusting items
Exceptional net interest income - (LD
Unwind of discounting on IFRIC 12 provision 0.3 0.4
0.3 0.7
Share of results of joint venfures (1.3) -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Taxation on adjusting items {7.4) {26.4)
Impaet on Loss for the period 91.7 77.8
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Operating profit by division £m £m
Cellections 6.6 9.4
Resources & Energy 7.0 23.6
Specialist Services 11 253
Group Business Function 914 46.6
Total 106.1 104.9
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
£m £m
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 1,433.2
Landfill Tax (75.7) (79.3)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.9
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division £m £m
Coliections 10061 8739
Resources & Energy 363.9 315.9
Specialist Services 234.7 174.1
Total 1,604.7 1,363.9
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue contfinued

— 2023 2022

Growth Growth

Revenue growth £m factor £m factor
Net revenue for the prior period 1,363.9 288.1

Acquisition revenue growth 83.6 £% 1799 18%

Organic revenue growth 1572 12% 1859 20%
Net revenue for the current period 1,604.7 1,363.9

Other performance measures

In addition to the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Return on Operating Assets and Adjusted Return on Capital
Employed as performance measures. These are aligned to the strategy and are reported internally to the Board and Operating
Committees to aid their decision making. These are calculated as below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Adjusted Operating profit! 1128 6.6

Average of property, plant and equipment? 6343 589.7

Average net working capital® {12.9) (58.2)

6214 531.5

Adjusted Return on Operating Assets* 18.2% 18.2%
3 Lk

2023 2022

- £m £m

Adjusted Operating profit 112.8 Q6.5

Amortisation of Acguisition Intangibles (25.2) (29.6)

Adjusted Operating profit less Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles 87.6 67.0

Average of shareholders equity’ 466.2 470.6

Average Net Debt? 6314 547.0

Average retirement benefits® (130.6) (139.0)

Average environmental provisions® 63.7 72.5

1,030.7 951.0

Adjusted Return on Capital Employed® 8.5% 7.0%

Average of opening and c'osing shareholders’ aquity in 2023 and 2022

Averoge of opening and crosing Net Debt in 2023 and 2022.

Average of opening and ciosing retirement benefits in 2023 and 2022 (Note 25).

Average of opening and closing environmental provisions in 2023 and 2022 (Note 18).

Adjusted Operating Profit less omortisahon of acguisition intangibles divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders’ equity, net debt (nciuding lease habilities),
pensions and environmentat provisions.

R
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Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements made in this Annual Report are forward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The statements are subject
to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company's control and which could couse actual results
to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required by law,
regulations or accounting standards, the Company does not
undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Group
speak only as of the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge and information available to the Directors on the date of
this Annual Report.

Wwebsite

The Company’s website www.biffa.co.uk gives additional
information on the business. Notwithstanding the references made
in the Annual Report to the website, none of the information made
on the website constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed
1o be incorporated by reference herein.
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